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Charles F. Goria, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108

Tel.: (619) 692-3555

Fax: (619)296-5508

Attorneys for Defendants CHRIS HAKIM,
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC,

AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC

ILED

Clork of the Superior. Court,

DEC 07 2018

By: C. Rein, Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual
Plaintiff
Vs

NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS
HAKIM, an individual;, MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC.,
California corporation; SAN DIEGO

UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, L1.C, a
California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC .a California limited
liability company; A ESTE PROPERTIES
LLC, a California limited liability company;
ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC, a California
limited liability company; BALBOA AVE
COOPERATIVE, a California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC. a
California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation;
and DOES 1-100, inclusive;

Defendants.

AND RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS.

Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
(Unlimited Civil Action)

REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE OF
DEFENDANTS CHRIS HAKIM, MIRA
ESTE PROPERTIES LLC, AND
ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC IN
SUPPORT OF REPLY TO OPPOSITION
TO MOTION TO SET BOND ON
APPEAL

" Hearing Date: December 14,2018
- Time: 1:30 PM
Dept.: C-67

I/C Judge: Hon. Eddie C. Sturgeon

Complaint Filed: July 10, 2018
Trial' Date:  Not Set
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TO: ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties LLC., and

Roselle Properties LLC hereby request that this Court take judicial notice pursuant to Evidence

Code sections 452, et seq., of the following documents that are publicly recorded or filed

documents and that are described below and attached hereto, as follows:

Exhibit Description

Number

Exhibit 1 United States District Court, Sothern District of California, Crlrmnal Complaint,
Case No. 18 MJ5915, United States of America, Plaintiff, vs. Salam Razuki (1),
Sylvia Gonzaleé (2), and Elizabeth Juarez (3), Defendants.

Exhibit 2 Declaration of Jerry Baca in Opposition to Appéintment of Receiver, filed

| September 4, 2618 in this action. |
Exhibit 3 Declaration of Robert Torrales in Opposition to Appointment of Receiver, filed

September 4, 2018 in this action.

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

Dated: /7//) ’ / /8 o Byi—%o@ /7,@”/

Charles F. Goria

Attorneys for Defendants

Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties
LLC, and Roselle Properties LLC

Hakim.Motion.Set. AppealBond.Request.Jud. Notice SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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FLED

NOV 19 2018

Ciii K Us 53T OLLnT
SOUTHERN i3 RICT GF CALEFORNIA
BY DEPUTY

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No.:
Plamt1ff 1 BM J 5 9 1 5
COMPLAINT '
V.
Title 18, United States Code, Section 956 -
SALAM RAZUKI (1), Conspiracy to kill, kidnap, maim an individual
SYLVIA GONZALES (2), Title 18, United States Code, Section 1201(c)-
and Conspiracy to kidnap
ELIZABETH JUAREZ (3),
Defendants.

i
19"
20
21

23
2
25
26 Hk

27 |

28

22"

The undersigned complainant being duly sworn states:

_ COUNT 1
On a date unknown and continuing through on or about November 16, 2018, within
the Southern District of Califomia, defendants SALAM RAZUKI, SYLVIA GONZALES,
and ELIZABETH JUAREZ did knowingly and intentionally conspire to commit at a place
outside the United States, to wit: Mexico, an act that would constitute the offense of
murder, kidnapping or maiming if committed in the special maritime and territorial

jurisdiction of the United States, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 956.
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COUNT 2 ,

On a date unknown and continuing through on or about November 16, 2018, within
the Southern District of California, defendants SALAM RAZUKI, SYLVIA GONZALES,
and ELIZABETH JUAREZ did conspire with one another to willfully seize, confine,
inveigle, kidnap, abduct and carry away N.M. for another purpose, to wit: intimidation and
murder, and to transport N.M. in foreign commerce from the United States to Mexico, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1201(c).

And the comiplainant states that this complaint is based on the attached statement of

facts, which is incorporated herein by reference.

LLE HART
FBI Special Agent

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence

this / é day of November, 2018. M (R

HONORABLE WILLIAM V. GALLO
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

CAEI 0187




o 0 3 N B AW N

| T e
N o= o

|

[y
w

Case 3:18-mj-05915-MDD Document 1 Filed 11/19/18 PagelD.3 Page 3of 7

Probable Cause Statement
On or about October 17, 2018, SALAM RAZUKI and SYLVIA GONZALES met
with a Confidential Human Source (CHSI1) requesting CHS1 arrange to kill one of their
business associates, N.M.! According to RAZUKI and GONZALES, they had invested in
multiple properties and business ventures together and were now involved in a civil dispute
|over their assets. RAZUKI and GONZALES told CHS1 that they wanted CHS1 to “shoot
him [N.M.] in the face,” “to take him to Mexico and have him whacked,” or kill him in

some other way. RAZUKI and GONZALES provided CHSI a picture of N.M., which
CHSJ1 provided to the FBI.

On or about November 5, 2018, CHS1 met with GONZALES at The Great Maple
lin San Diego, CA. During the meeting, GONZALES asked if CHS1 could “get rid of
Salam’s [RAZUKI] other little problem, [N.M.], because it looks like they’re going to

14
15
16
17

18|l

19
20

21 |

22
23|
24
25
26
27

28 |

appeal.... I'would love for him [N.M.] to go to TJ and get lost. Just leave him over there.”
L GONZALES said the civil dispute between her, RAZUKI, and N.M. was over $44 million
dollars. GONZALES went on to say, “It’s no joke, Salam {[RAZUKI] has a lot of money
tied up right now, énd he’s paying attorney fees. You need to get rid of this asshole [N.M.],
he’s costing me too much money!” GONZALES wanted this to occur before the next
court date in their civil suit scheduled on or about Novembér 15, 2018. At a certain point
during the conversation, a server was cldse to their table and GONZALES said, “You don’t
havé to kill him, you don’t have to put him off the face of the earth.” Despite her words at

the time, GONZALES was making a slashing movement across her neck indicating she

! CHS1 has been cooperating with the FBI since 2009 and had provided information,
which was vetted and later determined credible, reliably over the years leading to the
successful identification and prosecution of drug traffickers, money launderers, and other
subjects in numerous FBI criminal investigations. RAZUKI is also a confidential source
for the FBI and has been since approximately May 2014. However, RAZUKI has not
informed the FBI of any of his actions, or those of GONZALES or JUAREZ, in attempting

to have N.M. kidnapped and killed.
3
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M wanted N.M. to be killed. During the conversation, GONZALES advised that there was
jno reason to involve RAZUKI in planning for the kidnapping of N.M. because “I am the

one with the balls, any time they [business partners, including RAZUKI] have a problem,

Pthey' come after me ... they say Sylvia is like a little ... honey badger ... they’re like send

the honey badger after them.”

On November or about 8, 2018, CHS1 met with GONZALES at Banbu Sushi Bar
and Grill in La Mesa, CA. At the outset of the meeting, GONZALES continued to
complain about N.M. and the ongoing civil lawsuit. According to GONZALES, another
individual was coming, later identified as ELIZABETH JUAREZ, to talk about how to
handle N.\M. GONZALES said, “Elizabeth [JUAREZ] right here, Elizabeth is going to
give you a proposition also on that problem. She said all you got to do is get him to Mexico
and she’ll take care of him over there.” CHS1 asked, “She will?” and GONZALES replied,
“Yes, that’s why she’s coming.” | \

——————

.Apprdximately one hour, 20 minutes into GONZALES’ and CHS1’s meeting at
Banbu Sushi Bar and Grill, JUAREZ joined them. JUAREZ }said that all CHS1 needed to
do was to get N.M. down to Mexico and she would take care of the rest. JUAREZ and
|| GONZALES said a lot of people have it out for N.M. so nothing would come back on
|RAZUKI. GONZALES said she wanted to watch and wanted N.M. to know that it had
come from them [GONZALES and RAZUKI], but JUAREZ cautioned GONZALES
M shduldn’t watch because it would'be gruesome and haunt her. JUAREZ said this “wasn’t |

her first rodeo” and went oh to talk about a previous incident involving a female from Vista,
CA, who was drugged and kidnapped. CHS1, GONZALES, and JUAREZ discusssd a cost
of $2,000 for the job. CHS! clarified whether GONZALES and JUAREZ wanted this to
1 happen in the _United States .or Mexico. JUAREZ said, “No, I don’t want it done here [in
the United States].” GONZALES added, “No, let’s do it in Mexico because we can’t be
charged in the US. Let’s do it in Mexico in case anything comes back to us.” JUAREZ '

said, “In Mexico it’s easier to make things go away. You pay for your freedom.”

4
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GONZALES and JUAREZ said they wanted to “put the turkey up to roast before
Thanksgiving.” After the meeting, CHS1 positively identified a driver’s license photo of
ELIZABETH JUAREZ as the individual that joined them and talked of the kidnapping and
murder of NM. This is the same individual observed by FBI agents as Jjoining the meeting

as well. GONZALES advised that RAZUKI often referred to N.M. as “the midget” and

6 | near the end of the dinner, JUAREZ handed CHSI her cellphone to take a picture of
= || GONZALES and JUAREZ and said, “You can take a picture of us when we were going to

8
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|

get rid of the midget [decided to kidnap and kill N.M.].”

After dinner, CHSI called GONZALES and confirmed that CHS|1 could kidnap and
‘murder N.M. During the call, CHS1 told GONZALES to provide information on N.M.,
including his address, what car he drives, and other identifying information. GONZALES
asked to meet the next day so she could give CHS1 the information requested.

On.or about November 9, 2018, GONZALES called CHS1 and asked CHS1 to meet
her, RAZUKI, and JUAREZ. During the meeting, RAZUKI’S assistant, GIOVANNA
CONTRERAS, was also present in the room, but did not participate in the conversation
and had headphones in her ears most of the time. RAZUKI, GONZALES, and JUAREZ,
discussed with CHS1 several loans they were trying to secure for their businesses,
.including cannabis dispensaries, as well as RAZUKI’s frustration with the ongoing civil
| suit with N.M. At times during the meeting, RAZUKI went to the other side of the room
to work, though CHS1 believes it was close enough to overhear the continued conversation |
between CHS1, GONZALES, and JUAREZ GONZALES asked CHS]1 if CHSI needed
money [for the kidnapping of N.M.] and said she would go get $1,000, but asked if CHS1
wanted the full payment instead. CHS1 indicated that $1,000 fine for the time being and
GONZALES went to fhe Goldn Bloom Dispensary and returned with $1,000 cash.
Surveillance agents observed GONZALES walk to the Goldn Bloom Dispensary across
the street and return. | | | |

CAEI 0190
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After the meeting, CHS|1 provided agents with $1000 cash provided by GONZALES
as well as an envelope with a piece of paper inside, which had also been provided by

“ GONZALES. The paper had two business addresses for N.M. according to GONZALES

in a later meeting.

On or about November 13, 2018, GONZALES contacted CHS1 again via phone and
informed CHS1 that RAZUKI and GONZALES would be with N.M. in court at the Hall
of Justice located at 330 West Broadway, San Diego, CA. GONZALES requested CHS1
join them so CHS]1 could see N.M. in person. CHS1 declined going into the courtroom,
but agreed to stand outside the building and wait for N.M. to exit. While inside the Hall of
Justice, GONZALES took a picture of N.M. with her phone and sent it to CHS1 and then
called CHS1 and described what N.M. was wearing at the hearing. GONZALES exited
the Hall of Justice and met with CHSI to further discuss the description of N.M., which
was recorded. During'thismeetin-g, GONZALES explained that “10605 Roselle St.” and
“9212 Mira Est. Ct 218 SD 92126 were locations of businesses N.M. manéges. She did
not specifically explain the address, “2815 Camino Del Rio S. #124 San Diego, CA
92108.” According to GONZALES, the information on the envelope and back of the paper,
was to assist CHS1 in locating N.M. for the kidnapping and murder in Mexico.

18 | GONZALES also stated during the meeting “if they take him now, it’s gunna be good.”

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

GONZALES went back into the courthouse and provided CHS1 with updates as N.M. was
departing the Hall of Justice to ensure CHS1 observed N.M. as he left. GONZALES told
CHS1 that N.M. would be exiting the courthduse and that GONZALES, RAZUKI,
lJUAREZ, and their attorney Would exit after him. FBI agents observed N.M exit the
courthouse after CHS1 had been told this and agents observed RAZUKI, GONZALES,
and JUAREZ proceeded on foot to the vehicle they arrived in and departed.

In an interview with FBI on November 15, 2018, N.M. advised that he had invested
in real estate with RAZUKI in order to lease buildings to various entities — mainly
marijuana dispensaries. Later on November 15, 2018, CHS1 met with RAZUKI, which

6
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was recorded and surveilled by FBI agents. CHSI said, "I took care of it." RAZUKI
replied, "So he will take care of it, or it's done?” CHS! replied, "Done." RAZUKI quickly
changed the subject to discuss other business investments and pending loans. Later in the
conversatioﬁ, CHSI1 said, "Well, when I talked to what's her name, she said that she wanted
to have proof. Do you want to see it, or are you ok with it?" RAZUKI replied, "No, I'm
ok with it. Idon't Want to see it." Shortly thereafter, CHS1 requested the remaihder of the
agreed-upon payment and RAZUKI directed CHSI to follow up with GONZALES for
payment. |
On November 15, 2018, GONZALES was arrested and advised of her Miranda
rights and agreed to speak with agents. During her interview, GONZALES admitted the
existence of the ongoing civil lawsuit between N.M. and RAZUKI, GONZALES, and
JUAREZ, but denied involvement in any conspiracy to kidnap and kill N.M. |
On Noifember 16, 2018, JUAREZ was arrested and advised of her Miranda rights

and agreéd to speak with agénts. | JUAREZ admitted to having the meetings and
conversations about kidnapping and killing N.M., but said she didn’t think the group would
aétually go through with it. |

~ On November 16, 2018, RAZUKI was arrested and advised of his Miranda rights‘
and agreed to speak with agents. During his interview, RAZUKI admitted the existence of
the ongoing civil lawsuit between N.M. and RAZUKI, GONZALES, and JUAREZ
involving approximately $40 million. RAZUKI heard that N.M. was missing, but thought

it was a joke and denied involVe_meht in any conspiracy to kidnap and kill N.M.

CAEI 0192
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Charles F. Goria, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108

Tel.: (61 9) 692-3555

Fax: (619)296-5508

Attomeys for Defendant CHRIS HAKTM

I L E
Clark emmumcun'D
SEP'04 2018

By: C. Rein, Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual
Plaintiff

Vs

NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS
HAKIM, anmdw;dua] MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULT!NG INC.,
California corporation; SAN DIEGO
UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a
California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited
liability company; MIRA ESTE
PROPERTIES LLC, a California limited

liability company; ROSELLE PROPERTIES,

LLC, a California limited liability company;
BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, a
California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a California nonprofit mutual

benefit co'rp,oration; DEVILISH DELIGHTS,

INC. a California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; and DOES 1-100, inclusive;

Defendants.
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Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
(Unlimited Civil Action)

DECLARATION OF JERRY BACA IN
OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT”S
APPLICATION FOR APPOINTMENT OF
RECEIVER

Hearing Date: September 7, 2018
Time: 1:30PM
Dept.: C-67

I/CJudge:  Hon. Eddie C. Sturgeon

Complaint Filed: July 10,2018
Trial Date:  Not Set

IMAGED FILE

Hakim.Baca.D_eclaration
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L, Jerry Baca, declare:

1. I am over the age of 18,

2. I am the managing member (ami sole member) of Synergy Management
Partners, LLC (“Synergy”). Since approximately August 1, 2018, Synergy has managed the
Facility at 9212 Mira Este Court, San Diego, California (“Mira Este Facility™ or “F acility™)
for and on behalf of Mira Este Propeties, LLC (MEP"),

3. I have been employed in the cannabis industry for more than 6 years. Among
other past experiences in the cannabis industry, I have owned and operated a cannabis
dispensary; and I have owned and operated a business in three states that facilitated the
physician evaluation of patients for possfble cannabis prescriptions.

4. In connection with Synergy’s management of the Mira Este Facility, Synergy
is responsible for the day-to-day operétions of the Facility, including staffing for the |
building, installation of utilities, Internet service, and other services, ;iroviding security for
the Facility, and providing a compliance manager to oversee production at that Facility.

5. The Vbusiness model at the Mira Este Facility consists of at least 3 different
activities, none of which involve the retail sale of cannabis products. First, the Mjra Este
Facility, consisting of approximately 16,000 square feet of space, is a licensed cannabis
m#nufacnner. As such, the Mira Este Facility has the opportunity to enter into sub-licénse
agreements with other producers and manufacturers 50 long as the safeguards and practices
and procedures at the Mira Este Facility are followed. Those safeguards i_nclude providing
security at the Facility 7 days a week and 24 hours a day. It also includes documenting all

items that come into the Facility by manifest, taking control of those items, and placing

Hakim.Baca.Declaration SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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them in a safe. When a sub licensee producer or manufacturer requires those items for the
manufacture of its product, Synergy handles the paperwork, including the documenting of
the release of such materials with at least two (2) persons present at all times. Additionally,
Synergy coordinates the testing 6f products with an outside testing company, again with two
(2) witnesses present at all times. As noted, Synergy also provides staffing for the building,
which includes not only security and a compliance manager, but also all maintenance and
cleaning staff. Synergy has also prepared formal written practices and policies that all sub
licensees are required to follow. The second business activity at the Facility involves
Synergy’s distribution of cannabis products for the sub licensees. The third business
activity involves the production by MEP of its own set of cannabis products for distribution.

6. The primary source of income to MEP is from sub licensees and is generated
by-a minimum guarantee as against a percentage of gross revenues earned by the sub
licensee. Income from the distribution of cannabis products or MEP’s manufacture of
cannabis products are nonexistent because of the presence of the receiver.

7. In regards to income from sub licensees, that is also virtually nonexistent as
explained below because of the presence of the receiver. The business model with sub
licensees involved a guarantee per month of no less than $20,000, as against a percentage of
Business of the sub licensee of no less than 10%. Therefore, and by way of example, the
first and only producerlsub licensee procured by Synergy waé a company known as Edipure.
Edipure expended tens of thousands of dollars in pre};aration for the start of its production
activities at the Facility. It also entered into a sublicense agreement to utilize approximately

4000 square feet at the Facility. The sublicense agreement was made after the receiver was

Hakim.Baca.Declaration SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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removed on or about July 31, 2018 and before the receiver was re-appointed on or about
August 20, 2018. During that time, Edipure generated approximately $200,000 in “pre—
orders”. Since 10% of that amount or $20,000 was less than ﬂle $30,000 per month
minimum guarantee under the sublicense agreement with Edipure, Edipure will be
responsible to pay the sum of $30,000 to continue its operations at the Facility for the first
month of its operation. At this time, Edipure is the one and only sub licensee. The Facility
cannot survive on Edipure’s $30,000 per month, given the extensive overhead that is
involved in the operation of the Facility.

8.  The minimum space requirements of a sub licensee is approximately 2000
square feet. The maximum is approximately 4000 square feet. As noted, no other sub
licensee-or manufacturer has entered into a sublicense agreement ‘t;or reasons outlined below.
When fully utilized, the Mira Este Facility can accommodate between 4 and 8 sub licensees
or manufacturers at any given time. It is therefore anticipated that the Mira Este Facility
could generate a mmnmlm of $120,000 per month and a maximum of $400,000 per month_

in guarantees, depending upon the amount of the minimum guarantee and the amount of

space that is required by sub licensees.

9. The normal cost of improvements and other start-up costs that a sub licensee
or producer would need to expend in order to begin operations at the Facility is
approximately $50,0_00 to $100,000. Therefore, sub licensees are understandably cautious
and careful before entering into sublicense agreements of the type made by Edipure.

10. Based on our respective contacts in the cannabis _indﬁslry, Chris Hakim and I

developed a lisi of producers and manufacturers for sublicensing at the Mira Este Facility.
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Through a series of ongoing discussions that we have had with these contacts in efforts to
procure them as sub licensees for the Facility over the last several weeks, the existence of a
receivership over the Facility essentially; blocks these potential sub licensees from entering
into sublicense agreements of the type made by Edipure. Before the receiver was appointed,
almost all of our contacts expressed signiﬁcant interest and willingness to enter into a
sublicense agreement. After the receiver was re-appointed on or about August 20, 2018,
none of our contacts expressed interest or a willingness to ehter into a sublicense agreement
when it was disclosed that a receiver was overseeing the Facility. Without sub licensees and
producers and manufacturers such as Edipure, the Mira Este Facility will become insolvent.
The following is a list of the comﬁanies with whom Mr. Hakim and I had discussions about
a sublicense agreement (also included are a description of ca'nnabis products made by the
company, comments by compaily principals once it was disclosed that a receiver was in
charge of the Facility, and potential revenues lost):

A.  Conscious Flowers (see accompanying declaration of Robert Torrales).

B.  Eureka Oil (Vape Cartridges): I was told by the principal of Eureka Oil that
having a third-party receiver would be a “deal brezker.” He made it clear he will only
work directly with Mr. Hakim. Potential revenues lost amount to more than $40,000 per
month based on anticipated sales. ‘

C.  Bomb Xtracts (Vape Cartridges, Pre Rolls, Flower, Moonrocks, Candy,
Concentrates, Drinks, Edibles and chip). I was told by the principal that he refused to
work with any receiver. He stated that his compan); had too many trade secrets and
recipes that could potentially be monitored and copied by a réceiver. Potential revenues
lost amount to more than $70,000 per month based on anticipated sales.

5
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D. 10X (Cannabis infused drinks). I was told by the principal that he was not willing
to share trade secret to the knowledge of the business with 2 third party receiver.
Potential lost revenue amounts to approximately $20,000 per month.

E.  Cannabis PROS ((Candy Company). I was told by the principal that any
sublicense agreement would have to wait until all legal issues are resolved and
ownership other than the receiver is in place. Potential lost revenue amounts to

approximately $25,000 per month.

F.  Royal Vape (Vape Cartridges, Pre Rolls, Edibles). 1was told by the principal that
he was unwilling to work with the receiver. He did not give areason. Potential lost
revenue amounts to more than $30,000 per month.

G.  LOL Edibles (Candy, Chips and more). I was told by the principal that he was
not pleased about having to work with a receiver and is still waiting to decide whether or

not to proceed with the sublicense agreement. Potential lost revenue is more than
$30,000 per month. ‘

H. Xtreme Vape (Vape Oil rﬁanufacturing and Vape Cartridges). I was told by the
principal that he is not willing to work with a receiver. Negotiations for sublicense
agreement will be restarted once the receiver is removed or the lawsuit is complete.

Potential lost revenue is more than $20,000 per month.

1. Bloom Fams (Vape Cartridges). I was told by the principal that because of the
turmoil caused by the litigation, he has decided to go elsewhere for his production
facility. Potential lost revenue is more than $30,000 per month.\
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L Cannabis Presidentials (Premium Pre Rolls, Vape Cartridges, Flower, Moonrocks,

Candies). I was told by the principal that he is not willing to work with a third-party
receiver and that “once things are cleared up”, they would be willing to sign a sublicense
agreement. [ was also told by the principal that he is concerned that his company’s trade secrets
would be jeopardized with a receiver or other third-party overseeing the Facility. Potential lost
revenue is between $40,000 and $70,000 per month.

11. I am informed and believe and théreon declare that there is a dispute about
ownership of equipment that SoCal delivered to the Mira Este Facility. All of the
equipment that SoCal delivered has been isolated and is largely kept in pressure — wraﬁped
plastic. None of the equipment has been used. All of the equipment is secure and is
guarded by armed security guards 7 days a week, 24 hours a day.

12. On or about August 28, 2018 Synergy entered into an accounting agreement
and pmd a retainer of $2000 to Justus H Henkes IV, Inc. and Justus "Judd" Henkes IV, CPA for
accountmg and bookkeeping services at the era Este Facility.

13.  The management agreement between Synergy and MEP requires all revenues to
be deposited into a bank account, .with withdrawale to be made only with two (2) signatories, one
by Synergy and the other by MEP. On the 5™ of each month, the management fees to Synergy
are paid along with distribution of net profits to MEP. I understand that the net profits payable
to Ninus Malan, one of the members of MEP, is in dispute. I also understand that there is no
dispute that one half of the net profits of MEP is to go to Chris Hakim.

14. A receiver to oversee the operations at the Mira Este Facility would not only be
unnecessary, but would probably destroy the Facility as a marijuana production Facility because

of the refusal of producers and manufacturers to want to work with a receiver. As an alternative
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to having a receiver in place over the management of the Mira Este Facility, I would strongly
urge the court to allow Mr. Hakim to remain as the managing member and continue to supérvise
the Mira Este Facility, The dispute involving one haif of the nét profits of MEP ¢an easily be
preserved by having one half of the net profits atherwise payable to Mr. Malan and/or Mr.
Razuki be retained in the account requiring dual signatures. No portion of those net profits
would be disbursed without a court order or an agreement of the parties. Under that
arrangement, I am informed and believe and ﬂlereén declare that manufacturing or sublicensing
agreements could be reached with most if not all of the above — listed companies.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct except as to

those matters stated on information and belief and as to those matters I believe it to be true.

This declaration was executedon <] — l—ﬁ) at San Diego County, California.
y Jyﬂ;aca :
\
8
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Charles F. Goria, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108

Tel.: (619) 6923555

Fax: (619) 2965508

Attorneys for Defendant CHRIS HAKIM

F! LE
Clork of s Bupiviet Soent
SEP04 2018
By: G Rein, Cletk

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual
Plaintiff
vs

NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS
HAKIM, an individual; MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC.,
California corporation; SAN DIEGO

UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a
California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited
liability company; MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES
LLC, a California limited liability company;
ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC, a California
limited liability company; BALBOA AVE
COOPERATIVE, a California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation; CALIFORNIA ‘
CANNABIS GROUP, a California nonprofit
mutual benefit corporation; DEVILISH
DELIGHTS, INC. a California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation; and DOES 1-100, inclusive;

Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
(Unlimited Civil Action)

DECLARAYTION OF ROBERT
TORRALES IN OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANT’S APPLICATION FOR
APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER

Hearing Date: September 7, 2018
Time: 130PM
Dept.: C-67

/Cludge:  Hon, Eddie C. Sturgeon

Complaint Filed: July 10,2018
Trial Date:  Not Set
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Defendants. : .
IMAGED FILE
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I, Robert Torrales deciare::
1. I 'am over the age of 18 years.
2. [ have been in the cannabis industry for several years. Iam one of the principals

and operate a reputable company known as Conscious Flowers that specializes in the production
and distribution of cannabis products. Information concerning Conscious Flowers is referenced
at http://iwww.consciousflowers.com/.

3. I have been working with Chris Hakim to find a suitable space at the Mira Este
Facility at 9212 Mira Este Court, San Diego, California (“Mira Este Facility”) to grow my
existing business. We were extremely close in putting together an agreement but I recently found
out I would be dealing with a third party receiver instead of Chris Hakim. Cannabis is a sensitive
business, and I have several trade secrets I would not want exposed to a third party receiver. At
this time, all negotiations have been on hold until the receiver is definitely removed from the
Mira Este Facility.

I declare under pgnaltyy of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. This declaration

Robert Torrales
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Charles.F. Goria, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108

Tel.:  (619) 692-3555

Fax: (619)296-5508

Attorneys for Defendants CHRIS HAKIM,
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC,
AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC

1 L E

Clork of the Superior Court

DEC-07 2018

By: C. Rein, Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUK]I, an individual
Plaintiff
Vs

"NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS HAKIM,

an individual; MONARCH MANAGEMENT
CONSULTING, INC.,

California corporation; SAN DIEGO UNITED
HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a

California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited
liability company; MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES
LLC, a California limited liability company;
ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC, a California
limited liability company; BALBOA AVE
COOPERATIVE, a California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC. a
California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation;
and DOES 1-100, inclusive;

Defendants.

AND RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS

Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
(Unlimited Civil Action)

DEFENDANTS CHRIS HAKIM'S,
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES LLC'S,
AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC'S
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITIES IN REPLY TO
OPPOSITION OF PLAINTIFF SALAM
RAZUKI TO SET BOND ON APPEAL

Hearing Date: December 14, 2018
Time: 1:30 PM
Dept.: C-67

I/C Judge: Hon. Eddie C. Sturgeon

Complaint Filed: July 10, 2018
Trial Date:  Not Set
IMAGED FILE
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Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties LLC, and Roselle Properties LLC
("Moving Defendants™) respectfully submit the following memorandum of points and
authorities in reply to the opposition of Plaintiff Salam Razuki to Moving Defendants'
motion to set bond on appeal:

1. Introduction.

Plaintiff argues that the court should set the Moving Defendants' appeal bond in the
exorbitant amount of $3,750,000 relative to Moving Defendants' appeal of the appointment
of the receiver at the Mira Este facility. Plaintiff argues that such an excessive bond is
necessary because the court has already determined that plaintiff has a likelihood of success
on the merits; that there is a "high risk that the business will be sold or fail if the
receivership order is stayed"; and that the requested bond amount is based on the valuations
that were negotiated in the management agreement with SoCal Building Ventures, LLC
("SoCal"). None of these arguments has merit. The bond amount should be setv at a minimal
level, not exceeding $10,000.00. ‘

2.  Plaintiffs gross misconduct in early November 2018 in his "murder for
hire" plot represents a complete defense based on the doctrine of unclean hands and
undermines any "likelihood of success" that may have previously been found by the
court before plaintiff ""hatched" his: murdei' for hire plot. |

Ultimately,r plaintiff-will not be entitled to the continuance of the receiver or any
other equitable relief because‘ of his active participation in the "murder for hire" plot directed
agamst co-defendant Ninus Malan. | ﬂ

Any suggestion of unclean hands directed against the party seeking equitable relief -
triggers the requirement that such party prove his "clean »hands".l Unlike other affirmative

! In Kendall-Jackson Winery, Ltd. v. Superior Court, 76 Cal. App. 4th 970 978-979, the court descrlbed
the "clean hands" doctrine as follows:

"The defense of unclean hands arises from the maxim," ' "He who comes into Equity must come

with clean hands." *“(Blain v. Doctor's Co. (1990) 222 Cal. App. 3d 1048,.1059 [272 Cal. Rptr.

250] (Blain).) . . . He must come into court with-clean hands, and keep them clean, or he will be denied
relief, regardless of the merits of his claim. (Precision Co. v. Automotive Co. (1945) 324 U.S. 806, 314-
815 [65 S. Ct. 993, 997-998, 89 L. Ed. 1381]; Hall v. Wright (9th Cir. 1957) 240 F.2d 787, 794-795.) The
defense is available in legal as well as equitable actions. (cit. omit.). . . The unclean hands doctrine

2
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defenses that allocate the burden of proof to the defendant, the unclean hands doctrine
requires the party seeking relief to establish his or her "clean hands" when any
suggestion arises about his or her inequitable conduct.

The California Supreme Court case of DeGarmo v. Goldman, 19 Cal. 2d 755, is
dispositive of the allocation of burden of proof in cases such as the present one where the

plaintiff seeks the intervention of a court of equity. In DeGarmo, supra, the

~ respondent/stockholder, also a director, claimed on appeal that his action was one at law, that he

invoked a statutory remedy under Cal. Civ. Code § 310, and the court did not have jurisdiction to
hear the appeal. The court held that it had equitable jurisdiction to hear the appeal and that the
superior court erred in not considering the issue of the stockholder's good faith. The court found
that the statutory action against the directors for misconduct was based upon a breach of their
fiduciary duty to the corporation and that under such circumstances equity had concurrent
jurisdiction with law. As a consequence of that finding, the stockholder was not entitled to the
relief sought unless he came to the court of equity with clean hands. It was the duty of the
superior court upon a “suggestion” that the stockholder had not acted in good faith to inquire
into the facts in that regard. The evidence showed that the stockholder failed to perform his
duties, faiied to investigate the irregularities he alleged, and benefited from the fraudulent acts of
the directors. The stockholder did not meet the burden of proof that he had clean hands and
could not avail himself of an équitable remedy. At 19 Cal. 2d 755, 764-765, the Court stated:

- “Upon the second issue of good faith, the court made no finding although it is the duty of
a court of equity, upon any suggestion that a plaintiff has not acted in good faith
concerning the matters upon which he bases his suit, to inquire into the facts in that
regard. For it is not only fraud or illegality which will prevent a suitor from obtaining
equitable relief. Any unconscientious conduct upon his part which is connected with the
controversy will repel him from the forum whose very foundation is good
conscience. (Johnston v. Murphy, 36 Cal. App. 469 [172 Pac. 616].)

k ok %k

protects judicial integrity and promotes justice. It protects judicial integrity because allowing a plaintiff
with unclean hands to recover in an action creates doubts as to the justice provided by the judicial system.
Thus, precluding recovery to the unclean plaintiff protects the court's, rather than the opposing party's
interests. (cit.omit.)” (Emphasis added).
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. .Therefore, as the very foundation of an equity forum is good conscience, any really
unconscientious conduct connected with the controversy to which he is a party is
sufficient justification for the court to close its doors to him; nor does the fact that a
plaintiff may have no adequate remedy at law justify disregarding the
maxim. (Miller v. Kraus, [Cal. App.] 155 Pac. 834.) The burden is on the one coming
into a court of equity for relief to prove not only his legal rights but his clean hands,

and he may not rely on any deficiencies that may be laid at the door of the
defendants. (Richman v. Bank of Perris, supra.)” (Emphasis added).

In the present case, the Probable Cause Statement in the Federal Criminal Complaint
establishes at least the “suggestion” that plaintiff is guilty of the worst type of misconduct in
connection with this litigation. That statement reads in part as follows (at Moving

Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice in Support of Motion to Set Bond on Appeal
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(“Moving Defendants’ Req. Jud. Notice™) Exhibit 1):

“On or about October 17, 2018, SALAM RAZUKI and SYLVIA GONZALES
met with a Confidential Human Source (CHSI) requesting CHSI arrange to kill one of

their business associates, N.M.! According to RAZUKI and GONZALES, they had
invested in multiple properties and business ventures together and were now
involved in a civil dispute over their assets. RAZUKJ and GONZALES told CHS1
that they wanted CHS1 to "shoot him [N.M.] in the face," "to take him to Mexico and
have him whacked," or kill him in some other way. RAZUKI and GONZALES
provided CHS1 a picture of N.M., which CHS1 provided to the F: BI.

On or about November 5, 2018, CHSI met with GONZALES at The Great
Maple in San Diego, CA. During the meeting, GONZALES asked if CHSI could "get
rid of Salam's [RAZUKI] other little problem, [N.M.], because it looks like they're
going to appeal...." GONZALES said the civil dispute between her, RAZUKI, and N.M.
was over $44 million dollars. GONZALES went on to say, "It's no joke, Salam
[RAZUKI] has a lot of money tied up right now, and he's paying attorney fees. You
need to get rid of this asshole [N.M.], he's costing me too much money!"” GONZALES
wanted this to occur before the next court date in their civil suit scheduled on or about
November 15, 2018. .

On November or about 8, 2018, CHS1 met with GONZALES at Banbu
Sushi Bar and Grill in La Mesa, CA. At the outset of the meeting, GONZALES
continued to complain about N.M. and the ongoing civil lawsuit.

. GONZALES and JUAREZ said they wanted to "put the turkey up

- to roast before Thanksgiving."

***
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heart of this civil'litigatidn because laintiff intended to murder defendant Malan as the

On or about November 9, 2018, GONZALES called CHSI and asked CHSI
to meet her, RAZUKI, and JUAREZ. . . RAZUKI, GONZALES, and JUAREZ,
discussed with CHS1 several loans they were trying to secure for their businesses,

including cannabis dispensaries, as well as RAZUKI's frustration with the ongoing
civil suit with N.M. . . .

On or about November 13, 2018, GONZALES contacted CHSI again via phone
and informed CHSI that RAZUKI and GONZALES would be with N.M. in court at the
Hall of Justice located at 330 West Broadway, San Diego, CA. . . . While inside the Hall
of Justice, GONZALES took a picture of N.M. with her phone and sent it to CHSI . ..
GONZALES went back into the courthouse and provided CHS1 with updates as N.M.
was departing the Hall of Justice to ensure CHSI observed N.M. as he left. GONZALES
told CHSI that N.M. would be exiting the courthouse and that GONZALES, RAZUKI,
JUAREZ, and their attorney would exit after him. FBI agents observed N.M exit the
courthouse after CHS1 had been told this and agents observed RAZUKI, GONZALES,
and JUAREZ proceeded on foot to the vehicle they arrived in and departed.

. . .Later on November 15, 2018, CHSI met with RAZUKI, which was recorded
and surveilled by ¥BI agents. CHS1 said, "I took care of it."" RAZUKI replied, "So he
will take care of it, or it's done?"” CHSI1 replied, "Done."” . . .. Later in the
conversation, CHS1 said, "Well, when I talked to what's her name, she said that she
wanted to have proof. Do you want to see it, or are you ok with it?"" RAZUKI replied,
"No, I'm ok with it. I don't want to see it.” Shortly thereafter, CHS1 requested the
remainder of the agreed-upon payment and RAZUKI directed CHS to follow up with
GONZALES for payment.. ..” (Empbhasis added).

Again, the probable cause statement reflected gross misconduct that went to the very

most exgeditiqus way to end the civil litigation. As such, the probable cause statement at
least triggered the Court’s duty to i_nquiré into the facts surrounding the attempted murder.
The burden of proof is not on the party asserting unclean hands; it is on the party seeking the
intervention of the sourt, nalhely plaintiff, to affirmatively establish that his “hands” are

clean and the material in the Probable Cause Statement is false. Plaintiff has utterly failed to

do so. His Counsel’s insupportable and gratuitous rémark'that plaintiff’s criminal
mlsconduct is “nothing more than a to » does not meet plaintiff’s burden of proof to

establish that his “hands are clean”.

Plaintiff has also prev10usly misinformed the court about the requirement that the

"unclean hands" arise from the alleged causes of action asserted by the plaintiff. Plaintiff has
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misinformed the Court about the extent of the nexus between the misconduct and the subject
matter of the action necessary for the application of the unclean hands doctrine.

In Unilogic, Inc. v. Burroughs Corp., 10 Cal. App. 4th 612, the plaintiff, Unilogic,
alleged that Burroughs tortiously converted certain new technology for a personal computer
developed by Unilogic pursuant to a contract it had with Burroughs. Unilogic introduced
evidence that, during development of the technology and at the direction of his superiors at
Burroughs, a Burroughs employee, Orcutt, spirited proprietary information on the development
of the personal computer away from Unilogic. Burroughs answered Unilogic's conversion claim
with the affirmative defense of unclean hands, claiming that the subject contract was fraudulently
procured by Unilogic. Although the fraudulent procurement of the contract was not part of the
conversion claim and not even directly involve ad in the conversion claim, the court of appeal
nonetheless upheld the finding of unclean hands as a defense to the conversion claim. The court
stated as follows (at 10 Cal. App.4th 621):

"Unilogic takes an unreasonably narrow view of the unclean hands doctrine.
Certainly, there must be a connection between the complaint and the equitable defense:
“The trial of the issue relating to clean hands cannot be distorted into a proceeding to try
the general morals of the parties." ( Boericke v. Weise (1945) 68 Cal.App.2d 407, 419
[156 P.2d 781].). . .But the doctrine does apply "if the inequitable conduct occurred in
a transaction directly related to the matter before the court and affects the equitable
relationship between the litigants. [Citations.]" ( California Satellite Systems, Inc. v.
Nichols, supra, 170 Cal.App.3d at p. 70.) In short, "[tJhe misconduct must infect the
cause of action before the court." ( Carman v. Athearn (1947) 77 Cal.App.2d 585, 598
[175 P.2d 926].)

In this case, Burroughs's conversion and Unilogic's misconduct occurred in the
same transaction that forms the subject of this litigation--the joint development project. In
our view, that is enough to trigger application of the unclean hands doctrine.” :

| See, also, Kendall-Jackson Winery, Ltd. v. Superior Court, 76 Cal. App. 4th 970, 985,
and Peregrine Funding, Inc. v. Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP, 133 Cal. App. 4th 6358.
In the latter case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal discussed the nexus element in the unclean
hands doctrine as follows:

“The question is whether the unclean conduct relates directly “to the transaction
concerning which the complaint is made,” i.e., to the “subject matter involved”
(Fibreboard, supra, 227 Cal. App. 2d at p. 728, italics added), and not whether it is part
of the basis upon which liability is being asserted. (Unilogic, Inc. v. Burroughs Corp.
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(1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 612, 621 [12 Cal. Rptr. 2d 741] [“the doctrine does apply ‘if the
inequitable conduct occurred in a transaction directly related to the matter before the
court and affects the equitable relationship between the litigants® ”]; see also
Kendall-Jackson Winery, Ltd. v. Superior Court, supra, 76 Cal.App.4™ at p. 985 [“any
evidence of a plaintiff's unclean hands in relation to the transaction before the court
or which affects the equitable relations between the litigants in the matter before the
court should be available to enable the court to effect a fair result in the
litigation”].)” (Emphasis added).

In the present case as well, the murder for hire plot was triggered by the very litigation
that is before the court. Far more than in Unilogic, the misconduct here was a direct outgrowth
of the lawsuit, and not .simply an ancillary fact. Indeed, in Unilogic, Unilogic's unclean hands in
the formation of the contract did not constitute any part of Unilogic's conversion claim against
Burroughs for the conversion of Unilogic's proprietary information. Nevertheless, the court
there determined that the unclean hands doctrine will apply if the misconduct that constitutes
unclean hands relates to the subject matter before the court.

That is certainly the case here. The murder for hire plot occurred in the same context as
the subject litigation in that the inurder for hire plot was triggered by the expense, attorney’s
fees, and likelihood of appeal in the litigation. Each of these factors- was specifically mentioned
by plaintiff and his co-defendants to the undercover agent. Paraphrasing Unilogic, the murder
for hire plot occurred in the same dispﬁte as the civil lawsuit, namely, the dispute over
properties, the extensive attorney's fees incurred by the parties in this litigation, and the filing of
the appeal. The murder for hire plot is inextricably intertwined with the subject litigation, and
that is enough of a relationship to bring into play the unclean hands doctrine. As such, the
argument by plaintiff that the court has already ruled that plaintiff will likely prevail on the
merits is fatally defective because any such determination was made before the murder for hire
plot occurred. - ' _

It should finally be noted that the court's order appointing a receiver at Mira Este may
also be collaterally attacked at any stage of the proceedings as being void for lack of jurisdiction
as well. The requirements of CCP § 564 pertaining to the appointment of receivers are

jurisdictional, and without a showing of the basis under CCP §564 for the appointment of a
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receiver, the court’s order appointing a receiver is void. Turner v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 5th
Dist. Aug. 24, 1977), 72 Cal. App. 3d 804.

In the present case, plaintiff has never been able to point out the basis for his argument
that the appoiritment of a receiver at the Mira Este facility (as compared to the Balboa facility)
implicates any of the bases for the appointment of a receiver under CCP section 564. Plaintiff
has no property ownership in the Mira Este facility, since that is owned exclusively by Mira Este
Properties LLC. Plaintiff does not even own any recognizable interest in Mira Este Properties
LLC. Plaintiff's interest only goes to a share of the profits after those profits are distributed to
defendant Ninus Malan. Such interest is predicated on an amorphcus settlement agreement
between plaintiff and Mr. Malan (but not Mr. Hakim) that purports to create RM Holdings, LLC
to receive profits distributed to Mr. Malan. Plaintiff has no control, voting power, or other
recognizable interest in the Mira Este facility.

Further, plaintiff cannot point to any partnership dispute involving Mira Este Properties
LLC, because plaintiff has no contractual relationship or partnership relationship with Mr
Hakim or with Mira Este Properties LLC. Plaintiff's contractual relationship is with Ninus Malan
alone. In that regard, it should be noted that even as to the operations of the Mira Este facility,
defendant Chris Hakim is the sole and exclusive managing member of Mira Este Properties LLC.

In short, plaintiff cannot and has not established any basis under CCP §564 for this
court's jurisdiction to appoint a receiver over the Mira Este facility or Mira Este Properties LLC.
For that reason as well, the appellate bond should be minimal.

3. There is an avalanche of evidence that the business will not fail if the
receiver is removed; contrariwise, the business will continue to fail if the receiver
remains.

The bond amount suggested by plaintiff of $3.75 million for Mira Este bears no
relationship to any potential damage that may be suffered if the receivership is stayed. Plaintiff
will actually profit from a removal of the receiver and not suffer any damage whatsoever. In -
particular, the Mira Este facility will actually profit from the removal of the receiver because

once the receiver is removed, manufacturers will come into the facility and pay substantial
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monies that will make the facility profitable. As such, plaintiff has not and cannot show any
"likelihood of damage" if the receivership is stayed.

As made clear by the Amended Second Report of Receiver ("Secc;nd Report™), the
Mira Este facility has lost some $132,097.60 for the period from July through October 2018.
(See Schedule 5 of Second Report). The only revenues during this time have come from the
Edipure license fees of $90,000.00, paid at the rate of $30,000.00 per month. Edipure was
procured as a sub-licensee at a time when there was no receiver in place at the Mira Este
facility. (Of course, and by comparison, the Second Report shows that during the time
SoCal managed the Mira Este facility during the latter part of 2017 and through July 10,
2018, no revenues from operations were generated by SoCal. See Schedule 5, Second
Report).

Moreover, during the course of the proceedings in the last three months, Moving
Defendants have submitted a virtual avalanche of evidence to establish that the
manufacturers with whom they have negotiated are not willing to come into the Mira Este
facility so long as the receiver is there. These manufacturers were identified in the prior
declaration of Jerry Baca (attached for the convenience of the Court to Defendants’ Req.
Jud. Notice as ExhiBit 2). As specified in that declaration, the manufacturers together with
their comments are as follows:

1. Conscious Flowers. (The principal at Conscious Flowers, Robert Torrales, -
submitted his own declaration (attached for the convenience of the Court to
Defendants’ Req. Jud. Notice as Exhibit 3) wherein he explained why he would not
work under a receiver.) '

2. Eureka Oil (Vape Cartridges): Baca was told by the principal of Eureka Oil
that having a third-party receiver would be a “deal breaker.” He made it clear he will
only work directly with Mr. Hakim. Potential revenues lost amount to more than
$40,000 per month based on anticipated sales.

3. Bomb Xtracts (Vape Cartridges, Pre Rolls, Flower, Moonrocks, Candy,
Concentrates, Drinks, Edibles and chip). Baca was told by the principal that he refused

to work with any receiver. He stated that his company had too many trade secrets and
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party overseeing the Facility. Potential lost revenue is between $40,000 and $70,000 per
month. , ‘

Against this avalanche of evidence, plaintiff offers an innocuous, irrelevant, and
hearsay email sent three days before the November 30, 2018 hearing concerning a specific
negotiation with another manufacturer, Cream of the Crop. That email suggested that it was
a negotiating error to offer a 40% discount to Cream of the Crop as an inducement when the

parties were only three days away from what was thought to be a decision on the removal of

" the receiver from the Mira Este facility. If such removal had occurred on the scheduled date

of November 30, then Cream of the Crop would likely have been willing to locate its
manufacturing processes at Mira Este at the previously negotiated price of $50,000 rather
than the reduced price of $30,000.

In short, a stay of the receivership pending appeal will actually result in the Mira Este
facility becoming profitable. The numerous manufacturers who are awaiting this court's
decision on the removal of the receiver have given every indication that once the receiver is
out, they will locate their manufacturing operations at Mira Este. As such, it “turns logic on
its head” to suggest that there will likely be damages if the receivership is stayed at the Mira
Este facility. No damage will result from the removal of the receiver, and therefore, the
bond on appeal should be set at the minimum.

4. Conclusion. '

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is requested that the Court set the bond on appeal

relative to the Mira Este facility at the minimum required amount of not more than $10,000.

Respectfully submitted,

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

Dated: /b/}// 5 | | By: A 7/;*7»-»

Charles F. Goria

Attorneys for Defendants

Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties
LLC, and Roselle Properties LLC

11
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FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION
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individual,
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MONARCH MANAGEMENT
CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation;
SAN DIEGO UNITED HOLDING
GROUP, LLC, a California
limited liability company;
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liability company; ROSELLE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a
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liability company; and
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APPEARANCES:

For Plaintiff Salam Razuki:

LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN A. ELIA

STEVEN A. ELIA, ESQ.

MAURA GRIFFIN, ESQ.

JAMES JOSEPH, ESQ.

2221 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 207
San Diego, California 92108
619.444.2244

stevelelialaw.com
mg@mauragriffinlaw.com
james@elialaw.com

For Plaintiffs in Intervention SoCal Building
Ventures, LLC, and San Diego Building Ventures,

LLC:

SHELLEY A. CARDER, ATTORNEY AT LAW
SHELLEY A. CARDER, ESQ.

(Specially appearing)

13055 Walking Path Place

San Diego, California 92130
858.692.3786
shelley.carder@gmail.com

For Defendant Ninus Malan, San Diego United
Holdings Group, California Cannabis Group,

Balboa Avenue Cooperative, Devilish Delights,

and Flip Management, LLC:

AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP

GINA M. AUSTIN, ESQ.

TAMARA M. LEETHAM, ESQ.

3990 0ld Town Avenue, Suite A-112
San Diego, California 92110
619.924.9600
gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com
tamaralaustinlegalgroup.com

For Defendant Ninus Malan:

GALUPPO & BLAKE

LOUIS A. GALUPPO, ESQ.
DANIEL T. WATTS, ESQ.

2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92008
760.431.4575
dwatts@galuppeolaw.com
lgaluppo@galuppolaw.com
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APPEARANCES (Continued):

For Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este
Properties, Roselle Properties, and Monarch
Management Consulting, Inc.:

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

CHARLES F. GORIA, ESQ.

1011 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, California 92108
619.692.3555

chasgoria@gmail.com

For Sunrise Property Investments, LLC:

LAW OFFICE OF DOUGLAS JAFFE

DOUGLAS JAFFE, ESOQ. ;
501 West Broadway, Suite 800

San Diego, California 952101

619.400.4945

douglasjaffe@aol.com

For Receiver, Michael Essary:

GRISWOLD LAW

RICHARDSON C. GRISWOLD, ESQ.

444 S, Cedros Avenue, Suite 250
Solana Beach, California 92075
858.481.1300
rgriswold@griswoldlawsandiego.com

For Far West Management, LLC; Adam Knopf;
Heidi Rising; Alexis Bridgewater; and Matthew
Freeman:

DART LAW

MATTHEW B. DART, ESOQ.

12526 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300
San Diego, California. 92130
858.792.3616
matt@dartlawfirm.com

Also present: Michael Essary
Matt Mahoney
Kyle Yaege
Joe Salas
Ninus Malan
Brian Brinig
Michael Hickman
Salam Razuki
Chris Hakim
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SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA;

FRIDAY, DECEMBER 14, 2018; 2:16 P.M.

THE COURT: All right. Let's get everybody

up. Let's go. All right. We'll start and -- just
start going right across. So this is Razuki vs.
Malan. May I have appearances.

MR. BRINIG: Brian Brinig, Court's forensic
accountant.

MR. JOSEPH: James Joseph on behalf of the
plaintiff, Salam Razuki.

| MS. GRIFFIN: Maura Griffin on behalf of
the plaintiff, Salam Razuki, who is present in the
courtroom today.

MR. ELIA: Steven Elia on behalf of
Mr. Razuki, who's present, and also Mrs. Razuki is
also present as well.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. WATTS: Daniel Watts on behalf of
defendant Ninus Malan and cross—-complaint American
Lending and Holdings, and Mr. Malan is in the
courtroom today as well.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. GORIA: Charles Goria on behalf of
Chris Hakim, Roselle Properties, and Mira Este
Properties, LLC. And Mr. Hakim is also here.

MS. LEETHAM: Tamara Leetham for San Diego

United Holdings Group, Flip Management, Roselle
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Properties -- oh, wait. That's Chuck. I'm sorry.
That's Chuck. Balboa Ave. Cooperative, California
Cannabis Group, and Ninus Malan.

THE COURT: Devilish Delights?

MS. LEETHAM: Devilish Delights. Thank
you, Your Honor.

MS. AUSTIN: Gina Austin on behalf of the
same parties as Ms. Leetham.

MR. GALUPPO: Louis Galuppo, Galuppo &
Blake, on behalf of the same parties as Mr. Watts.

THE COURT: Is that everyone? . Oh, back
TYOW. |

MR. JAFFE: Doug Jaffe on behalf of Sunrise
Properties and -- Property Investments, LLC.

MR. ESSARY: Michael Essary, receilver.

MR. GRISWOLD: Richardson Griswold for
receiver, Michael Essary.

MR. DART: Matthew Dart. Excuse me.

MS. CARDER: Shelley Carder specially
appearing on behalf of SoCal Building Ventures and
San Diego Building Ventures.

MR. DARTQ' Matthew Dart specially appearing
for Far West and its individuals, Knopf, Rising,
Bridgewater, and Freeman.

MR. MAHONEY: And as before, Your Honor,
Matt Mahoney on behalf of nonparty Synergy. Just
here for any questions pertaining to Synergy.

THE COURT: Thank you. First of all,
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welcome. Let's —-- has everybody -- did everybody --
okay. There's a lot to go do, but we'll see how far
we're going\to go today. It could be a short
hearing or it could be a long hearing.

The first thing I want to talk about is
jurisdiction. In’looking on the appellate court
website, there's been an appeal filed by -- is it
Razuki? No?

MR. ELIA: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: It's been filed by -- strike
that -- Avail.

Who's Avail? Are they even here?

MS. LEETHAM: Your Honor, Availl 1is the
case that --

THE COURT: Are you Avail?

MR. YAEGE: Yes. I'm counsel for Avail
Shipping. I don't really have any interest in this.
THE REPORTER: I need your name.

MR. YAEGE: Kyle Yaege for Avail Shipping.

THE COURT: What's the appellate issue?

MR. YAEGE: The appellate issue —--

Mr. Jaffe would be better suited to address that.

THE COURT: Mr. Jaffe, what's the appellate
issue? Where is he?

MR. JAFFE: Your Honor, that's a case
that's not involved in this.

THE COURT: I just want to -—- I saw Razuki.

I pulled up everything. Just tell me what it is.
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MR. JAFFE: That appeal is of the
arbitration award and the landlord tenant case.

THE COURT: We can throw that one away.
Let's move in to the next appellate court issue, and
this was the one 'that has been filed by Malan;

San Diego United ﬁoldings Group, LLC; Flip
Management, LLC; Balboa Avenue Corporation [sic]:
California Cannabis Group; and Devilish Delights,
correct?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: - Okay. First question, because
of that appeal, does this Court have any
jurisdiction to do anything today?

MR. WATTS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Let's talk about that.

MR. WATTS: You -- the appeal removes from
your purview the power to modify the injunctidn that
is being appealed. That is to protect the appellate
court's jurisdiction. So you can't modify the
eXisting injunction, except to vacate it 1f it's
void. If you've entered a void order, the Court can
sua sponte vacate a void order at any time, because
a void order is as if it's never been entered in the
firSt place.

THE COURT: So under that analysis, Judge,
you can't do anything today with the -- with the
TRO, including -- strike that -- with the

appointment of the receiver today, correct --
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MR. WATTS: No, Your Honcr.

THE COURT: -- under your analysis?

MR. WATTS: No, Your Honor. You may
vacate --

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. WATTS: You may vacate the receivership
order because it's a void order.

THE COURT: I'm not going to do that.

MR. WATTS: We've also filed a motion, a
separate claim for relief. In case the Court does
not find the order vague, we're saying that we have
an indepéndent right to have Sunrise and those
dispensaries put into receivership under Kevin
Singer, who is the independent, experienced cannabis
receiver that we've provided his application, his
CV, et cetera.

THE COURT: Would that be modifying the
receiver's order?

MR. WATTS: It would not. It would --
Sunrise 1s not part of the receivership. Goldn
Bloom is not part of the receivership. You wouldn't
have to touch Mr. Essary's receivership order to do
that. You would be appointing a receiver -- a new
receiver based on a separate —--

THE COURT: So this is a new motion to
bring in a new receiver?

MR. WATTS: That's right, Your Honor. This

motion was originally -~ it was a noticed motion.
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9
It was, I believe -- well, we came in ex parte, and
then it was set for this hearing date. The Court
set the date in the briefing schedule.

MS. LEETHAM: Your Honor, if I can jump in
for a moment, the answer to your gquestion is: No,
we don't think you can modify the preliminary
injunction order. I think we've talked about that
at higher hearings. We had come in and asked for
the appeal bond and --

THE COURT: We did that.

MS. LEETHAM: Right. And so the Court had
decided to set that and hear that today, so I think
that would be the position.

THE COURT: Position on this side of the
table?

MR. JOSEPH: Yes, Your Hcnor. You can
modify and do whatever you want with the
receivership until the bond is posted. And I
apologize. I do not remember the exact case that we
cited, but we did provide supplemental briefing to
the Court ahead of our November 16th hearing. That
case, the Court set a bond for $80,000, and the
appellate never posted the bond.

Years -- months afterwards, the Court then
modified the receiver, gave the receiver power to
sell the property and eéerything. The Court of
Appeals said thg Court -- the trial Court was

permitted to do whatever he wanted with the
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receivership because the bond was never posted.
That security was never given to the respondent in
that situation, and the appellate court specifically
held that the Court was not divested of jurisdiction
until the bond is posted.

THE COURT: That could be a matter of two
days.

What's Mira Mesa {[sic] -- what's your
position on this? Do you think I can modify it or
not, Mr. Goria?

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, I break ranks with
Mr. Watts. I agree with Mr. Joseph, and I know the
case he's talking about. The name of it escapes me,
and that is the authority. So I think it's Erikson
(phonetic), but I thihk that that allows the Court
to modify the appointment of the receiver until the
bond is posted.

MR. WATTS: Your Honor, the requirement for
the bond --

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. WATTS: The requirement for the bond is
to stay enforcement of the receivership order.
Simply filing the appeal divests the Court of
jurisdiction over the matters encompassed by the
appeal. If this case had gone to trial and we were
talking about a judgment, that judgment would remain
enforceable until someone posted a bond.

However, as soon as someone files an
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appeal, the trial Court is divested of jurisdiction
over that judgment and can't alter that judgment.
They can vacate it if it's void, but the enforcement
of it is not stayed until the bond is posted. 1It's
the difference between the enforcement of an
existing preliminary injunction or judgment, and
then altering it, which would divest -- it would
interfere with the appellate court's jurisdiction.

The issue is on appeal. And so if
Your Honor were to, say, harrow or enlarge this
receivership order, put additional things in there,
they would regquire subsequent appeals, infinite
appeals, every time the Court would modify it.
That's the point'of the appeilate court grabbing
juriédiction from the trial Court, so that you don't
do things here that interfere with the appeal from
the judgment or order.

MS. LEETHAM: &And I think the case law,
too, is predicated on --

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor --

THE COURT: Shh, shh, shh.

Go ahead.

MS. LEETHAM: 1It's predicated on the Court
having set a bond amount. And as you recall, we
don't have a bond we can -- we can't call up the
bond company and say, "Give us an infinite amount of
money to post."” So I think that's putting the cart

before the horse.
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MR. WATTS: That's one of the reasons that
we were so insistent in previous hearings that the
Court set a bond immediately. And the case that we
had cited, Rondos vs. Superior Court, says upon
application, the Court has to set a bond amount, and
a peremptory writ issued in that case when the Court
didn't do it.

So they're correct that staying the
receivership order requires us to post a bond.
Staying it requires that, but it also‘requires the
Court to set the bond. So that's --

THE COURT: Understood. So what we're
going to do today, we're all going to set bonds.
That's exactly what we're going to do.

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, if I can briefly
respond?

THE COURT: For the reeord, of course.

MR. JOSEPH: Yes, just for the record.

Your Honor, filing an appellate bond has an
automatic stay when you're under the general rules
of 916 -- CCP 916; however, there's a specific carve
out for specific appeals, one of those being an
appeal for the appointment of a receivership. That
puts us into 917.5, which is a completely different
one. It actually states the bond must happen before
the Court is divested of jurisdiction.

THE COURT: Thank you. And I can take care

of that too.
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So in doing my research, in knowing the
history of the case, I —-- Number 1, I'm not going to
make any rulings on the bond -- not making any
rulings modifying the receiver today. We're going
to let the appellate court look at this.

An appeal has been filed. We're going to
set bond amounts. It's my understanding there are
two bond issues. One side of the table wants to
raise the injunctive bond -- I will say that.

That's Mr. Razuki's bond -- from 350,000 to -800,000.

Did I get that right?

MR. WATTS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And then I'll hear argument on
that. Then we're going to find out the appellate
bond on Mr. Malan, Monarch, San Diego United
Holdings, correct?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I'11 answér my own dguestion.

Correct. And then the other issue is the
honprofits. Let me -- a lot of issues. Let's go
slow. The nonprofits are Balboa Avenue Corporation

[sic], Devilish Delights, California Cannabis --
what is it? Whatever. California Cannabis.

MS. LEETHAM: Your Honor, do you want me to
stand or sit or go to the podium?

THE COURT: Relax. No, no. Let me finish
my thoughts --

MS. LEETHAM: Okay.
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THE COURT: -- because there's a lot of
issues here.

MS. LEETHAM: Yeah.

THE COURT: I'm going to set a bond for
everyone. Different amounts, I'll tell you that.
But here's the issue. Would counsel -- listen
carefully -- agree that the order I'm going to make
on the bonds that -- to enforce the -- not the stay,
but to enforce the vacating of my previous order for
the appointment of a receiver that all defendants
must post a bond, not just one?

Did everyone’understand the Court's
question? And then I'll even go more specific if
you want.

MR. WATTS: I understood the question.

THE COURT: Good.

You understood it?

MR. JOSEPH: ers, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Because I want to stipulate --
because here's the Court's concern. I'm going to
set some pretty high bonds. One wondérs, though,
for the nonprofits, what -- if they're really
nonprofits, I may set a much lower bond.

And the issue then for the Court is, well,
what i1if one party says, I'm just going to give some
money to the nonprofit. Gorpost it, and I don't
have to post a million bucks.

Everybody understand the issue? Let's put
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it right out on the table.

MR. JOSEPH: Yes.

THE COURT: So my first question is: Are
we going to have a stipulation, Judge, we're going
to let you do it, that, Judge, everybody must post a
bond to get a vacate of the order?

And if not, that's fine, we'll go through
and I'll start giving everybody one. Everybody
understand? I'll listen to argument on that issue.
Go.

MR. JOSEPH: To ——- our position on that,
Your Honor -- I think our briefing papers and the
way that the parties have dealt with it is we've
always been treating Balboa as one sort of group of
people and then Mira Este as one sort ofvgrdup.

And our specific requests requested a
$9 million bond for thé Balboa entities, which would
be San Diego United, Flip, Balboa Avenue
Cooperative, all of those entities that control that
business. And then for Mira Este, we have a
different bond amount for those entities.

So not to make it even more confusing,

Your Honor, but I don't know if we can do one
where -- for example, looking at Balboa, Balboa
Avenue Cooperative is a nonprofit. TIf you were to
set a low bond for them and the receiver is not
allowed to control Balboa AVenue Cooperative, but

for San Diego United Holdings and Flip, they have a

CAEI 0230




—

o] ~1 o) [63] = W

Ne}

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

i9

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

16
higher bond and that bond can't be posted, we have
that same problem we were having before where we
need these entities to work in concert with each
other. 8So it's either all of them -~ the
receivership is stayed for all of them or it's
stayed for none of them.

THE COURT: So can I take by what you said,
Judge, we agree to stipulate that everybody must
file a bond before the stay or the vacation -- it's
not a stay -- the vacating of that order would go
into effect? Did I understand that right?

MR. JOSEPH: We would say it's not everyone
in terms of all defendants. It's just-everyone at
Balboa and then everyone at Mira Este. They all
are —-- they all have to be under the same bond fpr
all ﬁhose entities. So --

THE COURT: Okay. You lost me on that, but
I'll come back. |

MR. JOSEPH: If I can just -- a little bit
more. Essentially, treat them all as one entity.

MS. LEETHAM: You can't do it that way,
Your Honor, because they have different appellate
rights. So ouf argument has always been that
California -- California Cannabis is not mentioned
in a single cause of action in the complaint,
similar to Devilish Delights.

So the appeal rights are going to run

differently to different entities. So to lump them
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in as one when they're not and for purposes of trial
and litigation they're going to be treated as
separate and distinct parties, you can't say they
all have to do the same thing.

And they have different financials and they
have different circumstances. So the Court would
need to set -- I understand what you're saying, and

I think the Court would need to set a bond for each

entity.

THE COURT: I think —-- well, I was --
there's two ways to go, and I sense —-- I need a
stipulation from everybody. I sense that's not

forthcoming, so I'm going to set a bond for each and
everybody.

But let's realize what this is limited to.
It is not trial. What I -- what the bond is going
to be set upon is if there were damages that a party

would sustain because of the reasoning of staying

the enforcement of the receiver -- of the receiver.
That's what we're talk -- we're not talking about
trial yet.

- I appointed the receiver. If that's wrong

and the appellate court says that's Wwrong, there
could be damages for the -- that would be the
appellant. But if I am right, there would be
damages for the respondent. And I think we all
agree on that. That's the law, right? It is.

All right. So let's start wbrking on the
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bonds. Everybody agree?

MR. WATTS: That that's what we're going to
do? Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Let's do them in --
first of all, do you want to do the injunctive bonds
first? That's to raise Razuki bond to 800-, right?

MR. WATTS: Sure.

THE COURT: It is. Sometimes I answer my
own gquestion. I do fhat a lot. All right. Let's
do some work. Here we go.

It's on this side of the table.

MR. WATTS: Your Honor, they have made --
this receivership -- it is clear that the amount of
money that it's costing is costing the businesses
their livelihood. They can't stay open. They can't
buy product. The receivership is an unbearable
expense. The costs of it every month are
25 percent, roughly, of the revenues that are coming
in, and already we can see how much it's cost just
in attorney's fees alone.

We've come in here every other week because
of the receivership. BAll of these companies are
paying for that. So the démages already exceed the
$350,000., Their firm has a motion to withdraw as
counsel because of the fees and the increased costs.
So the damages of having the receiver in there
are —-- have already exceeded $350,000.

The $800,000 figure is what would -- if the
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receivership were vacated immediately, that might be
enough to pay off some of the taxes and things.
Tammy can talk more about that.

MS. LEETHAM: Right. So what we're looking
at is the current liabilities that primarily
San Diego United Holdings Group is carrying, which
is going to be the state excise taxes and the
mortgages and the insurance and all of those things
that we haven't been able to pay that we attribute
to the receivership.

And so I don't know if the Court is aware
that the Montgomery Field attorney filed a motion to
revoke the use areas, and I got served with it today
and that's going to be heard in January. And that's
attributable to the fact there's no money to pay the
terms of that settlement agreement. So what we're
looking at is a complete loss of our business. And
the 800,000 does not compensate us for that, but it
gets at least a debt threshold.

Does that make sense?

MR. WATTS: And a couple of specific
numbers. The receiver filed an application. We --
I don't think we ever got a ruling on it, but he
wanted to take out a $600,000 loan for immediate
expenses.

THE COURT: Jh~huh.

MR. WATTS: Six hundred thousand dollars.

I don't know if that also encompassed the hundred --
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roughly $175,000 in tax liabilities, and that was
SoCal's responsibility to pay earlier this year.
You just put those together and you're at 775-.

That's —-- and the receiver will tell you
that these businesses need an immediate cash
infusion. We hope that you would vacate the
receivership today. And if it's void, then we can
make a claim on the bond.

THE COURT: It's up on appeal.

MR. WATTS: If -— but if you don't, then
we --

THE. COURT: I can make that decision. I'm
not vacating it.

MR. WATTS: Understood, understood. it -—-

the bond needs to be increased. The damages are
increasing. I think that's clear from all the
figures.

THE COURT: And your suggestion is 800-7

MR. WATTS: It's my —-- our suggestion was
to raise it by 800-, that he should post an
additional 800,000.

THE COURT: One point -- one point --
$150,0007

MR. WATTS: Yeah.

MS. LEETHAM: But if I can tack onto that,
I think that's the bare minimum and --

THE COURT: Keep going.

MS. LEETHAM: What we're not taking into
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account is the intangiblesbdf the CUP, and
Ms. Austin has talked about it. And the plaintiff
in intervention and the plaintiff in their papers
have talked about this overriding value that those
properties have that is exclusively attributable to
the conditional use permit.

And so what our figures are talking about
are the hard costs, right? But they're not talking
about the intangibles. So 15, 16 million has been
thrown out there on this side, right? Five, 6
million, we have -- you know, we have an option that
SoCal wants for 3 million.

So, I mean, the Court can set it to
10 million, and I think it would capture what the
loss would be, to be quite honest with you. But,
you know, the bare minimum here would be at least
800,000 additional.

THE COURT: Okay.

"MR. GORIA: Your Honor, may I -- before we
leave this side of the table, may I have a few words
on that?

THE COURT: And then, Counsel, who are you
again?

MR. GALUPPO: Lou Galuppo.

THE COURT: No, I know. You're =--

MR. GALUPPO: I'm with Malan.

MR. WATTS: My boss also.

THE COURT: Thank you.
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Go.

MR. GORIA: In terms of Mira Este, we have
presented a veritable avalanche of evidence that the
producers and manufacturers just won't go in. They
don't want to work under a receivership. So the
receivership is directly causing the loss of income
at Mira Este.

We're —-- based on what SoCal was paying as
a minimum, they were paying a minimum of $110,000
while they were there, while they were managing, as
against gross profits. So if you use the 110,000 as
to what the value of that Mira Este facility is if
it were operating at all on a —-- on %hé basis that
it was designed to operate, they're losing 80,000 a
month. |

Théy're only getting 30,000 in, because the
one and only producer that they were able to attract

was attracted during the brief interim when there

was no receiver. So we're losing -- and he's
still -- that producer is EdiPure and he's still
there, but -- and they're paying 30,000 a month, as

opposed to 110-, which is a very minimum amount --
minimum level of income that that facility should be
generating. So we think that we're losing 80,000 a
month in income just because of the existence of the
receivership.

And if I might just inquire briefly, we

filed an ex parte application to have the receiver
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removed from Mira Este back on October 25th. Is --
do I understand the Court to say that that's not
going to be decided today?

THE COURT: Correct.

MR. GORIA: And is that in connection with
the appeal issue?

THE COURT: It is.

MR. GORIA: Okay. Well, again, as I
indicated earlier, I think that the Court does have
jurisdiction to rule on that. But if the Court's
decided not to, then it's not going to. So ==

THE COURT: At least my understanding of
the law. Real quick; so what's your number are you
suggesting for Mr. Razuki?

MR. GORIA: Well, if the receiver is going
to stay in there for the balance of this
litigation —--

THE COURT: We'll see what the appellate
court says.

MR. GORIA: A minimum of six months. I
mean, we're looking at an additional 500,000.

Six months, 80,000. An additional 500,000 on top of
Mr. Watts' suggested, so at least an increase of
1.3 million.

THE COURT: So total 1.3 million?

MR. GORIA: No. Total 1.67 —--

MR. WATTS: Six five.

MR. GORIA: Yeah, six five.

CAEI 0238




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

24

THE COURT: Thank you.

Anyone else? I think we've covered that
side.

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, we've —-- I don't
want to repeaﬁ what we had in our argument at the
last hearing.

THE COURT: Please don't.

MR. JOSEPH: But as we have stated before,
this is not an issue —-- speaking of the receivership
on —— 350- is sufficient, because that's been
posted. The reason these businesses are failing is
not because of the receiver. It's because of
management..

Last year -- last —-- two weeks ago --
sorry -- we provided you the examples of when SoCal
was in had $133,000 more in sales at Balboa alone.
When SoCal was in at Mira Este, they were
guaranteeing that and getting that $110,000 until
there was a contract dispute with these -- between
SoCal and the defendants on this side of the table.

The receiver inherited a loss of SoCal and
then all of these new managers coming in.

Mr. Essary has said that he does not believe that
their management is up to par of what it should be.
In fact, just as we mentioned at the last hearing,
the receiver was unaware of Balboa shutting its
doors until five hours before they did so. Even

though the fact that they apparently had been losing
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business, they didn't tell him. I.ike, how can the
receiver operate these businesses?

Like, Your Honor, I know you've said that
you are not going fo modify the receiver« but I do
need to ask what are we doing going forward? because

the order that we have that Mr. Essary is stuck with

requires using Far West, who has gone. It requires
using Synergy, which we're asking ~- still is gone
and is one of the problems here. It requires using

Justus Henkes, which is another issue that
Mr. Essary has said is a problem.

And I don't understand. I'm hoping that we
can at least modify and at least get the discretion
to have a new management or we can -- or something
like that, but‘we have always stated from the very

beginning the receiver is not the reason for these

 business failings.

In fact, the receivership costs -- he's
sending them a big bill every month, largely because
of the issues that we're having with the feceiver,
who is not able to properly run these businesses,
beCause he's not -- Mr. Essary 1s not really acting
as a receiver. He's simply acting as a supervising
accountant.

He's not managing the business. He's not
telling -- he's not making business decisions for
the businesses or anything. He doesn't even have

the power to hire new managers to come in or, you
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know, make those decisions. He is just simply there
saying, This invoice is good to go. This invoice is
good to go. This is what you can do with my
money == sorry =-- not "my money," but the business's
money. And with that, he is simply out of the loop.
He has no idea why these businesses are failing, as
we've seen with Balboa.

And going to Mira Este and what's happening
at Mira Este, well, Your Honor, EdiPure is in there
at $30,000 a month. As we have seen, the Cream of
the Crop, the other tenant that is trying to come
in, they're currently working'with the receiver. It
may not be the most profitable deal, because
apparently before the receiver, they were willing to
do 50- and now they're doing 30-.

I'm not aware of what's cgoing on with the
hegotiations. All I know is that there are finally
negotiations with the receiver for new tenants. And
at the last hearing, we learned that Synergy is
going to be prodﬁcing out of this facility and, you
know, generating ﬁrofit for the Mira Este facility.

So the question about -- the receiver is
not destroying these businésses. It is the
businesses that are destroying themselves because of
poor management. And this 1s why ever since
October 25th, when we filed ex parte, we have said
the receiver needs operational control, not just

supervisory control.

CAEI 0241




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

27

And there's no reason why Mr. Razuki should
have the punishment for their mismanagement. That
is essentially what they're doing. If he's required
to raise his bond from 350- to 800-, he's
essentially paying for their mismanagement and their
causing the businesses to fail.

In terms of -- again, in terms of expenses,
it's important to note the receiver might be sending
a bill, but Mr. Brinig, Mr. Griswold, the receiver's
counsel, and the receiver themselves are not getting
paid.

THE COURT: I know that.

MR. JOSEPH: All of these bills that they
keep talking about -- there's the HOA, the
mortgages —-- all of these are not getting paid
because of their mismanagement. It is not because
the receiver is paying himself first and not paying
anyone else. No one is getting paid..

And the issue that we have also brought up,
Your Honor; is that We need the receiver there to
control what's going on with these businesses,
because we don't trust this management. There's
a lot of distrust between the parties here. We're
talking about a cash business in terms of how these
payments are getting made. It's a cash business.

We need supervision to make sure these businesses
are run properly.

For that reason, we don't believe the bond
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should be 800-, because those damages should never
be attributed to Mr. Essary and the receiver
himself. The $350,000 bond that you have already
imposed is sufficient to cover his costs and the
attorney's fees costs if it is deemed that, you
know, the appellate court deems the receivership is
inappropriate.

THE COURT: Anyone else on that side of the
table?

MR. ELIA: Briefly, Your Honor, if I may.
Your Honor, in terms of the -- why the receiver fees
are what they are, I would request that you ask
Mr. Essary, "Why aré your fees why [sic] they are?"
And I think you'll learn it's because they have gone
out of their way to do everything they can to block
him out of the business‘so that there's no
oversight.

Now, I'm looking at your August 20th
transcript when -- where Your Honor stated, Do your
work and it better be uncumbered.

They ha&e gone out of their wéy to make
sure that the receiver has no access to the
business, and the reason they're doing that is
because it's a cash business and they're lining
their pockets with the money.

MR. WATTS: Objection. Facts not in
evidence.

THE COURT: Sustained.
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MS. LEETHAM: Your Honor, if I might --

THE COURT: No, no; no, no.

MS; LEETHAM: No?

THE COURT: Their side of the table.

MS. LEETHAM: Okay.

MR. ELIA: Your Honor, I also wanted to add
a couple more things. At the last hearing, SoCal
represented that they would insert another
$1 million into the operations of Balboa.
Mr. Razuki said that he would take care of the
$132,000 payment for the use variance with the HOA,
and he's still willing to do that.

And one thing I wanted to address about

Mira Este, counsel -- Mr. Goria said that these
people don't want to work with the receiver. And
what was -- what I heard yesterday -- two weeks ago

at the November 30th hearing is Your Honor asked the
agent for Cream of the Crop,r"Do you want to come
in?" And he said, "On the advice of counsel, I'm
not going to do it."

And that's very telling. And what they're
doing is their lawyers are telling them, "Don't work
for the receiver because we want the receiver out."
It's not that they don't want to work with them.
It's that they'ré telling - their attorneys are
coaching them, telling them, "Don't do it because
we'll now get the receiver out so there's no

oversight."
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MR. WATTS: Objection. Facts not in
evidence.

THE COURT: Sustained. Stricken from the
record.

All right. Anyone else? Thank you.

I may get to you, Mr. Brinig.

MR. BRINIG: 1It's okay if you don't,

Your Honor.

THE COURT: Let's talk about Malan now.
Let's talk about ~— let's see how the arguments go
with Mr. Malan and what his should be, and we'll
start with Plaintiff.

MR. JOSEPH: Sorry, Your Honor. Just to
clarify, you're talking about the bond?

THE COURT: Now we're going to talk
about the -- correct. This would be the appellate
bond.

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, I think it's --
when we're talking about the appellate bond, I think
it's important that we realize we've got to shift
gears here. Most of the time we've been here, we're
talking about a receivership, which is irreparable
injury, likelihood of success, and whatnot.

The Court, by already drdering the
receiver, has found a likelihood of success in favor
of Mr. Razuki. And this is no longer an issue about
irreparable harm. It's a question of damages and

the order is stayed.
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So therefore,rthe sort of mindset that the
Court should have when setting the bond is to
protect Mr. Razuki's interest, because the Court has
already found that there's a property interest that
should be protected. And we're not -- no longer
talking about irreparable damage. We're simply
talking about damages themselves.

Now, the Court has already mentioned we're
not talking about, you know, end-of-jury-verdict
damages. It's just the damages regarding when the
stay of an order is. Your Honor, we would argue,
though, that because of the evidence that we've
presented to the Court,'there'is evidence already
showing that we should be talking about trial

damages here.

What would happen if the receiver -- if
that entire order is gone? They -- Mr. Malan and
Mr. Hakim can sell these businesses. And we've

already provided evidence with the Far West
Management agreement. It was in part of the
declaration that we submitted with the opposition
papers.

The Far West Management agreement, which
was as soon as the receivership was initially
vacated -- when Judge Strauss vacated the
receivership, they got in =-- Far West in. And in
that agreement, they already tried to say that they

will work out a long-term agreement that would allow
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the manager to purchase an interest in the business.

There's already évidence that they want to
sell these businesses and get out of here. And if
they sell the businesses, now we're talking about
something that my client has an interest in. 2And he
was not -- he won't receive those proceeds until we
get three years after trial or something like that.
So yes, we are talking about the loss of the entire
business when we're talking about what would happen
if the recéivership is stayed. )

Other things that can haprpen: They can
lose the license. These businesses can --

THE COURT: What's a license now? I think
I know the number. What's a 1li -- what's the
marijuana license worth now?

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, in terms of —-- I
admit I don't know the market, but I do know how
much it's valued at Balboa and Mira Este given the
SoCal management agreement.

THE COURT: How much is that?

MR. JOSEPH: According to the management
agreement, SoCal is going to'purchase a 50 percent
interest in Balboa for $3 million, meaning that the
entire facility —-- that business is worth 6 millioh.
At Mira Este, the SoCal agreemént said that they
were going to purchase a 50 percent interest for
$5 million, meaning that's a $10 million business

over there at Mira Este.
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THE COURT:  Who's SoCal?

MS. CARDER: I am, - Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is that right?

MS. CARDER: And I cannot confirm or deny.
I apologize.

THE COURT: Good answer by an attorney.

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor --

THE COURT: So 10 million, right --

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor --

THE COURT: -- for Mira Este?

MR. JOSEPH: Ten million for Mira Este;

6 million for the 8861/8863, which is the dispensary
at Balboa. There 1is ahother facility at Balboa as
well, Your Hoﬁor, the 8859 facility. That's the
manufacturingvfacility at Balboa, the five units. I
would defer to the other side in -- regarding the
status of that licensing and what's going on with
that operation.

But given the fact that the dispensary is
worth $6 million and there éeems to be no issues
with that license, we would argue that the five
units at Balboa, which are séparate facilities,
should also be valued at $6 million, again, going
off the management agreements that SoCal, Mr. Ninus,
and Mr. --— Mr. Ninus Malan and Mr. Hakim entered
into.

Your Honor, we prbvided a copy of those

management agreements in the declaration that we
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supplied with our opposition. It 1s page 10 of the
Balboa agreement, and it is page 10 of the Mira Este
agreement. That outlines the options that they were
willing to buy these businesses for.

So, Your Honor, in terms of -- if these
businesses lose their licenses,kthey're just
industrial buildings. There's no value to them.

The value is that there's a license here and that
they're producing and actually bringing in customers
or manufacturing marijuana product.

In terms of other things that could happen,

these businesses -- we could lose these businesses.
In fact, in court tdday -- we did not mention on the
record -- is Mr. Joé Salas. He is one of the
lenders who owns -- or not owns, bﬁt he owns the

note on the Balboa buildings, both the 8861, 8863,
the diépensary at Balboa, and he bwns the note and
was lending on the manufacturing facility at Balboa,
88 -- 8859.

Those mortgéges are in default right now.
And unless we have some other one‘—— some new
management that's able to bring these businesses up
and have them be profitable like they were in the
beginning part of this year when SoCal was there and
they were raking in $288,000 a month in sales, these
businesses risk é foréclosure, which means, again,
the businesses are gone; The prbperty is gone.

And this is not something that is a risk

CAEI 0249




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

35
that is going to happen three years down the line.
They're in default right now. And we -- without
further control, we have no idea when they're going
to finally be defaulted and take that property away.
And this is one of the other threats to the
businesses, which is why we need to start talking
about trial damages at this stage of the litigation.

Finally, Your Honor, the -- we are talking
about pure cash businesses. We have not been
bringing up the issue that it's a cash business
because when we're talking about a receiver, we need
to prove irrepafable injury. Real property is ‘the
issue here.

When we're talking about the démages here
when the receiver is not there, we have no
accounting over these businesses and they're pure
cash. Right now we've had some accounting on it
because Mr. Essary was able to bring in Mr. Brinig
and Ms. -- and Marilyn Weber, and we were able to
get these daily cash reports.

No more oversight,‘no'more accountability,
no more accounting when the receiver is gone. We
have nobody there, and the defendants have pure
control over a pure cash business during the next
year, maybe two years, of litigation. There is no
way we're ever going to have an accurate accounting
without the receiver there, and that is damages that

the Court should consider.
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And that is why, Your Honor -- I'm not
positive on what we said along -- in terms of the
bonds amounts themselves. But the way we calculated

our bond amount is for the Balboa facilities,
there's the dispensary and a manufacturing facility.
We're valuing both of those at $6 million given the
management agreements.

By the way, it should be noted that
according to prior papers, when Defendants asked to
set the receivership out against Mr. Razuki, they
actually used these calculations, and they said
Mr. Razuki's receivership bond should be 16 million
because Balboa was 6 and Mira Este was 10. They
argued this on page 10 of Mr. Malan's papers. This
was a pleading submitted on September 4th.

.And Mr. Hakim, his papers also argued
this -- I apologize, Your Honor. One moment -- on
page 13 of his pleadings that were submitted before,
when we initially set -—- before the September 7th
hearing when we were setting the bond for the
receivership in the first place.‘ They actually used
these same evaluations of the businesses.

The difference is that bond -- Mr. Razuki's
bond is talking about receivership damages. What
damages would Mr. Essary cause to the businesses if
he's thére? Three fifty was appropriate given that
he i1s there to save the businesses.

Here we're talking about trial damages,
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because with no order, they can sell them. There's
no oversight to make sure bad management cannot --
bad management will almost surely continue.
Bankruptcy is a possibility. The lack of -- no
accountability for a cash business. We're actually
talking about trial damages here.

So the way that we get to our numbers is we
take 6 plus 6 at Balboa, 75 percent of that, that
gets to a $9 million bond for the Balboa facilities.
At Mira Este, because we have a 37.5 percent
interest in Mira Este, that gets to our
$3.75 million bond.

THE COURT: So for Mr. Malan, the bond
should be 12,750,000, correct?

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, it's actually -- I
believe we said 9 million, because we écknowledge we
only have a 75 percent interest in those. I'm
sorry. Maybe I'm not understanding your math.

THE COURT: What's your total bond?

MR. JOSEPH: Total bond, I guess -- yes.
Yes, Your Honor,vl2,000 -- 12,750,000. Yes. Sorry.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, just to address
their arguments as well that they bring up, and I'1l1
start with the nonprofits. Case law is very, very
clear on this. The nonprofits are not eligible for
indigent person status.

The case that we cited is the Williams case

CAEI 0252




10

11

12

13

14

15

i6

17

i8

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

38
that directly on point says that we are holding that
they are not qualified for indigent person statuses
because they're a corporation. The Williams case
says this is analogous to federal court law on this
issue, and wé are now making that law here. That is
a binding precedent for the Court.

And second, most importantly, they have not
made a showing of an inability to pay the bond.

Just because they don't make money on a daily basis
does not mean that they are poor. If that were the
case, Uber would be a poor company because they lose
$20 million a day. That's a billion-dollar
corporation here. The question is: Do they have
the assets to put up for a bond? Can they secure a
loan? None of that work has ever beeﬁ done.

And with respect to -- they claim that they
can't go ask for a bond beforehand and then -- you
know, they can't ask for a bond of infinity dollars
or anything. What they can do is they can go to a
bond company and say, "Here are our assets. Here's
our income. Here's all the business financials.
What's the highest bond you'll give me?"

In fact, Mr. Razuki did do that before the
September 7th hearing, which is when we were —-- did
not know what the bond amount was, but we wanted to
make sure we could post it. And we did try and we
did get a bond company to give us, "This is the most

we will give you."
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Nothing like that has been done by the
defendants, Your Honor. We have no idea what their
financials are, which is ironic given the
receivership and the accounting that's been done.
But they have never made that showing, and that is a
necessary element for that.

The declaration that they merely went out
and could not get a bond amount before the Court's
order, it does not matter. They could have gone and
said, "What's the highest you will give me?" And
then they could have come back to the Court and
said, "We have a bond company that said they'll only
give us $20,000." That could have been evidence.
They don't have that evidence whatsoever.

The rest of their argumente, Your Honor,
with respect to the bond and everything are mostly
going to -- again, to the merits of the case. I do
not believe the Court really wants to hear our
arguments regarding the legitimacy of the settlement
agreements. If the Court does have gquestions on
that, we can address them.

But they do sort of do a slight motion for
reconsideration on the merits of the case and the
bond by arguing that the settlemert agreement isn't
void and all of that. Considering the Court has
already found -- what the Court has already ordered,
I think we're fine on that.

THE COURT: So in sum, you're suggesting
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what? For Mr. Malan, 12,750-. For the nonprofits?
MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, I'1l1l -- sorry,.
Your Honor. I did not address that issue.

Your Honor, we would say that the nonprofits also
need to be at a substantially high bond, around that
amount. Again, it's --

THE COURT: Around 12 million?

MR. JOSEPH: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I forgot. What number did you

say?

MR. JOSEPH: 12,750,000.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. JOSEPH: It should be -- if anything,
it should be the same amount. Your Honor, there's a

potential that we could have an absurd situation
where one of —-- the state license holder is not
under control of the receiver when he is still
running and supervising these businesses, but SD
United is still undexr the receivership and he's
still supposed to be running those businesses.

I mean, that would -- again, we've
addressed this numerousvtimes before the Court
already. The nonprofits are named in our first
amended complaint. They are defendants, named
defendants, and we have causes of action against
them, but that's just what the first amended
complaint does. So therefore, they are parties to

this case.
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And the Court has always recognized that

these entities need to work in concert. They're
either all in or they're all out. It does not make
sense to give the nonprofit -- if we're going to

give Mr. Malan a $12.75 million bond and then his
nonprofit a $20,000 bond, for example, you'll have a
nonprofit, which is the agent -- which is the entity
that is collecting and actually selling and buying
and purchasing marijuana, with no oversight.

In terms of what we've already seen from
the accounting, from what we're gEtting f?om
Mr. Henkes, if he's stili going to be the accountant
on this case, he only does the accounting for Balboa
Avenue's loéses and their money flow and all their
cash flow.

So we would have an absurd situation where
the actual license —-- the state license holder is
not under control, but Mr. Esséry is still under a
duty to supervise and protect these busineéses, even
though he can't even control the license.

So for that issue; yes, one, the nonprofit
is not entitled to any indigent status by law, first
off. And then second, givén the value of the
businesses, they should have the exact same bond.

THE COURT: Okay. Anybody else?

MR. ELIA: Just briefly, Your Honor, if I
just may add ﬁo the argument.

THE COURT: Sure.
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MR. ELIA: I'll make it real short, Your
Honor. Your Honor, I Jjust want to talk about some
of the liability and exposure of trial from SoCal.
Now, we know Mr. Brinig traced at least $2 million
that SoCal put in. SoCal alleges in their
declarations that they put in 2.7 million, so
there's another $700,000 that they say they put in
in cash, which Mr. Brinig could not verify.

However, a jury might believe them. So it could be
2.7 million.

They were ousted from the business.

There's going to be some lost profits that could be
awarded. There are certainly some attorney's fees
that could be awarded and'costsAunder the terms of
the agreemént. We're looking at a potential 3 or
$4 million exposure just based on SoCal's damages
alone, and that affects thelpartnership.

That's why we're -— we've been fighting so
hard to get SoCal back ‘in, becauée it would mitigate
our —-- we realize that we have to deal with them.
They pﬁt.in millions of dollars. They're just not
going to go away. We've been saying that from day
one.

So who's going to pay for this liability?
It affects the partnership. Mr. Malan can't pay his
own lawyers. He's got a pending motion before this
court from his attorneys, from Ms. Leetham and

Ms. Austin's office, to be relieved because he's not
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paying their attorneys.

So there is some real exposure here just
from SoCal alone, and I'd like Your Honor to
conider that in the amount of the bond.

And let's remember the reason they were
ousted from the business is because Mr. Malan and
Mr. Hakim Photoshopped a $250,000 invoice and sent
it to SoCal for payment for services that were never
ever rendered. And that's undisputed, Your Honor.

THE COURT: SoCal, do you want to say
anything?

'MS. CARDER: I would just like to say for

the record, Your Honor, that it is my understanding
that Mr. Brinig's iﬁdeﬁendent report values monies
put in at over about 5 million and a half,
5 million 6. So there's no way -- although our
papers agree that the bond should be set higher,
there's no way‘the bond. should be set‘léss than
that.

THE COURT: And when you say 3 million;'is
that total? I mean, are you inéluding all -- who
are you including in that?

MS. CARDER: That there's been a net
contribution of approximatelyr3.5 million by Razuki
and 2.1 million by SoCal, and that there's been no
showing on behalf of any defendant of indigency or
an excuse for not having to post the bond.

THE COURT: Thank you. Anybody else?

CAEI 0258




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24
25
26
27

28

44

Shall we go to this side of the table.

MR. WATTS: Your Honor, a year ago, the
MoviePass corporation share price was $2,750 a
share. Today, it's worth 1.2 cents. So the people
that bought it last year valued that company at an
astronomically higher sum than the people do today.

Ten months ago, SoCal was convinced to sign
three management agreements under which they would
buy an option in these properties and these
businesses for, you know, a couple of million
dollars. They had ten months to -- or several
months to buy those optibns. So they didn't have
those optidns straight up. They had the ability to-
buy them for 75,000 here or 35,000 here, something
like that.

They didn't buy the one for Mira Este or
Roselle. They didn't even buy it. Thirty-five to
50,000, something like that, was the option price
just to buy the option. They didn't buy it. So
that -- those businesses were not worth that much.
Otherwise, my God, $50,000 for the option to get
50 percent of this multimillion-dollar enterprise?
You'd think they would have acted on that.

The Balboa option, the one they did buy for
75,000, they never exercised. They never exercised
it. They let it expire. They let all three of
these options éxpire before they even filed this

lawsuit.
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So first of all, that contract is not an
appraisal of how much the businesses are worth
today. It's not even an appraisal of how much they
were worth a year ago. It's the amount of money
that Ninus or whoever negotiated with SoCal
convinced them to put in the contract, but neither
party acted on it.

"As to the bond amount, we believe
Defendants' request to increase the bond to
6 million is really, really ridiculous." That is
from counsel for Salam Razuki on September 7th,
2008. |

‘Why? Well,ion the next page, they said
that We'ﬁe.consistently arguedrthat theboptions have
expired; so I don't know why the bond would be based
on the options themselves. Again, that's from
Mr. Razuki's counsel.

There is no evidence that the absence of a
receiver would cause damages to Mr. Razuki.
Remember what his claims are. He claims a
75 peréent interest in the losses of RM Property
Holdings. He claims that these marijuana
dispensaries, part of them should be in RM Property
Holdings, and then he gets three-fourths of the
losses of that business. He's entitled to losses.

These businesses are losing money. There's
no doubt about that. So if he wins this litigatien,

if he can specifically perform that contract, he
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would end up with a loss. If these businesses go

under and he's not responsible for that loss, that's

a boon to him. That's a benefit. He doesn't stand
to make tens of millions of dollars. He stands to
lose money if he becomes responsible. He hasn't
been paying their bills now. But if he does, he's

going to be out a lot of money.

There was a quote from Mr. Elia, "Mr. Malan
has not put in one red cent. That’is a fairy tale,
Your Honor." That is from the transcript of the
September 27th hearing. "Not one red cent. That is
a fairy tale, Your Honor." Mr. Razuki filed a
declaration saying that exact same thing.

| | The forensic accounting report, which
again, 1s hearsay and the Court should not consider,
but the Court does - it says in there that
Mr. Malan has now put in over 1 1/2 million. And
that's just a swing in the last couple of weeks,
again, based on documents that were provided to
Mr. Brinig.

That's not accounting for his labor.

That's not accounting for the time that he spent
doing that to the exclusion of other businesses.
It'é.not accounting for the times he had to go
testify for the CUP hearings.

But remember that, "Mr. Malan has not put
in one red cent." That is the basis for the

receivership and it has been since the July 17th
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hearing. Those exact words appear in Mr. Razuki's
declaration and they came out of Mr. Elia's mouth
multiple times throughout this litigation.

That is not a true statement. The forensic
accounting and everything shows he put in a lot more
than one red cent. He's the one that stands to lose
if these businesses go under because they're his
businesses.

In the forensic accounting report,
$1.57 million is credited to Mr. Razuki for the sale
of Balboa to Mr. Malan. That's an indebtedness

based on Mr;bRézuki‘purportedly selling the entire

business to Mr. Malan. That shouldn't be a credit
to him. That should be evidence that our client
owns it.

And so if the businesses go under} it's not
Mr. Razuki that's suffering:damages. It's our
client. It's not SoCal. They never bought the
options. They don't have the right to buy any part

of it. 1It's our client that is going to get the

damages.

The reason that -- back in the beginning,
why -- why was the receiver appointed? They said it
was —-- 1 forget What they said, but it wasn't the

reason that they gave on July 17th. On July l7th,
page 3 of the transcript, they said, SoCal has
already paid millions of dollars and her client has

granted options under this agreement. They paid
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$225,000 for these options to purchase half of these
operations.

" That's what Mr. Elia said to Judge Medel,
that SoCal paid $225,000 for these options to
purchase half of the operations of the ﬁarijuana
dispensaries. That is not a true statement,

Your Honor. It wasn't then and it isn't now, but
that's why the receiver was put in.

If the receiver is not there anymore, the
businesses can run again. If the receiver is not
there anymore, they can have a chance to get back on
their feet and bring in other operators. Tammy can
talk more about the specifics of the accounting.

But I have one comment about that case that
he's citing that Says‘that you can't find indigency.
That's not what that casersays. That case says
regarding FreedomCard, a corporate entity, it's well
settled that é corporation 1is not a perSOn for the
purposes of establishing indigency‘at least in the
analogous‘context of obtaining in forma pauperis
status to diépense with federal requirements as to
filing fees, costs, and éécurity. ‘That case does
not hold what they said it holds.

THE COURT: Cite that case.

MR. WATTS: That case is Williams vs.
Freedomcérd, Incorpbrated. It is May 3rd, 2004. I
don't have the cite here, because I Googled it,

but --
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THE COURT: Somebody find it for me.

Go ahead. They'll look it up.

MR. WATTS: And even if -- and that's with
the ability to completely dispense with a bond
requirement. The Court can still reduce the bond
requirement to a nominal amount of 5,000 or $10,000
based on one's ability to pay, also based on the
damages that the other side would incur. So even if
you don't dispense with it entirely =--

Tammy, go ahead.

MS. LEETHAM: 1I'm going to.stand up,

Your Hoeonor.

THE COURT: You may. Hold on.

Counsel, just so you kﬁow'what's been
handedrto'the Court, it's the cité of the Williams
case, which is, for the record, 123 Cal.RApp.4th 609.

Thank you.

Counsel?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, Your Honor. So I have
something that comes to mind with.respect to the
$12 million bond request to Mr. Malan that what's
good for the goose is good for the génder. And if
we're saying Mr. Malan is supposed to pay
$12 million by a virtue of a 25 pefcent ownership,
the corollary to that is Mr. Razuki then must pay
$36 million. I think the --

THE COURT: So 36 and 127

MS. LEETHAM: Correct, if you're following
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that logic.

THE COURT: All right.

MS. LEETHAM: You know, Mr. Razuki's bond
is always going to be three times higher than my
client's bond because, according to their theory of
liability, they own the same things in a
disproportionate share. So it ohly makes sense from
an equity perspective.

So their theory of liability is RM Property
Holdings owns the real -- the holding companies that
own the real estate, right, and that 75 percent of
that holding company is Mr. Razuki's and 25 percent
is Mr. Malan's. And so you would argue that the
losses and the gains should be split that way, so
36 million sounds pretty good..

I‘mrnot even quite sure where to start. We
wentrall over the place. So I guess where I'll
start first is Ninus Malan. .

THE COURTg So should I follow that logic
all the way thfough, Céunsél? No matter what I set
Razuki's bond at, just take a third and make it for
Malan?

MS. LEETHAM: No, Your Honor, because the
parties' relationships are all different. So you
have to remember that Razuki>and Malan individually
are parties to the Operating agreement and the RM
Property Holdings.

And I'm not conceding we agree with it, but
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just following the logic makes sense, if that's what
the Court is thinking about, that if you're going to
look at that operating agreement and evaluate the
claims, then you look at what's in that operating
agreement, and that would be San Diegd United.

So I guess what I'm trying to do is carve
out Ninus right now, because the Court --

THE COURT: Yeah, because we're going to
get to the rest oﬁe at a time too.

MS. LEETHAM: Correct.

THE COURT: So let's just talk about
Mr. Malan.

MS. LEETHAM: So Mr. Malan -- so just from
a pure equitybperspective on‘splité, okay, so the
Court says 12 million. I would ask the Court to
triple whatever he sets for Mr. Malan for
Mr. Razuki. And the one thing we haven't
mentioned is --

THE COURT: S0 if I set Malan at 2 million,
then Razuki should be 6 million?

MS. LEETHAM: Six million, absolutely.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LEETHAM: So with respect to my client,
Mr. Malan; as the Court is well aware, he hasn't
received a dime since August, like so many in this
courtroom. There's no money to fund, and he hasn't
been paid.

And, you know, there's no money. So if
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you're looking at this from a purely equitable
perspective, how do you ask my client to pay
$12 million when he doesn't have a dime to his name?

I'm sorry. I'm not trying to embarrass
you, but it's true.

On the other side, we look at this equity,
and we have -- we have a glaring hole in the Court's
information on Sunrise. And Sunrise produces income
and Sunrise provides Razuki income, and we know
nothing about it and we know he continues to have
it.

And so when you look at the inequity of
that; that he.continues to have resources and he
continues to have income and he is not restrained by
any of this, and yet he‘s requiréd to share in the
losses, it is fuhdamentally unfalir to impose upon my
client a multimillion-dollar bond when I don't even
know 1f he can buy gas.

So settihg aside thebmerits and looking at
the equities, even if the Court were to set it, he
can't pay it and he can't pay it because of this
iitigation.

THE COURT: So in the last six months, how
much money has your client taken out? Nothing.

MS. LEETHAM: Well, I want to talk about
that, yeah.

THE COURT: >Weil, I just want -- can you

answer that question? Nothing.
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MS. LEETHAM: So therlast six months would
be —- I believe the last time he received anything
was July, and what he -- and what he's receiving,
which I'm going to go to, is money from SoCal that
he then used to pay the dispensary operation. So
now we're going to get into the insolvency.

For whatever reason, Far West has become
the scapegoat. I'm not entirely sure why, but --

THE COURT: Let me -- let me interrupt.

Mr. Brinig, I want to know how much money
Mr. Malan has pulled out in the last seven, eight
months. |

MR. BRINIG: Let me look, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You can do that while she's --

Counsel, procéed.

MS. LEETHAM: Thank you, Your Honor. I
lost my train of thought.

THE COURT: You were talking about Sunrise.

MS. LEETHAM: SunriSe; SoCal. OCkay. So,
you know, we continue to throw Far West under the
bus. Ana again, I'm not ent;;ely sure why, because
let's look at it. "From the receivership, going
forward, the businesses failed. And I've stood up
here over and over again and I've told Your Honor
it's going to happen. We're going to lose them.
And then at the last héaring, I said, No, they're
not worth saving, because the debt is so

significant. And I still question that.
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So when you look at the receivership -- and
it's a little bit awkward to talk about this because
I'm actually not casting personal aspersions at
Mr. Essary. But when he has a big bill for taking
on a supervisory role, it causes cne to wonder what
exactly he has been doing, because the Court's order
actually gives him full operational control. And
they blame my client and they blame Far West, and
they couldn't do anything without permission.

Mr. Essary received daily financials from
Far West. He was given the spreadsheets. He was
given review.v Nobody has communicated witthar West
in any way they were deficient. I have declarations
we filed prior to the last hearing from Adam Knopf
and Heidi Rising where they talk about never being
contacted, and they would have been more than
willing to give anybody information. They haven't
been paid.

The other thing that Ms. Austin can
probably talk a little bit more about is the
track-and-trace system that the State of California
imposes upon cannabis sales. So when the plaintiff
says that they're a cash-only business and we have
no idea what they're doing, it's actually not true.

THE COURT: So may I interrupt for a
seéond?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes, absolutely.

THE COURT: So is your analysis going to be

CAEI 0269




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

55
that these businesses are going to go down the
drain, Judge, so therefore, the bond should be set
at 10,0002 1Is that your analysis?

MS. LEETHAM: For the most part, but it
varies a little bit based on the entity or the
person. So it's not the same, but essentially yes,
the equity.

THE COURT: How much for Malan?

MS. LEETHAM: For Malan, I would say
something nominal, 5- or 10,000. He has no
resources. He has nothing.

THE COURT: San Diego United Holdings?

MS. LEETHAM: So let me talk about that
quickly. Oh; and one thing I want to highlight,
Mr. Brinig's amended report --

THE COURT: I read it.

MS. LEETHAM: Right. And so if the Court
read it, what you'll see is the Balboa operations
are in a deficit.

If I'm reading this ihdorrectly,

Mr. Brinig, please tell me.

But they're running a deficit of a million
dollars, and I don't know if this figure takes into
account the excise tax liability and the other
liabilities to the lender and different things. 5o
when you're look at that figufe, that's big.

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MS. LEETHAM: That's big.
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THE COURT: So on San Diego United?

MS. LEETHAM: Well, since -=- so Saﬁ Diego
United -- so I kind of have to talk about what they
each do.

THE COURT: Okay. So do San Diego United,
Flip, Balboa, California, and Devilish.

MS. LEETHAM: Okay.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MS. LEETHAM: San Diego United is a
California limited liability company that owns three
pieces of real property: 8859 Balboa, Suites A
through E; 8861 Balboa, Suite B --

Leyla, are you okay?

THE REPORTER: Yes.

MS. LEETHAM: -—- 8368 Balboa, Suite E.

With respect to 8859 Balboa, Suites A
through E, those are suites, four of which have
tenants. The rent is nominal. It has a conditional
use permit to manufacture marijuana, but there 1is
nothing done to ﬁove that forward. So while it has
a land use entitlement that runs with the land, it's
a building with suites. Thefe‘s no value to it
other than what the tenants pay 1in rent.

8861 and‘8863 Balboa, 8363 has a
conditional use permit and a land use entitlement
that runs with the land. So San Diego United itself
holds the license, and I say that in quotes because,

as —-— you know, as the Court knows, the City of
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San Diego allows cannabis operations by virtue of a
land use process. So this is the entity that would
be impacted by, for example, the.HOA motion to
revoke the use wvariance. It would impact this
entity.

But as the Court also knows from the
financials, this entity has a million dollars in
debt. You know, it has no money of any kind to pay
any kind of a bond, and it's not because anybody was
negligent. Up until the receivership, my client
personally covered these bills.

So when we look at —~ we have all these
éeductive'numbers, right? 200,000 a month, 300,000
a month. SoCal brought all this money in, but what
we've hinted about is that that's the gross. It's
the gross net. Tt's not the "net" net. And so when
we talk about all of this money it was mékihg, it
was not. And my client was coVering'the déficit,
and the minute he stopped, it crumbled.

So he stopped making mortgage payments.
He's defaulted. ‘He stopped making HOA payments.
It's delinquent. They're revoking it. He stopped
making insurance payments.r Insurance is-canceled.
Right? So all of these things that he, as the
business owner, paid for, stopped happening when the
receiver came in.

And again, I'm not attacking Mike. I'm

attacking the imposition the receiver shall -- the
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receivership itself placed on it. 'If Mike didn't
have the resources,; the resources weren't there to
give anybody else. I tﬁink the blame is
attributable -- is being put in the wrong spot. I
don't think anybody who manaéed that dispensary
would have enough money to pay.

So with San Diego United, again, I would
ask for a nominal bond.

THE COURT: You don't think SoCal would
have enough money to pay?

MS. LEETHAM: No. They're the ones that
caused the problem. They léft us with a'$175,000
tax debt.

THE COURT: You sure want to go back in
theré,.don't you, SoCal?

MS. CARDER: Do T what?

THE COURT: Want to go back in to Balboa,

right?

MS. CARDER: If we can purchase it.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. CARDER: But only if we can purchase
it.

THE COURT: So if it's losing business,
they*re going to pay, what, a million? SoCal, a
million? Wasn't it a million?

MS. CARDER: I know we've put in 2.1. I
can't remember.

THE COURT: 2.1 million for this losing
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business? All right.

MS. LEETHAM: Only if they can purchase it,
though, is what she just said. They only want in if
they can purchase it.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. LEETHAM: And obviously, our argument
is that expired.

THE COURT: Well, it's a business and
they're willing to pay 2.1 million fér it.

MS. LEETHAM: I want to correct the record
on that too. We keep talking about SoCal as if it's
an equity, as if it has some kind of an ownership
interest. SoCal had to pay to play.

THE COURT: No, I know. But they're
tellingrme, the Coﬁrt -- representing to the Court
that they'll put 2.1 million on the table to.buy it.
They said that last hearing, Counsel.

MS. LEETHAM: No. They're saying they have
previously put in 2.1 million.

MS. CARDER: My'understanding,

Your Honor -- and again, I‘apologize, because I'm
specially appearing. But my understénding is 2.1
was put in and‘that if SoCal was asked to come back
in and run it, they would only do it if they could
exercise those options to purchase, which I heard
someone say, you know, the option's expired, but it
seems like that happened because this lawsuit

happened.
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THE COURT: Okay. Let's keep going. I got
off track.

.MS. LEETHAM: Which is incorrect. And I'm
going to move through SoCal for a few minutes,
because I actually haven't had the opportgnity to
talk about it, and I think it's very important that
the record is clear that --

THE COURT: And then let's get to the
numbers.

MS. LEETHAM: Yes. The other one will take
less time.

SoCal - I like this phrase because it
makes sense. They had to pay to play. SoCal has no
independent right of its own to operate any medical
or adult use cannabis faciiity for ény reason. They
had to buy the righﬁ. And they bought the right
from my client,'and they Were'bbligated to pay to
have the right to try to make money. And so the
contributions that theY‘re -- are being attributed
are monies they were contractually required to put
in.

And so, for example, if you --

Am I talking too fast?

THE REPORTER: No.

MS. LEETHAM: If you look at the management
services agreement, which has been submitted to the
Court numerbus times, and this is the one for

Balboa, SoCal is required to pay 35,000 per month as
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a minimum guarantee solely for the right to try to
operate. |
So if you do that math, seven months at
35,000, it's $245,000 they had to pay. And it goes
on. 120,000 they had to pay and CUP costs they had
to pay. That adds up to a million right there.

And then the other money they're talking

about contributing -- I went through Mr. Brinig's
source documentation. They were very nice to give
me information. And a lot of that money they paid

themselves, almost all of it. They round-tripped it
right back around to SoCal Building Ventures. They
paid consultants. They paid attorneys. I could go
on and onrand on, but the contribution they claimed
to méke was by contract and they paid themselves.
And they ran out of money, and they couldn't
exercise the opﬁion. And this is where we sit
today.

And'iﬁ the'process of doing that, they got
in debt to the State of the California on the excise
tax. They got in debt to the City. Oh, by the way,
we have an MGO audit fhat is still in process, énd
it appearsbthat we're going to be penalized for
recordkeeping while SoCal was there.

So6 we fired them because they're a bad
manager and you fire bad managers. You hire a
manager to make you money, and you fire a manager

when they don't make you money. And they didn't
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make money and they broke the law, and my client was
tired of paying for it. And now he's broke. So
I'll move on from that.

THE COURT: So how much for -- what should
the bond be for San Diego United Holdings?

MS. LEETHAM: Five thousand dollars.

THE COURT: How much for Flip Management?

MS. LEETHAM: So Flip has no money. It's a
corporation. It was created to manage the
dispensary prior to SoCal. Mr. Essary pfobably
knows how much money is in that account, if any.

But it doesn't do anything. 1It's a

nonoperational -- basically, a dead entity. We
haven't been able to dissolve it or do anything like
that because of the réceivérship.

THE COURT: Eut it's appealing} is it not?

MS. LEETHAM: It is appealing.

THE COURT: So how much, Counsel?

MS. LEETHAM: Well, I would say zero for
all of it. But if we're talking nominal, I would
say 5,000. |

THE COURT: How about for Balboa Avenue
Cooperative?

MS. LEETHAM: Balboa Avenue Cooperative 1is
a statutory cooperative corporation. It is a
member-owned Corporation. It must operate as a
not-for-profit corporation. It is also the entity

that holds the license that the State-uses to allow

CAEI 0277




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

63
Balboa to operate.

Balboa has nothing. It cannot have
anything. It cannot do anything. And because it's
member @wned, I guess on a purely technical level,
the members would have to then contribute to
whatever the Court asked, and anybody who bought
medical cannabis while it was a medical cannabis
state would be a member.

THE COURT: So the amount requested is?

MS. LEETHAM: A thousand.

THE COURT: Thank you. California Cannabis
Group?

| MS. LEETHAM: California Cannabis Group is
a nonprofit, mutual benefit corporation that is
currently suspended with the State of California
because it has not paid taxes because it has no
money to pay taxes. It hasva suspended status.

THE COURT: Yeah. One wonders if it can go
ahead and appeal then.

MS. LEETHAM: I think Mr. Essary is working
on that right now. I think Mr. Goria discovered it.
And actually, everybody is trying to fix it, but
there's no money. And Mr. Brinig's office is
working on the tax returns.

MR. BRINIG: We'll have the tax returns on
Monday.

THE COURT: It's suspended, though, right?

MR. BRINIG: Yes. I understand it is now,
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yes. Filing the tax %eturns on -~ we'll give them
to the receiver and file them.

THE COURT: So I would say that's a
thousand dollars or zero?

MS. LEETHAM: I would say -- for
nonprofit -- not-for-profit entities, I would say
zero, because they can't have anything.

THE COURT: Okay. And that would apply to
Devilish Delights too?

MS. LEETHAM: Correct. That's also a

nonprofit mutual benefit corporation, and that

entity has never done anything. I'm not even sure
why it's named, but it has nothing. It licenses
nothing.

THE COURTﬁ Just one second, Counsel.

All right. Proceed. Thank yéu.

MS. LEETHAM: I'm almoét done.

THE COURT: Take your time.

MS. LEETHAM: There's one other thing I
want to talk about. And I'm going to go to
Mr. Brinig's report; and I'm looking at amended
Schedule 1. And I'm lboking --

THE COURT: Counsel, let me interrupt.

That's on my —-- I brought everYthing but that.
We're going to just take five minutes. That's all.
Five-minute recess. 1I'll go get it. Thank you.

(Brief recess.)

THE COURT: Go ahead and finish. Then
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let's —- let's start getting the numbers, people.

MS. LEETHAM: Okay. I am almost done and

we'll go to the numbers. I was -- the one thing I
want --

THE COURT: Okay. I have -- I'm sorry. I
have the report now. What did you want me to look
at?

MS. LEETHAM: Okay. It's Schedule 8. I

wanted to throw you a non sequifur really quick.
Mr. Brinig gave me the figure of monies pulled out

by Ninus Malan in the last -- since June.

THE COURT: How much?

MS. LEETHAM: None.

MR. BRINIG: Zero, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Good. Okay. Thank you.

MS. LEETHAM: You're welcome. Okay. So
I'm on -- it's actually entitled "Schedule 8" of the
letter update, amended Schedule 1. I don't think

there's a page number on it. And this is actually

Mr. Essary's declaration regarding forensic

accountant Brian Brinig's updated”report. it's
attached to that as Exhibit A.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MS. LEETHAM: Okay. Are you there?

THE COURT: Close enough.

MS. LEETHAM: Okay. And so I guess what I
want to talk about right now is some of the -- some

of the money attributed to Mr. Razuki for Balboa and
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this figure of 1.575 million for the sale of the
dispensary business.

THE COURT: There we go. Go.

MS. LEETHAM: So interestingly, Balboa
Avenue Cooperative is not a party to the RM Property
Holdings agreement and the settlement agreement, and
that is because there is the separate agreement with
Balboa Ave. Cooperative where Balboa Ave.
Cooperative agreed to pay Razuki Investments
$1.575 million to buy the business. So that is a
separate contract gqverned by a separate agreement
that has nothing_to do with this case. /

And actually, the Bill of Sale for that was
submitted in Ninus Maian's declaration in support of
the July 31st hearing as Exhibit C for the record,
so it is in the récord. And I don't haVeva copy for.
you and we didn't file any, I'm sure, today.

But what that Bill of Sale does is it
obligatés Balboa AVe..Cooperative to péy Razuki
Investments $1.575 million provided the business
opens within 90 days of the date that San Diego
United recorded the grant deed, which was somewhere
around March 17th of 2017.

As we all know, the dispensary did not
legally open until November or December when
Judge Styn allowed us to open. So there's two --
there's two -—- two purposes to this argument.

First of all, this is not a credit to
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Mr. Razuki. This is a debt that Balboa Ave.
Cooperative used to owe to Razuki Investments, but
it does not owe because that note is null and void
because it never opened.

And so Balboa Ave. Cooperative —-- and when
I'm talking about its assets and liabilities, it has
nothing. So my -- like, it has no debt. It has no
equity. It's a cooperative corporation that exists
just to hold the license, so it should have a zero
bond. And I wanted to clarify the record on that,
because Razuki is actually being given quite a large
amount of.possible coﬁtribution in fhe letter
update.

Okay. So now we're on to -- I think we did
California Cannabis Group and Devilish Delights.

THE COURT: And Devilish, yeah. They're
all nonprofits. | |

MS; LEETHAM: They're all nonprofits.

THE COURT: Same analysis.

MS. LEETHAM: Correct. So.to wrap it up, I
think what the Court said at the beginning and what
the plaintiffs are saying is there -- the bond 1is
there to cover the harm between the stay and I guess
the appellate decision and any harm that might
occur.

There'svho harm that's going to occur with
the cash. 1It's a track-and-trace business. The

State of California and the City have processes in
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place that require reporting, and there's no
evidence that they haven't reported under Far West's
management. There's evideﬁce we don't know what
happened under SoCal's management. But as a concern
in terms of a bond, it's nonexistent because there
is a structure in place here due to our regulatory
structure. So that should not be an overriding
concern the Court has in setting the bond amount.

The other thing the Court talked about and
they talked about is any damage if my clients sell
the property. And they keep talking about some kind
of agreement to sell the property, and I don't think
there's any evidence ih'therrecord, other than

argﬁment from counsél, that they're going to sell

the property. The Far West Managemeht serviceé
agreement doés not grant an option. It has not been
marketed.

In fact, the HOA use variance precludes
them from selling 1it, becausetif you transfer
ownership, 1t goes away. So they'would'actually
have to file a motion to have that approved anyway.
So in terms of damage, by granting -- or a low bond,
there's no damage in the interim. You're looking at
me skeptically, but --

THE COURT: No, not at all.

MS. LEETHAM: They -- and I think that's
where you started is how do we deal with the>harm.

Well, we deal with the harm by not making my
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indigent cliénts'pay an exorbitant bond.

THE COﬁRT: Okay. Thank yéu.

Okay. Have I covered the money issues?
And I want to make sure that, Judge, set a -- issues
to raise the injunctive bond, I'm going to call it,
of Mr. Razuki. And then I have to set bonds on
Malan, San Diego United, Flip, Balboa Cooperative,
California/Cannabis, and Devilish Delights.

Is that it?

MR. GORIA: Well, Your Honor, we have
Mira Este as well. Mira Este, Hakim, and Roselle
are also appealing. We filed a cross—appeal.

THE COURT: You know what? That's what I
have. So that is Mira Este, Mr. Hakim; right?

MR. GORIA: They're all cross—appellants,
correct.

THE COURT: And who's the other one?

MR. GORIA: Roselle.

THE COURT: Got it. Shall we do those
since 1it's a cfoss—appeal?

MR. GORIA: Yes.

THE COURT: So, Counsel, let me hear ffom
you.

And then you're going to respond, of

course.

Let's go.
MR. GORIA: Your Honor, let me just start

out by telling --
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‘ THE COURT: And --

MR. GORIA: Oh, I'm sorry.

THE COURT: Mr. Brinig, you're going to
come after that. I Jjust want a quick update based
on the new analysis, which I must say was kind of
substantial.

MR. BRINIG: It was.

THE COURT: I know.

MS. LEETHAM: Thank you, by the way.

THE COURT: Huh?

MS. LEETHAM: Thank you.

THE COURT: No. You're the one that
brought it up, Counsel. It was a big deal.

I'll stop right there. I'interiupted. Go.

MR. GORIA: Let me start out by giving you
the conclusion, and that is thét we think only a
minimum bond, 10,000, for Mira Este Properties.

THE COURT: Okay. '

MR. GORIA: Mr.'Hakim, in terms of a bond,
that's kind of irreievant, same with Roselle,
because the receiver isn't over there. The receiver
is in Mira Este Pfoperties, LLC, and that's probably
the only party that we're going to post a bond for.

Now; in terms of the evidence =-- well,
let's back up.

THE COURT: So hold on. Only Mira Este
appealed?

MR. GORIA: No. All three parties
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appealed, but Mira Este is really the only one that
is the interested party in the order for the
preliminary injunction at this point.

THE COURT: Wow. Got it. Go. Thank you,
Counsel.

MR. GORIA: So in terms of 917.5, that code

_section speaks in terms of damages likely to occur

with the removal of the receiver, likely to occur

rwith the removal of the receiver.

And what is the evidence before the Court?
Because we think it, frankly, would be an abuse of
discretion for the Court to impose a bond more than
the minimum, because the only evidencé before the
Court -- and I -- I do beliéve that, Your Honor,
because the only evidence before the Court is that
the -- as far as Mira Este goes, producers are
staying away from Mira Este solelyrbecause of.the'
receiver. We have produced an avalanche of evidence
to that effect.

Mr. Elia had, you know, the audacity,
really, to bring up Mr. Milner and Cream of the Crop
and say, Well, he Was just told to say that in court
because of his attorneys, and the attorneys are
conspiring to try to keep the receiver out.

Far from it. We have put into declaration
form that Cream of the Crop was close to getting a
deal done until it was disclosed that there was a

receiver in place. 2And he was advised by his own
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attorney, who I don't even know and I've never

spoken with -- I've never \

even spoken to Mr. Milner.
He was advised by his attorney, Don't get involved
where there's a receiver.

And there are -- I provided evidence to the
Court as to the reasons why these producers do not
want to deal with the receiver, and that's the
simple fact that I think we have produced undisputed
evidence that that is the case.

And with that as a given, it would be an
abuse of discretion for the Court to find that there
afe damages likely to occur if the receiver is
removed, because the opposite is correct. The
oppdsite is that damégés will nof occur 1f the
receiver is removed. And it's all very likely that
Mira Este will return to profitability if the
receiver is, in fact, removed through a stay, if you
will, through a stay of the order avoiding the
receiver.

Now, in addition to the rumber of producers
who were staying away because of the producer [sic],
I'd like to spend a minute to go back to the origins
of Mira Este. My client did not know Mr. Malan. He
did not know Mr. Razuki before June of 2016. He was
introduced to them through é loan broker who was
putting the deal together for Mira Este.

Mr. Malan and Mr. Razuki, who are longtime

partners, had Mira Este in escrow. Okay. They had
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it in escrow in June of 2016. But again, despite
the bravado of Mr. Elia in saying that Mr. Razuki
had all these millions of dollars, they didn't have
enough money —-- enough cash to close the deal in
Mira Este. They needed about 3- or 400,000.

The loan broker came to my clients because
he knew that my client had the wherewithal. And at
that point in time, my client got involved. And in
July of 2016, he had his attorney, who happens to be
my partner, draft the operating agreement for
Mira Este.

At that time thé three of them --

Mr. Malan, Mr. Razuki; and Mr. Hakim —-- decided that
Mr. Razuki would not be an owner of Mira Este
Propertieé. He didn't want to be an owner of

Mira Este Properties. He didn't even have it put
into the operating'agreemehtrthét he would receive
any distribution. All that wés done between

Mr. Malan and Mr. Razuki.

So as far as Mira Este Properties go —-=
goes, Mr. Razuki has no interest -- no ownership
interest and no rights, no voting rights or
anything. Okay. So really, this Court doesn't have
jurisdiétion to even impose a receiver over
Mira Este at the behest of Mr. Razuki, because he
has no interest in Mira Este Properties.

So -- but having said that, let's carry on.

After the deal was struck and my client put in
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$420,000 in cash to allow that escrow to close, my
client was appointed the managing member -- sole
managing member of Mira Este Properties.

And for the better part of two years, hé

managed that while he procured SoCal to pay 110,000

a month. And during that time frame, Mira Este was
operating profitably. He was the sole manager. He
was the one that was responsible for that. That

takes us to June.

THE COURT: Did SoCal do a good job?

MR. GORIA: SoCal did nothing. SoCal did
nothing. The onlybthing'they did was for five
months or six months, they paid the 110,000. But
they brought nobody'into the facility. There was
zero operating income as a result of SoCal's lack of
effort. And then in June of 2018, June of this
yéar, they stop paying:

And now what do they do in this litigation?
Theyvcome up with this totally bogﬁs charge that my
client falsified some records concerning tenant
improvements.

Well, we have submitted declarations to the
effect that -- and we,‘in fact, provided Mr. Brinig
with not only a summary of the tenant improvements
paid by the facility, both Mira Este Properties
itself, Mr. Malan, ahd Mr. Hakim. .They paid
$288,000 fﬁr tenant improvements.

They turned to SoCal, Can we get reimbursed
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because of -- the management agreement with SoCal
says that anything over 250—, you're going to pay us
one half or a hundred -- not over 250-, but up to
250-, you will pay us one half or 125,000.

We have backup material, like I said, that

we provided Mr. Brinig. And he confirmed all except

for 5,000. He confirmed $280,000 had been paid for

tenant improvements. And what does SoCal do? They
do not pay anything towards tenant improvements.

. In addition to that, they stopped paying on
their minimum monthly so that as of June -- as of
early July of 2018, they were indebted to Mira Este
Properties in the amount>of -— let's see —-
$450,000, 125- for tenant improvements that we have
established through Mr. Brinig was actually paid,
plﬁs an additional 326,000 on the minimum guarantee
and other payments that they just flat out'defaulted
on. That's the sole reason that SoCal was
terminated, and this nonsense about a fabricéted or
falsified listing of‘tenant improvements is Jjust
that. It's false.

Now, again, turning back to the issue of
the likely damages that would result, we have a lot
of speculatidn about -- oh, they'll let the property
go into foréclosure; Oh, yeah, Mr. Hakim is going
to just walk away from 420,000. Right.

The businesses are limping along.

Mira Este is limping along because they don't have
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enough operating income or net income to pay the
mortgage payment. And who's paying the payments?
Mr. Malan, who's -- as his counsel said, doesn't
have much in the way of assets, and my client.
They're paying the mortgage payment out of their own
pocket, not out of Mira Este Properties and
certainly not from Mr. Razuki.

So we think if the receiﬁer is removed,
there will not be damages to Mr. Razuki. He will
actually profiﬁ from the removal of the receiver.
And we also think that the only reason they're
arguing againét that is for a litigation advantage,
for settlement leverage.

I think quite clearly that Mr. Elia and his
groﬁp over there understand that if the receiver is
out at Mira Este, that facility will turn‘
profitable. And to the extenf that'Mr. Razuki is
entitled to any share of the profits, he will
benefit from that. So for him to stand up here
through his counsel and argue that there's going to
be a likelihdod of damage if the receiver is removed
is disingenuous, Your Honor;

I'd be happy to answer any question if the
Court has any.

THE COURT: So it's 10,000, zero, zero? Is
that the way I look at it?‘ That's what I wrote
down. Correct? | |

MS. LEETHAM: Yes.
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THE COURT: Ten thousand for Mira Este,
zero for Hakim, zero for Roselle, correct?

MR. GORIA: Yes.

THE COURT: Thank you, Counsel.

Give me your -- and then I'm going to ask
you some questions.

MR. JOSEPH: Sure. Before we get to the
specifics, I've got to bring it back to the law,
Your Honor, on what the standard is when we're
setting the appellate bond. CCP 917.5, the first
thing --

THE COURT: Counsel, I got it right in
front of me.

MR. JOSEPH: The first thing you look at is
Plaintiff's damages. What tﬁey -~ what Malan and
his entities are trying to do is to get a wailver
under 995.240. First, you look at Plaintiff's
damages, and then you see they have met the
requirements fof the waiver to begin indigent person
status.

Where is the bank statement'ﬁhat Mr. Malan
has truly received no income before this year? I
appreciate Ms. Leetham stating that her client has
not got that money. But in 20 minutes, Your Honor,
we have another hearing whefe there's another
compahy that Mr. Malan owns. It's not just these
marijuana dispensaries that --

THE COURT: In 20 minutes we have another
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hearing?

MR. JOSEPH: The Schwig (phonetic) case,
Your Honor. Sorry to remind you about that.

THE COURT: Is that Westpoint?

MR. JOSEPH: Westpoint, SH Westpoint.

THE COURT: I got it.

MR. JOSEPH: But where is the action? The
law is very clear. The law requires an actual
finding by the Court based on evidence that there is

no substantial financial assets to actually support

the bond itself. Where is the declaration from
Mr. Malan saying, "I have not made money. Here are
my bank statements. Here's my income for the last

three months"?

I understand from this busineés, according
to Mr. Brinig, he has not received anything. We
don't know about his other sources of income, if
he's taken any other forms of income, or anything
iike that.

More important, with respect to the other
businesses, from Mr. Brinig and everythihg, we
understand that there may not -- there's a cash flow
issue with the businesses, but these businesées have
assets. As we have said, there are people willing
to pay millions of dollars for these businesses.
That does not mean that they're poor and have no
ability to acguire a bond. They have very valuable

property.r They have very valuable assets and

CAEI 0293




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

79
licenses that people are willing to pay millions of
dollars for.

On top of all of that, the law is very
clear. These are corporations that are not entitled
to indigent person status. The —-- I believe in
SoCal's briefing, Your Honor, it actually goes
through the very specific history and the
legislative intent with respect to the 998/995.240
walver. It 1is to prevent -- it to save individuals
who would be precluded from the Court, to saﬁe
individuals who would be precluded‘from the Court,
pérsons, indigent pérsons.

It's something -- the main case I believe
that's cited is an empléyment case where an employee
lost at trial, and then they could not put forward
the bond for an attorney's fees issue. That is the
purpose of that waiver, and that waiver has simply
not been met. There's no findihg whatsoever for
that.

To address oneée other issue very quickly,VI
think Ms. Leetham got her math wrong.> It's --

Razuki has the 75 percent interest in these

buéinesses. Mr. Malan has the 25 percent interest
in the business. Therefore, our damages would
always be three times more than his damage. So

whatever Malan's bond is, our bond has to be'at'
least three times higher. That's how the math would

work in that instance.
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But anyway, the last thing that we would
have to —-- that we must point out, Your Honor, the
receiver has already submitted declarations that
Ms. Austin was not willing to work with him. 1In
fact, the receiver tried to hire a manager or tried
to work with the management company in order to
exercise operational control. Your order redquired
Mr. Essary to work with Far West.

When Mr. Essary said, "Let me see your
payments. Let me approve of all of these issues.
Let me actually get into there" -- he has already
submitted e-mails to the Court where Ms. Austin
says, I am not going to require Far West to -- to
submit everything to you, Mr. Essary.

There'svalready evidence that'théy ha?e
tried to obstruct with the receiver, and that is
exactly what we've been talking about since day one.
The receiver is not the responsibility -- the
responsible party for these businesses failing. It
is management.

Finding -- finally, Your Honor, the Court
can save theée businesses. I understand that they
come off and talk about all these debts and
everything. You have SoCal, who at last, two weeks
hearings ago, said, We'll inject a million dollars
into Balboa if you let us in.

My client, Mr.‘Razuki,.has‘said, We'™ll

cover the HOA fees, but we need the security of
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knowing that we're going to have control about that.
Finally, Your Honor, we have to address the

latest findings of Mr. Brinig and everything --

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. JOSEPH: =~-~ because we did submit
briefing on this. I'm not sure if the Court had a
chance to review that.

THE COURT: I don't remember reading that.

MR. JOSEPH: I can summarize it very
quickly, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Go.

MR. JOSEPH: Essentially put, there are
multiple sources of income that Mr. Ninus --
Mr.'Malan claims that he made contributions for. In
Schedule 9 is where those contributions are listed.

And so according to Mr. Brinig, there were
contributions made from Mr. Malan personally and
another entity called NM Investments, Incorporated,
which 1is Mr. Malan's entity. In total; when you
calculate those, looking at Schedule 9,

NM Investments invested or contributed $90,341,
Mr. Malan personally contributed $364,000, for a
total of $454,000 and change. And that is a
contribution that's been put into Mr. Malan's
column.

Schedule 8, though, already has a
contribution where Mr. Razuki transfers $498,000 to

NM Invéstments énd Mr. Malan. We were the ones who
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gave that money to Mr. Malan, and then he put it
into the businesses. And that's exactly according
to Mr. Brinig's report.

Finally, Your Honor, according to the
report, $635,000 of contributions by -- that were
accredited to Mr. Malan came from American Lending
and Holdings. I don't need to belabor the point
right here, but there is a dispute over who owns
American Lending and Holdings and who gets credit
for the money that American Lendings and Holdings
put in.

Right there that‘is $450,000 that wé gave
Mr. Malan that he put baék into the business, and
then we havé $635,000 from American Lending and
Holding that should be ours, given our poéition in
the.hearing that may happen in ten minutes or may
not.

That's a million dollars that wé dispute
based off the actual evidence and our positions on
this case. If that million dollars is subtracted
from Mr. Malan's position, he's net positive.

He's pos -- he's -- or "net negative" I guess 1is the
way we're saying it a.quarter of a million dollars.

THE COURT: Got it.

MR. JOSEPH: So égain, Your Honor --

THE COURT: Okay. Here we go. I got your
argument, Counsel. 'Lét'srgo. So on SD -- i've

already got Malan, what you're requesting.
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SD Holdings? I'm looking for numbers.

MR.

Your Honor.

THE

MR.

THE

MR.

THE

MR.

THE

MR.

THE

MR.

JOSEPH

: It should be the same,

It's still --

COURT:

JOSEPH:

COURT:

JOSEPH:

COURT:

JOSEPH:

COURT:

JOSEPH:

COURT:

JOSEPH

Flip-?
The same,rYour Honor.
Twelve million, right?
Yes, 12 million.
Balboa?
Same, Your Honor.
Is it the same for everybody?
It is the same for everybody.

Including Mira Este?

: For Mira Este, We would argue,

because we only have a basis for 3.75 million, it

would be for Mira Este LLC, California Cannabis

Group, and those entities, 3.75 million.

THE

COURT :

Okay. You lost me. SD, twelve

five -- or twelve seven; Flip, twelve seven.

Balboa, how much is your request?

MR.

THE

MR.

JOSEPH

COURT:

JOSEPH:

associated with the

five.
THE COURT:
MR. JOSEPH:
believe that's with
THE COURT:

: Twelve seven.

California?
Because that is the entity

Mira Este facility, three seven

For Devilish Delights?
Three seven five, because 1
‘the Mira Este facility.

Mira Este? Three seven five?
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MR. JOSEPH: Three seven five.

THE COURT: Mr. Hakim?

MR. JOSEPH: Three seven five.

THE COURT: And Roselle?

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, Roselle is
actually not in the receivership at this time, so --

THE COURT: Wﬁy would they appeal? That's
a good point.

MR. WATTS: They don't like the order.

" THE COURT: That's a good reason. Judge, I
don't like it.

One Wonders, thoﬁgh, if they even have
standing if they're not in it, but that's another
issue.

MR. JOSEPH: Your'Honor, just for clarity,
I don't wént them to say we put a zero dollar bond
there by thé receiver's bond}rby any means, So —-=

THE COURT: No, no. I know.

MR. JOSEPH: If anything, it should just be
the same amount.

THE COURT: I got it. Okay. Since we've
only got 25 minutes left with the reporter, slow
down. Is there anyone else before I turn to Mr. --
anybody else want to say anything? Anybody?

Mr. Jaffe, are you good?

Receiver? You want to say anything,

Mr. Essary?

MR. ESSARY: I don't think it's relevant to
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what you're diécussing here on the bonds,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Just the bonds.

SoCal, do you want to say anything?

MS. CARDER: Do I need to address anything
about the management? because I believe --

THE COURT: You don't.

MS. CARDER: Okay.

THE COURT: I don't mean to be rude, but
you don't.

MS. LEETHAM: I have a lot to say, but I
think you‘got the gist of it.

THE COURT: Well said.

MR. GORIA: Just oné point; Your Honor.
According to Mr. Brinig,/between the timé that the
receiver was appointed and October 31, Mira Esﬁe
lost over $130,000.

THE COURT: Got 1it.

MR. WATTS: And I --

THE COURT: One sentence, go. Actually,
two or three, because I've got to hear from
Mr. Brinig. You're up.

MR. WATTS: They were talking about Ninus'
ability to pay. There is evidence of Salam Razuki's
ability tobcome.up with at least $800,000 on a
moment's notice to get himself out of prison for
murder for hire. So they can pay that -- whatever

you set the bond amount for, I'm confident that
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Mr. Razuki will be able to come up with the money to
pay.
THE COURT: I will set a fair amount for
everyone, so says the Court.
All right. Here we go. Mr. Brinig, you've
waited a long time.

MR. BRINIG: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Kind of give me -- I have
studied the new report. Thank you for providing
that. Kind of give me the overall assessment here.

MR. BRINIG: Well, the new report changed.
And I apologize because I said last time I didn't
think it would move the needle much. We received
a lbt of information from.Mr. Malan subsequent to
the issuance of the first report. It's essentially
summarized in Schedule 9 with the commentsvover
there. I've tried to number the schedules
sequentially aftef the‘first report.

And the observations that people make ;re
accurate that say I don't know where the money comes
from. All Iréan do is analyze money going from an
entity into thé deals. I don't know where the money
might originate from in the entity thét puts money
into the deal. So that's a fair -— in other words,

where does the audit stop, so to speak? And I've

stopped it where moneyris coming from. I don't know
the source of those monies. So that's a fair
critique.
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And from a real tight auditing or forensic
accounting perspective, I've tried to say in the
notes, Well, some of this stuff is a little bit
loose. But if I see money going from one person to
one person or one place to another place, I identify

it here and I give the person or the place paying

the money credit for a contribution. Vice versa is
true. That's kind of my -- the backup of my report.
THE COURT: Is -- can I say -- is --

Schedule 8, is that kind of the bottom line?
MR. BRINIG: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Could werlook at”that for a

minute.
'MR. BRINIG: Sure.
THE COURT: I guess.—— I understand Razuki.
So he's put in about one four, correct —-- one three?
MR. BRINIG: Yes. And there's -- as you -—-

I think the Court's well aware there's a clear

distinction between above the line and below the

line.

THE COURT: We went through thét.

MR. BRINIG: Right.

THE COURT: Explain to me, though, how
Malan gets down to negative 250-. Just walk me

through that real quick. Do you understand? Go
down -- go through that analysis.
MR. BRINIG: Sure.

THE COURT: He put in 470-2
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MR. BRINIG: Four twenty-seven =--

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. BRINIG: -- out of -- out of -- in
Balboa and he took out 188-.

THE COURT: And let me irterrupt just for a
second, because I think this goes to your question.
Do you know where that 427- came from?

MR. BRINIG: That -- yes. That came out of
the Balboa operations.

THE COURT: Oh, operations?

MR. BRINIG: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Not the sale of a property?

MR. BRINIG: I'm -- let me -- your —- you
guys are focusing a little different way than I'm
thinking right now. Let me just look to make sure.

MS. LEETHAM: I think T can jump in.

THE COURT: I just want to know if it's
Balboa or the sale. |

MS. LEETHAM: The sale -- what do you mean
by "the sale," I guess? So the distributions are
from the minimum guaréntees; The SéCal -- the 188-,
that came from the SoCal contract. And the 427- is
a combination of money, the escrow and I thihk
payments that he made to build out, to pay the
architect, to pay different thingsvlike that.

THE COURT: "He" being?

MS. LEETHAM: I'm sorry, Your‘Honor.

Mr. Malan.
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THE COURT: Okay. So that -- so that's his
private money? Can I say that? Does that make
sense?

MS. LEETHAM: It makes sense and I think
that's fair. |

THE COURT: Okay. Go ahead.

MR. BRINIG: And the 188- coming out did
come out of operations of Balboa.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. BRINIG: None of them since -- since
June, as we -- I pointed out earlier.

THE COURT: And then keep'going.

MR. BRINIG: And then 65- into Mira Este
operations, if we look at Schedule 4. I'm looking
at the originalAreport. I'm sorry. This -- fhis
65- in comes from contributions to the --

THE COURT: I don't -- where are you?

MR. BRINIG: I'm jumping back to the
original report. |

THE COURT: Can you use this one?

MR. BRINIG: Well, I don't have the detail,
but I can tell you the 65- —-- I'm sdrry.

THE COURT: TIt's okay. I got both of them
in front of me.

MR. BRINIG: Okay. So look at the -- I'm
jumping between -- so you're looking —-- you want to
look at Schedule 8. Where did 182- --

THE COURT: There we go. Where did that
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come from?
MR. BRINIG: Where did 182- come from, and

then where did the 670- come from. The 182—- came

from dbout -- rough numbers, about 65- of it was
from an investment in the property. And then the
balance -- let me —-- this is new information for me.

I've got to look at Schedule 9 to see
contributions -- I'm sorry -- into Mira Este from
Mr. Malan. And if you look at Schedule 9 --

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. BRINIG: —-- there's, sort of down éo
the bottom of the first page, a 25,000, a 2500, and
a 25,000.

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. BRINIG: Previouély, I had -- knew
about those numbers, but they weie'unéourcéd.

Mr. Malan has provided infbrmation as to where
they =-- that money was on his behalf.

THE COURT# And that source was?

MR.VBRINIG: I can téli you. The -—- I got
to jump around, théugh.

THE COURT: Take your time. I got it.

MR. BRINIG: Almost there.‘ Twenty-five
thousand is a check from Ninus Malan on May 7th,
2018, from.him personally. Twenty-five hundred is a
check from Ninus Malan on June 12th, 2018,
perSOnally. And another --

THE COURT: Got 1it.
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MR. BRINIG: Looking for 25,000 and 33-.

Hold on. Thirty-three -- E'm sorry. This is my =--
the other 25,000 is -- I just see the money coming
in. I don't in front of me have the source. I

can't tell you that it's from a personal check, but
I see the money coming in.

THE COURT: That's all right.

MR. BRINIG: Does that help?

THE COURT: It did. It helped a lot.
Anything else you'd like to say?

MR. BRINIG: Not if you don't want to ask
me, Judge;

THE COURT: So I assume, all counsel,
Baiboé closed, rightv?

MS. LEETHAM: Yes; Your Honor.

MR. JOSEPH: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mira Este, 1i1s it wviable?

MR. JOSEPH: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Goria, 1s it viable, if you
know?

MR. GORIA: Well, it's limping along. It's
running as a negative because of the facts that
we've discussed.

THE COURT: Anything else? Can we close
this area for madam court reporter then? Thank you.
Here's what I'm going to do. This will be off my
plate Monday. I want to think about it. You've all

given me é lot of stuff. But I'm going to make one,
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two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine --
ten rulings, right? That's all on bonds, right?

MR. WATTS: And the other -- putting
Sunrise in receivership, those things, are you going
to rule on that today too?

THE COURT: I haven't heard argument on
that. I'd 1ike to hear it.

MR. ELIA: Your Honor, may I say something
quickly? May I just make a request that Mr. Brinig
actually source the money so we can determine where
this money came from? I think he'd be done in a féw
days.

THE COURT: No. I'vé got an idea. I've
seen this -- I've read the supplement. I'm'moving
forward. I got to move forward) Counsel. I say
that respectfully; I'm going to make some orders.
Okay? And these are going to come out.Monday..

Hold on. Let.mé get my notes. There was
something on Mira Este that I had. It wasn't
exactly what you said, though.

MR. GORIA: Well, it was an ex parte
application to remove the receiver that was --

THE COURT: That's it. That's it. That's
to remove it, yeah. Okay. That's up on appeal,
Counsel.

MR. GORIA: ‘Understood, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. So that's --

MR. GRISWOLD: Your Honor, one minor issue.
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You brought up ——>I think you were confirming that
Balboa, as of today, still remains cloéed. I just
want to clarify if the Court was directing --

THE COURT: Did I say -- I didn't =-- I just
said it's closed.

MR. GRISWOLD: ‘It is closed, and I'1ll
confirm it is closed today. And I just want to get
clarification. 1Is the Court directing the receiver
to keep it -- keep it closed even until Monday, or
can the receiver -- the receiver is receiving
multiple proposals from operators that would
consider operating Balboa.

Is the receiver allowed at this point to
consider and evenrplace-an operétor in Balboa, or 1is
the Court's desire and direction of the receiver to
keep it closed?

MS. LEETHAM: Well, the order states it's
Far West, so that changes the order.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. GRISWOLD: When we left two weeks ago,
it was the direction of the Court‘to keep it closed.
All I'm trying to do is give direction to the
receiver.

THE COURT: That makgs sense. You all know
what's going on here, right? You understood what I
said? You all understand what's going on in my‘
courtroom? You're looking at me like no, you don't.

Well, here's what's -- listen, I was going
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to do a lot of things today. But now because of
certain appellate issues, I don't think I can. And
I could have moved this case along. But for -- but
you ail have your rights. Don't take this és
criticism. You're attorneys. You're doing your
job.

But I was going to do a lot of things, and
then we got into detail about how much jurisdiction
I have. And I don't think I have that much, except
to do the bonds. I'll be quite honest. Because I
was going to do a lot more today. Let me tell you.
And I plan on it, but I'm not too surer—— so what --

Let's look at the reality. What's it going
to do? I'm shutting down for, like, six months.
And, you know, so be it. Whether'these businesses
survive for six months, I don't know. I don't
understand why you all don't get together and do
something. Bﬁt, you know, that's not.me; Ybu
present it to fhe Court. I do it. So that's my
little spiel, and it is what it is.

But here's what —-- I'll put it on the
record. I'm afraid this is all going to go down the
drain,‘everyvbit of it. And that doesn't help
anybody, does it?

‘Okay. I've said my piece, so I'm going to
make rulings. You're entitled to that. I'm going
fo do it.

MR. WATTS: Sunrise also.

CAEI 0309
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THE COURT: Let's talk about the -- jeez.

You got five minutes. Talk about Sunrise.

MR. WATTS: We're the moving party. We
have asked that if the Court is not going to
recognize that the order appointing Mr. Essary is
void that we have the exact same rights as
Mr. Razuki has under that RM Holdings agreement.

The parties both were required to put their
shares into RM Holdings. Neither party did that.
Neither party prepared a financial accounting.
Neither party -- they were supposed to put their
sharesbin Sunrise and Super 5 Consulting Grdup.
Razuki was. He was supposed to put his shares into
RM Holdings. Ninus Mélan, under that same contract,
he said that he was going to put his shares in
San Diego United, et cetera, into RM Holdings.

If you recall, this is the contract on
which the plaintiffs sued that started this
litigation. And so they claim that because they're
entitled to 75 percent of the profits or losseé of
RM Holdings --

THE COURT: “And, Counsel, agaih, you
represent?

MR. WATTS: I represent Ninus Malan and
cross—complainant American --

THE COURT: Four attorneys.

MR. WATTS: So Ninus Malan and Mr. Razuki

had the same obligations under that contract.

CAEI 0310
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THE COURT: Real quick, tell me what you're
specifically requesting.

MR. WATTS: I'm asking for you to appoint
Kevin Singer --

THE COURT: There we go.

MR. WATTS: -- as the receiver over RM
Property Holdings, LLC; Sunrise Property
Investments, LLC; Alternative Health Cooperative,
Incorporated --

THE COURT: Slow down.

MR. WATTS: Alternative Health -—-

THE COURT: Has this been filed, Counsel?

MR. WATTS: Yes, this has been filed.

THE COURT: Do ybu know what the ROA number

MR. WATTS: Tammy will look it up.

THE COURT: If you could do that, that
would be hélpful to the Court.

MR. WATTS: We have --

THE COURT: So go ahead.

MR. WATTS: So appointing Kevin Singer
receiver over these five entities, Goldn Bloom

Ventures, Incorporated, ahd also Super 5 Consulting

Group, LLC. Those companies, exéept for
RM Holdings, which is the holding company -- those
companies are the entities that authorize -- operate

this Goldn Bloom dispensary.

THE COURT: Are they in the lawsuit?

CAEI 0311
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MR. WATTS: Yes, they're in the lawsuit.
They have been served and -=

THE COURT: Have they responded?

MS. LEETHAM: Sunrise Property Investments
has answered.

THE COURT: How about the others?

MR. WATTS: They haven't -- they haven't
responded.

THE COURT: When were they served? because
they would be --

MS. LEETHAM: Default.

MR. WATTS: A couple of weeks égo, but
bearing in mind that all of oﬁr companies were put
into receiveréhip.befofe they were even served with
a summons, so —-- but we have sefved them,‘named
them, filed amendments. We named them as Roes.
Some of them we named>as individuals, and we've
served them. They're represented. VTheybhave
counsel.

This Court was going to put them into the
accounting back in September, but then decided not
to do that because they didn't have counsel. They
have had counsel now for mdnths, and they're not
even in the éccounting.

THE COURT: Who represents them?

MR. WATTS: Mr. Jaffe right now.

THE COURT: Mr. Jaffe, you represent these

five entities?

CAEI 0312
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MR. JAFFE: Only Sunrise, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Who represents the others?

MR. JAFFE: I don't know. And I know
they're not in default. I looked at the proofs of
service. Thirty days hasn't even gone by.

MR. WATTS: I haven't -- I don't believe I
said that they were.

THE COURT: Yeah, you did.

MS. LEETHAM: I thought they were, and I
misspoke. And I was -- I apologize. I'm thinking
of —--

THE COURT: Okay. So let's slow down.
Slow down.

So we'll wait and see. Well, then let's
wait and see what they respond with.

But go ahead, finish your argument. i'll
listen. Counsel, you got two minutes. Go.

MR. WATTS: We still think that the
preliminary injunction is void, that the
companies - the parties'don't have property
interests in these companies.

If the Court finds, though, that they do,
if the Court is still convinced that Razuki has
pfoperty.interests in San Diego United and Mira Este
and these others sufficient to give him a receiver,
if you think still think that that was the right
order, then we are entitled to an equivalent order

over Sunrise.

CAEI 0313
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He gsed ~- Mr. Razuki, you'll recall, used
money —-- we've submitted undisputed evidence that he
used money from that dispensary to hire a hitman to
try to murder Ninus Malan because of this
litigation, because we filed an appeal.

That evidence is undisputed. No one has
disputed it. No one has filed a declaration in
opposition to it with evidence. There's been
argument, but it's undisputed that they used the
money from these companies that we're asking to be
put in receivership, cash from a cash business,

Your Honor -

MR. ELTA: Objection,'Your Honor.
Relevance.

THE COURT: Shh, shh, shh. Let him finish.

You got one more minute.

MR. WATTS: The relevance is that we are
letting these companies go to waste. We're letting
them be used for criminal purposes. Mr. Malan has a
property interest in them, according to the
plaintiff, and his own property is being used to try
to murder him. And there is --

MS. GRIFFIN: Objection.

THE COURT: Shh, shh, shh.

MR. WATTS: You can object if you want, but
the evidence is undisputed. On that point, it is
undisputed. And so if the --

MS. GRIFFIN: Whatever.

CAEI 0314
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WATTS: It is. It is.
ELIA: And we dispute the evidence.
COURT: Let's --
WATTS: That's —--
COURT: 1I've heard enough.
WATTS: In criminal, but --
COURT: Stick to it, Counsel. Go.

WATTS: They can't be allowed to do

that with the money. They can't be allowed to hire

people to murder people with the money. They =--

THE
MS.

ROA 335, but

COURT: Okay. I got your argument.
LEETHAM: Your Honor, I believe it's

there's a lot of pleadings.

THE COURT: Thank you very much.

MS. LEETHAM: I think so.

MR. JAFFE: Your Honor --

THE COURT: Mr. Jaffe,bwhat do you want to
say? |

MR. JAFFE: There's four other owners of
Sﬁnrise other than Mr. Razuki. He only has a

minority interest.

THE

MR.

that's -- it'’

THE

COURT: How much?
JAFFE: About 20 percent. I think
s in the‘declaration.

COURT: Got it. Do you know what the

ROA on that is? I'll find it. Never mind. Go

ahead. It's

MR.

around there probably.

JAFFE: All they have done is brought

CAEI 0315
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an ex parte. And what's happened is there was a
settlement agreement that says that Mr. Malan only
possibly gets money out of the Sunrise money that
Mr. Razuki had, which might get -- if and when
Mr. Razuki gets all his money back. So they don't
have any interest right now at all in Sunrise.

The reason that you put in a receiver, as I
understand it, is because Mr. Razuki put in all this
money and there was money that was being taken by
Mr. Malan from the Balboa dispensary. None of that
is going on at Sunrise. This is an operating
dispensary with other owners that has hdthing to do
with money being taken in any broad -- not even an
allegation in any way that Mr. Malan's money is
being taken and therefore he needs to have éome
interest in Sunrise.

You have declarations that thé Sunrise
people put.in thatvafter the charges were bfought
against Mr. Razuki, the federal authorities
questioned them and they have -- they asked for some
information about Razuki, énd they have done nothing
else. They're not pursuing any type of -- anything
against this dispensary, Sunrise, with regafd to any
of those criminal issues that they have brought up .
There's no emergency and they could bring this on a
noticed motion.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. ELIA: Your Honor, I have a suggestion

CAEI 0316
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if you want to hear it briefly. Here's my
suggestion, Your Honor. Under the terms of the
settlement agreement, in three different places, it
states -- and for the record, it's Section 1.2,
Sections 2.2 and 2.3.

Those three sections state that no one --
when I say "no one," I mean Mr. Razuki and
Mr. Malan -- are to take profits until the
contributions are repaid.

My suggestion is I think a receivership is
inappropriate, because there's four other owners.
We would be happy to report to Mr. Essary
Mr. Razuki's contributions that he receives every
month.

MR. WATTS: They said they'd do that three
months ago, and they didn't.

THE COURT: Thank you. Understand.

Anyvother -— sd that's ten bonds, one
ruling on Mr. Singér. Anything else?

MS. LEETHAM: For the record, my client has
an actual conflict of interest with Mr. Jaffe.
We'll be filing a motion to have him disqualified.
I just want the Court to know that. Huge problem.

THE COURT: Fire that baby.

MS. LEETHAM: I'm going to fire that baby
away.

THE COURT: There you dgo. Are you going to

do it before you get relieved?

CAEI 0317
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MS. LEETHAM: Well, I'm hoping I don't get
relieved, but yes.
THE COURT: There you go. Well, I would
hope you don't get relieved --

MS. LEETHAM: Thank you.

THE COURT: ~-- would be my opinion, because
you all are -- I'd hate to have to gear somebody up
again, and I mean that. I need all of you. I can't

say that more strongly.
Okay. We're done. I'll let you know if I
need you anymore.

{The proceedings concludéd at 4:25'p.m.)

* kK
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO )

I, Leyla S. Jones, a Certified Shorthand
Reporter, do hereby certify:

That prior to being examined, the witness
in the foregoing proceedings was by me duly sworn to
testify to the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth;

That said proceedings were taken before me

at the time and place therein set forth and were

taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter

transcribed into typewriting under my direction and
supervision;

I further certify that I am neither counsel
fbr,Knot related to,vany party to said proceedings,
nor in any way interested in the outcome thereof.

:In witness whéreof; I have hereunto

subscribed my name.

Dated: January 4, 2018

Leylads. Jones
CSR No. 12750
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL
‘MINUTE ORDER

DATE: 12/17/2018 TIME: 02:26:00 PM DEPT: C-67

JUDICIAL OFFICER PRESIDING: Eddie C Sturgeon
CLERK: Patricia Ashworth

REPORTER/ERM: Not Reported

BAILIFF/COURT ATTENDANT:

CASE NO: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL CASE INIT.DATE: 07/10/2018
CASE TITLE: Razuki vs Malan [IMAGED]
CASE CATEGORY: Civil - Unlimited CASE TYPE: Breach of Contract/Warranty

APPEARANCES

The Court, having taken the above-entitled matter under submission on 12/14/2018 and having fully
considered the arguments of all parties, both written and oral, as well as the evidence presented, now
rules as follows:

The request to add Sunrise Property Investments, LLC to be included in the receivership proceedings is
denied.

Defendants Ninus Malan, Monarch Management Consulting Inc., San Diego United Holdings Group,
Balboa Ave Cooperative, Devilish Delights Inc., and California Cannabis Group's for order setting
appellate bond amount is granted, in part. Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties LLC, and
Roselle Properties LLC for order setting appellate bond amount is granted, in part.

The court sets the appellate bond as follows:

Ninus Malan appellate bond is set at $350,000.

San Diego United Holdings Group's appellate bond is set at $350,000.
American Lending and Holdings LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.
Flip Management LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Balboa Ave Cooperative's appellate bond is set at $50,000.

Devilish Delights Inc.'s appellate bond is set at $50,000.

California Cannabis Group's appellate bond is set at $50,000.

Chris Hakim's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Mira Este Properties LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Rosell Properties LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Based upon various representations during oral argument that all parties must cooperate in order to be
effective, in order to vacate the receiver, each party must post bond.

The motion to appoint Kevin Singer as receiver is denied.

DATE: 12/17/2018 MINUTE ORDER Page 1

DEPT: C-67 Calendar No.
CAEI 0321 ' S




CASE TITLE: Razuki vs Malan [IMAGED] CASE NO: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

The motion to add Sunrise Property Investments, LLC to the receivership is denied.
e L.

Judge Eddie C Sturgeon

DATE: 12/17/2018 MINUTE ORDER Page 2
DEPT: C-67 Calendar No.
CAEI 0322




SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

Central
330 West Broadway
San Diego, CA 92101

SHORT TITLE: Razuki vs Malan [IMAGED]

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL

CASE NUMBER:
37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

| certify that | am not a party to this cause. | certify that a true copy of the Minute Order Dated 12/17/2018 was
mailed following standard court practices in a sealed envelope with postage fully prepaid, addressed as indicated
below. The mailing and this certification occurred at San Diego, California, on 12/17/2018.

P dohurgveto
Clerk of the Court, by: P. Ashworth , Deputy
MAURA GRIFFIN GINA M AUSTIN
_.2221 2221 CAMINO DEL RIOQ, STE 207 # STE 207 AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP APC

SANDIEGO, CA 92108 — —~ — e - 23980 OLD TOWN AVE, SUITE A-1 12

SAN DIEGO, CA 921 10 T
STEVEN W BLAKE DANIEL WATTS
GALUPPO & BLAKE APLC GALUPPO & BLAKE
2792 GATEWAY ROAD # 102 2792 GATEWAY ROAD, SUITE 102
CARLSBAD, CA 92009 CARLSBAD, CA 92009
RICHARDSON C GRISWOLD JAMES JOSEPH
GRISWOLD LAW APC ELIA LAW FIRM, APC
444 S CEDROS AVENUE # 250 2221 CAMINO DEL RIO SOUTH, SUITE 207
SOLANA BEACH, CA 92075 SAN DIEGO, CA 92108
ROBERT E FULLER ZACHARY E ROTHENBERG
1100 GLENDON AVENUE # 1400 11835 W OLYMPIC BOULEVARD # SUITE 900
LOS ANGELES, CA 90024 LOS ANGELES, CA 90064
SALVATORE ZIMMITTI CHARLES F GORIA
1100 GLENDON AVENUE # 1400 GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS
LOS ANGELES, CA 90024 1011 CAMINO DEL RIO SOUTH, SUITE 210

SAN DIEGO, CA 92108
STEVEN AELIA DOUGLAS JAFFE
2221 CAMINO DEL RIO SOUTH SUITE 207 501 W BROADWAY
SAN DIEGO, CA 92108 - . . SAN DIEGO, CA 92101

|:| Additional names and address attached.
CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL Page:1
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Steven A. Elia (State Bar No. 21 7200)
,Maura Gnﬂin (State Bar No. 264461)
r No. 3

San Dzego Californi
) 444 7244

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
Superior Court of Califonia,
County of San Diego
07M 372018 at 05:00:00 Pid
Clerk of the Superior Court
By EBika Engel, Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, a individual,

Plaintiff,
v, i
NINUS MALAN an mdtwduai CHRIS

UNITED HOLDIX ,GROTJP, LL,C; 4
California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited

liability company; MI E
PROPERTIES, LL fornia limitec
liability company; ROS LLE PROPFRTIES .

pany;.
LLC, a California limited liability company;
BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, a
California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a California nonprofit mitual
benefit c@rpora’aon DEVILISH DELIGHTS,
INC,, a California nonprofit mutual benefit
carparatmn, and DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Defendants,

CASE NO. 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR

| DAMAGES FOR:

(1) BREACH OF CONTRACT
(2) BREACH OF IMPLIED

COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH
AND FAIR DEALING
(3) BREACH OF ORAL
° AGREEMENT
@) BREACH OF FIDUCIARY
DUTY

(3) FRAUD AND DECEIT

éﬁ) MONEY HAD AND RECEIVED

(7) CONVERSION

(8) ACCOUNTING

9) APPOINTMENT OF
RECEIVER N

. (10) INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

(11) DECLARATORY RELIEF

(12) CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST

{13) DISSOLUTION

(14) INTENTIONAL
INTERFERENCE WITH AN
ECONOMIC RELATIONSHIP

(15) INTENTIONAL
INTERFERENCE WITH A
CONTRACTUAL
"RELATIONSHIP

| DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
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Plaintiff SALAM RAZUKI complains and alleges as follows:

L
INTRODUCTION

1. For years, Salam Razuki (“Razuki”) and Ninus Malan (“Malan”) engaged in numerous

business dealings and property investrents. The two entered into certain oral agreements ‘whereby
Razuki would provide the initial cash investment to purchase a certain asset while Malan would manage
the-assets. The pai".tiieg-.;a'g_reed that after reimbursing the initial investment to Razuki, Razuki would be
entitled to seventy-five percent (75%) of the profits & losses of that particular asset-and Malan would

be entitled to twenty-five percent (25%) of said profits & losses. Unfortunately, due te Malan’s refusal

| to be completely forthcoming with the Partnership Assets (as defined below in Section 1), this oral

agreement became untenable and disputes arose. Instead of litigating the niatter, Razuki and Malan
decided to enter into an Agreement of Compromise, Settlement and Mutual General Release (referred
to herein as the “Settlement Agreement”) to memotialize their priot oral agreements and to describe
additional duties and obli gations for each of them. Under the Settlement Agreement, Razuki and Malan
agreed to transfer all Partnership Assets into one entity, RM Property Holdings, LLC (“RM Holdiigs™)
which was formed for that pasticular business purpose. After recuperating any initial investments
related to the Partnership Assets, Razuki would be entitled to seventy-five percent (75%) of the profits
& losses of RM Holdings and Malan would be entitled to twenty-five percent (25%) of the profits &
losses of RM Holdings.

2. Even with the Settlement Agreement in place and RM Holdings formed, Malan
continued to deceive Razuki and manipulate the Partnership Assets for his own.gain. Shortly after the
Settlement Agreement was signed, Malan began negotiations to sell some of the Partnership Assets
'Whilefhey wete still under his name. During these sale negotiations, Malan never informed the potential
buyer of Razuki’s interest in the Partnership Assefs. Based on information and belief, Malan
intentionally stole and/orredirect revenue from the Partnership Assets to a new entity owned by Malan
{Le. Monarch);Malan conspired with another individual named Hakim:in order to.carry out this scheme
as well. -Given Malan’s blatant breach.of the Settlement Agreement and his clear intentions to conceal
the profits of the Partnership Assets, Razuki now bﬂngs this instant First Amended Compiaint in order

to enforce the terms of the Settlement Agreement and take control of his Partoership Assets.

FIRST AMLI\@K%OM%%T FORDAMSGES:




e W O & W R W N

SO - T T E S - S S T - S - S S oo g SO ~ U " O o0 Gy - Sy
XA UM R W R =S 0 L a8 M AW N o= S

28

1.
PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

3.  Plaintift SALAM RAZUKI (“Razuki®) is ‘an individual residing in the County of San

Diego, State of California.

4.  Defendant NINUS MALAN (“Malan™) is an individual residing in the County of San
Diego, State of California.

5. Defendant CHRIS HAKIM (“Hakim®) is an individual residing in the County of San
Diego, State-of California.

6. Defendant MONARCH MANAGEMENT CONSULTING; INC. (*Monarch”) is a
California corporation organized under the laws of the State of California. Monarch’s principal place
of business is in the County of San Diego, State of California, Razuki is informed and believes and
thereon-alleges that Monarch has two sharcholder, Hakim and Malan who are the officers and directors
of said corporation.

7. Defendant SAN DIEGO "UNITED HOLDING GROUP, LLC (“SD United”) is a
California limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of California. SD United’s
principal place of business is in the in the County of San Diego, State of California.

8.  Defendant FLIP MANAGEMENT, LLC (“Flip”) is a California limited liability
company Qrganfzed“under-’the laws of the State of California. Flip’s principal place of business is in the
in the County of San Diego, State-of California.

9. Defendant MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC (“Mira. Este”) is a California limited
liability company organized under the laws of the State-of California. Mira Este’s principal place of
business is in the in the Countyof San Diego, State of California,

10.  Defendant ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC C'_‘Rgselle”:) is a California limited Iia;bility

company organizedunder the laws of the State of California. Roselle’s principal place of business is in

the in the County of San Diego, State of California.

11.  DefendantBALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE (“Balboz} is a California nonprofit mutual

of business is in the in the County of San Diego, State of California. Malan serves as President and

CEO of this entity.

FIRST AME%)K%?WTFOR DAMAGES:
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12.  Defendant CALIFORNIA CANNABIS GROUP (“CCG”) is a California nonprofit
mutual benefit corporation that is organized under the laws of the State of California. CCG’s principal
place of business is in the in the County of San Diego, State of California. Malan serves as President
and CEO of this-entity: |

13.  Defendant DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC. (“Devilish™) is a. California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation that s organized under the laws of the State of Califormia. Devilish’s principal place
of business i§ in the in the County of San Diego, State of California, Malan serves as President and CEO
of this entity.

14,  The truenames and capagities of defendants sued as DOES (the “DOE Defendants™) are

unknown to Razuki and therefore are sued under such fictifious names. Razuki isinformed and believes,

and based upon such information and belief alleges that defendants sued as DOES are in some manner

responsible for the acts-and damages alleged. Razuki will amend this complaint when the true names

and capacities of such fictitiously named defendants are ascertained.

15, Malan, Hakim, Monarch, SD United, Flip, Mita Este, Roselle, Balboa, CCG, Devilish
and DOE Defendants are collectively referred to as “Defendants” hereinafter

16.  Razuki is informed and believes, and thereon alleges that 4t all times mentioned
Defendants were acting as the agent, employee, attorney, accountant, and/or representative of each other
and within the scope of the above-mentioned agency, employment, relationship, and/or representation.
In doing the acts alleged, each defendant was acting with the full authority and consent of each other
defendant. |

17.  Razuki is informed and believes and thereon alleges that some of the corporations,

limited liability companies, and entities named as defendants herein including, but not limited to,

Monatch, SD United, Flip, Mita Este, Roselle, Balboa, CCG, Devilish and DOES 1 through 100,

(hereiniafter oceasionally collectively refeired to as the “Alter Ego Entities”), and each of them, were at

all times relevant the alter ego of Malan and/or Hakim (hereinafter ocecasionally collectively referred to

as the “Individual Defendants™) by reason of the following:

uki is informed and believes-and thereon alleges that said Individual Defendants,
at all times herein mentioned, dominated, influenced, and controlled each of the Alter

Ego Entities and the officers thereof as well as the business, property, and affairs of

FIRST AMEI\@%%OMW? FOR D AMAGES




cach of said corporations.

b. Ramiki is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, at all times herein

mentioned, there existed and now exists a unity of interest and ownership bétween
said Individual Defendants and each of the Alter Ego Entities; the individuality and
separateness of said Individual Defendants and each of the Alter Ego Entities have
ceased.

Razuki is informed. and believes and thereon alleges that, at all times since the
incorporation of each, each Alter Ego Entities has been and now is-a mere shell and
naked framework which said Individual Defendants used as a conduit for the conduct

of their personal business, property and affairs.

. Razuki is informed and believes and ‘thereon alleges that, at all times herein

mentioned, each of the Alter Ego Entities was created and continued pursuant to a
fraudulent plan, scheme and device conceived and operated by said Individual
Defendants, whereby the income; revenue and profits of each of the Alter Ego

Entities were diverted by said Individual Defendants to themselves.

¢. Razuki is informed and believes and thereon alleges that, at all times herein

mentioned, each of the Alter Ego Entities was organized by said Individual
Defendants as a deviceto avoid individual liability and forthe purpose of substituting

financially irresponsible: corporations in the: place and stead of said Individual

 Defendants, and each 6f them, anid aceordingly, each Alter Ego Entities was formed

with_eapitalization totally inadequate for the business in which said entities was
engaged.
By virtue of the foregoing, adherence to the fiction of the separate corporate

existence of each of the Alter Ego Entities would, under the circumstangces, sanction

‘a fraud and promote injustice in that Razuki would be unable to realize upon any

judgment in his favor.

MO N
® = o

18, Jurisdiction is proper with-the above-entitled -Court as all parties are residents of this
county and any contract/agreement that is the subject of this action was entered into in this jurisdiction

and was to be performed entirely within the jurisdiction of this Court.
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

19.  Since 2016, Razuki and Malan have engaged in numerous business dealings relating to

property investments in. San Diego County. The oral agreements between Razuki and Malan was
simple: Razuki would provide the inifial investment to purchase the property and Malan would manage

the property (e.g. ensure upkeep and acquire tenants). After Razuki ‘was paid back for his initial

investment, Razuki would receive seventy-five }}ere,e_:nt (75%) of any profits while Malan would receive

‘twenty-five percent (25%) of any profits.

20. Under this oral agreement, Razuki trusted Malan to provide: proper accounting of the
revenue generated from the various properties and provide him with the agreed upon profit split.
21, Over the years, Razuki and Malan have acquited the following inferests, directly or
indirectly, (the “Partnership Assets”) in the following businesses and/or entities:
a. One hundred percent (100%) interest in 8D United. SD United owns real property
located at 8859 Balboa Avenue;, Suites A-E, 8861 Balboa Avenue, Suite B, and 8863

Balboa Avenue, Suite E. Razuki and Malan own, directly or inditectly, a marijuana
retail business located at 8861 Balboa. Avenue and 8863 Balboa Avenue. Razuki
provided all the- initial moretary investment for SD United. However, on paper,
Malan owned a one-hundred percent (100%) in and to SD United.

b. Orie hundred percent (100%) interest in Flip. Flip served as the operating entity for

Razuki and Malan’s marijuana retail businesses located at 8861 Balboa Avenue and
8863 Balboa Avenue. Razuki pmvided..a_li the initial monetary investment for this
business. On paper, Malan owned a one-hundred pereent (100%) in Flip.

¢c. Fifty percent (50%) interest in Mira Este. Mira Este owns real property located at

9212 Mira Este Court, San Diego, CA 92126. Razuki and Malan own, directly or

indirectly, a marijuana distribution and manufacturing business located-at 9219 Mira

Este Court. Razuki provided fifty percent (50%) of the initial monetary investment

Mira Este.

d. Fifty percent (50%) interest in Roselle. Roselle owns réal property located at 10685

__for Mira Este. On paper, Malan owns a fifty percent (50%) ownership interest in |
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Raoselle Street, San Diego, CA 92121. Razuki and Malan own, directly-or indirectly,
a-marijuana cultivation business located at 10685 Roselle Street. Razuki provided
fifty percent(50%) of the initial monetary investment for Roselle. On paper, Malan
owis a fifty percent (50%) ownership interest in Roselle:

e. A twenty percent (20%) interest in Sunrise Property Investments, LLC (“Sunrise™).

Sunrise owns real property located at 3385 Sunrise Street, San Diego, CA 92102.

A twenty-seven percent (27%) in Super S Consulting Group, LLC (“Super5™). Super

5 is the operator of a marijuana dispensary. located at 3385 Sunrise Street, San Diego,
CA 92102, |
22.  For all the Partnership Assets, regardless of the paperwork, Razuki and Malan had an
oral agreeriient. that -after recuperating the initial investments, Razuki would share in seventy-five
percent (75%) of thie profits & losses and Malan would share in twenty-five percent (25%) of the profits
& losses. ‘
' 23.  For Mira Este and Roselle, Hakim provided fifty percent (50%) of the initial investment
and owns a fifty percent (50%) ownership in Mira Este and Roselle.
24.  SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle are all entities involved in Razuki and Malan’s
marijuana operations. The marijuana operations were structured as such:
a. Balboa, CCG, and Devilish hold the California State Licenses for the marijuana
operati ons.
‘b. Flip served as the operator for the marijuana operations.
¢. SD United, Mira Este, and Roselle are the property-owners for the physical location
of the businesses and hold the Conditional Use Permits (CUPs), which are-obtained
from the City of San Diego, for the marijuana operations.
25.  Under this structure, Razuki believed all tevenue and profits from the marijuana
opetations would be-deposited into accounts owned by either SD United, Flip, Mira Este, or Roselle.

A.  Dispute Regarding the Partnership Assets

- 26, Unfortunately, -this -oral-agreement was - untenable. - The agreement-provided Malan
would maintain proper recotds of all. the profits & losses from the businesses, which was not done.

27.  Additional problems arose. In early 2017, Mira Este tequired capital for building

21
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|| renovations. Malan, as the property manager, appfoached The Loan Company of San Diego, LP to

|| acquire a hard money loan for approximately -one million dellars ($1,080,000). Mira Este was the

named. borrower on the loan and Razuki signed on as the guarantor of the loan. Razuki provided
additional property (propetty that was solely owned by Razuki) for collateral onthe loan.
28,  Because Razuki agreed to be guarantor and provided collatéral, the loan was approved.
29, However, shortly after the funds were deposited into Mira Este’s account, Malan
intended and did take $390,000 of the new funds for his petsonal use. Hakim intended and did take
$540,000 of the new funds for his personal use ag well. '
30, To-date, the funds Malan withdrew from Mira Este’s account have not been repaid.
B.  The Settlement Agreement

31.  Inorder to memorialize the oral agreement and resolve any ambiguities in Razuki and

|| Malan’s business relationship, Razuki and Malan decided to enter-into-the Settlement Agreement. A

copy of the Settlement Agreement is attached as Exhibit A.
32, The Settlement Agreement had three central components:
a. Razuki and Malan would transfer all the Partnership Assets into a newly created
entity, RM Holdings within thirty (30) days;
b. Razuki and Malan would ‘work together to calculate: Razuki’s cash investments
related to Partnership Assets within thirty (30) days; and,
¢. After recuperating any initial cash investments, Razuki would receive seventy-five
(75%) of the profits &loses of RM Holdings and Malan would receive twenty-five
percent (25%) of the profits & loses of RM Holdings. This would essentially
formalize the prior oral agreement Razuki atid Malan had with respect to all their
previous dealings 'regardiixg..ihe:.Partﬁetship Assets.
33.  Razuki and Malan signed the Settlement Agreement on Novetnber 9, 2017.
34.  Shortly after Razuki and Malan entered into the Settlement Agreement, Hakim was made

aware of the Settlement Agreement and of Malan’s promise to transfer the Partnership Assets to RM

C.  Malan’s Refusal to Perform on the Settlerient Agreement and Fraudulent Conduct

35.  Evenafter signing the Settlement Agreement, problems continued. After the thirty-day
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deadline to transfer Partnership Assets to RM Holdings had passed, Malan requested ad‘ditionél time to
petform an accounting of the Partnership Assets.

36.  Malanalso'made changes relating to the marijuana operations. Starting around late 2017,
Malan contracted SoCal Building Ventures, LLC (“SoCal Building”)to serve as the new operator for
the marijuana operations located at SD United, Mira Este, and Roselle. This atrangement was
memorialized in three separate agreement;

a. The“SDUnited Management Agreement” was between SoCal Building on one hand
and Balboa, SD United, Monarch, Hakim and Malan on the other.
'b. The “Roselle Management Agreement” was between SoCal Building on one hand
and Roselle, Hakim, and Malan ‘onl the other.
¢. The “Mita Este Management Agreement™ was between SoCal Building on onie hand
and CCG, Devilish, Mira Este, Hakim and Malan on the other.
d. Collectively, these agreements will be referred to as the “Management Agreements”
hereafter, | | | . ‘

37.  Under the terms of the Management Agreements; SoCal Building would retain all
revetive from the marijuana business. SoCal Building would then pay-a.monthly :guarantéed payment:
to Monatch for the opportunity to manage and profit from the marijuana business. Despite this contract
that required payment to Monarch, Malan informed Razuki that monthly guaranteed payment would be
deposited into either SD United, Flip, Mira Este, or Roselle.

38. . The contract with SoCal Building also entitled SoCal Building to an option to purchase
a fifty percent (50%) interestin SD United, Mira Este, and Roselle.

39,  Starting around January 2018, Malan and his counsel, David Jarvis, represented that
Malan was close to completing the sale of SD United, Mira Este, and Reselle to SoCal Building. Malan
and his counsel represented that transferring the properties to RM Holdings prior to the sale would.
“complicate” the deal and recommended holding off on the transfer.

40.  Based on these representations, Razuki trusted Malan and agreed to extend the time in

|| which the parties were required-to- transfei-all Parmership Assets to RM Holdings.- Between-January-

2018 to May 2018, Malan consistently ensured Razuki that he was negotiating the sale and intended to

split the proceeds 75/25.
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41.  While walting for the sale tfo SoCal Building to be completed, Razuki requested
information regarding the current cash flow for SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle. Malan
informed Razuki that SD United, Flip, Mita Este, and Roselle were not producing any profits and were
just breaking even, When asked for accounting, Malan said he would provide the accounting but never
did.

42.  On ot about the second week of May 2018, Razuki met with the owner of SoCal
Building, Dean Bornstein.

43.  Mr. Bornstein informed Razuki that he was unaware of Flip.  Rather, pursuant 1o the
contract with Malan, SoCal Building deposited thie monthly guarantee payment to Monarch.

44,  Malan never informed Razuki of the existence of Monarch. Rather, Malan would
consistently tell Razuki that revenue was being 'dgposited. to either SD United, Flip; Mira Este, or
Roselle.

45,  Mr. Bornstein also confirmed that the business was thriving and produeing a significant
profit (directly contradicting what Malan told Razuki between January 2018 and May 2018).

46, Mr. Bornstein was also unaware that Razuki had a substantial interestin SD United, Flip,
Mira Este, and Roselle. Malan had concealed Razuki’s invelvement with the Partnership Assets and
did not diselose the existence of RM Holdings to Mr. Bornstein. ‘Rather, Mr. Bormstein believed he
‘would be purchasing assets that solely belonged to Malan.

47.  After having discovered this, Razuki leamed of Malan’s true intention, which was to cut
Razuki out of any deal to sell SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle to SoCal Building thereby
avoiding paying Razuki’s his 75% share.

48.  Razuki i§ informed and believes and thereon alleges that Malan intentionally concealed
Razuki’s interest in SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle as a member of RM Holdings.

49.  Todate, Malan has fiever transferred any of the Partniership Assets to RM Holdings. Not
has Malan signed any supplemental written agreements that would promise the proceeds of the sale of
SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle to which Razuki was entitled.

- D. -~ Malan’s Recent Attempts to Sabotage the Marijuana Businesses and RM Holdings

50.  On May 24, 2018, SoCal Building requested Malan and Hakim provide documents to

conduct a dug diligence proving their ownership of SD United, Mira Este, and Roselle. SoCal Building
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wished to execule their option to purchase fifty percent.(50%) of these entities under the Management

Agreements.

5. On _;Iuné;zz,_ 2018, SoCal Building again requested Malan provide additional information
regarding his ownership of SD United, Mira Este, and Roselle: ‘SoCal Building specifically mentioned
that it knew about Razuki’s claim of ownership regarding these entities, contrary to Malan’s previous
representations. »

52.  OnJuly9,2018, Malan withdrew twenty-four thousand, tweiity-eight dollars and ninety-
thiee cents ($24,028.93) fiom RM Holdings® bank account, Razuki had individually deposited this
money into RM Holdings. Malan withdrew this money without obtaining consent from RM Holdings.

53.  Razuki is informed and beheves and thereon alleges that Malan withdrew these funds
from RM Helding for his personal use.

54,  Inthe eveningofJuly 9, 2018, Malan went to the retail dispensary located at 8863 Balboa
Ave. (“Tree House Balboa™). Malan took the key from the employee who was locking up and then

changed the locks, changed the password for the camera system, and blocked access to the Point of Sale

system at Tree House Balboa.

55. On July 10, 2018, a letter was sé;nt to- SoCal Building informing SoCal Building that
Management Agreements were immediately terminated for non-performance.
56.  Razuki is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Malan individually -does not
have the right to cancel the Management Agreements. Rather:
a. SD United and Balboa possess the right to cancel the SD United Management
Agreement; '
b. Roselle possesses the right to cancel the Roselle Management Agfeement; and
¢. CCG, Devilish,and Mira Este possess the right to-canicel the Mira Este Management
Agreement.

57.  On July 10, 2018, .an employee of SoCal Building that worked at Tree House Balboa

|| wentto the retail location and found Malan in the-stores Malan would not explain what he was doing

there.- Malan also used another employee’s-credentials to-aceess backend data repoits regarding-the-
business. Malan also informed two other employees, Alexandra Clarke and Maria Ortega, to come to

the Tree House Balboa on July 10 to take inventory and meet the “new management.”
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58. On this same day, SoCal Building learned that Malan had changed the locks and denied

-eniry to SoCal Building employees io-the Mira Este and Roselle properties-as well.

59.  Onluly 11,2018, Malan began redesigning the interiorof the store and changed the front
sign of the store-to read “Golden State Balboa.”

60,  Although Malan has locked out SoCal Building from the propetties, Malan has not
returned any equipiment, inventory, security systems, or cash that belong to SoCal Building. Razuki is
informed and believes and thereon alleges that Malan has converted over a million dollars’ worth of
equipment, ifiventory, security systems, and cash from SoCal Building.

61.  Razuki is informed and believes and thercon alleges that on July 13, 2018, Malan and
Hakim entered Mira Este in order to take SoCal Building’s equipment.

62, San Diego Police Officers were called to the scene as Malan and Hakim’s actions were
reported as a theft. However, Malan and Hakim claimed that the property was their own and continued
to remove SoCal Building’s equipment and other possession from t,ﬁe property.

63.  Razuki is informed and believes and thereon alleges Malan is aitempting to end bis
rélationship with SoCal Building because his fraudulent scheme to sell the Partnership Assets without
Razuki was exposed. Malan and Hakim are new attempting to find new operators for the business in
order to maintain the daily revenues from the business while avoiding any paymentsto SoCal Building,

RM Holdings, or Razuki.
1Iv.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of Written Contract
(Against Malan and DOES 1-100)

64,  Razuki realleges each and every paragraph of this First Amended Complaint as though.
fully set forth here,
65.  Razukiand Malan voluntarily entered into the written Settlenient Agreement.

66.  Razuki performed all duties required under the Settlement Agreement. Any duties

Razuki may have failed to perform were excused either by circumstance or waived by Malan.

67. - The Settlement Agreement requires Malan to:

a, ttansfer all the Partnership Assets into RM Holdings within thitty (30) days;
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b. to calculate Razuki’s cash investments related to Partnership Assets within thirty
(30) days; and
¢. reaffirm that after recuperating any initial cash investments, Razuki would receive
seventy-five (75%) of the profits &losses of RM Holdings and Malan would reeeive
tweity-five pereent (25%) of the profits &losses of RM Holdings.
68.  Malan has breached the Settlemént Agreement by, inter glia, failing to transfer the

Partnership Assets to RM Holdings and by not providing an accouriting of Razuki’s initial cash

investments iinto the Partnership Assets. Instead, Malan has retained ownership of the Partnetship

Assets for his own personal benefit. Malan has also failed to provide an accounting of the monetary
investments made for the Parinership Assets and hid the Partnership Assets’ profits from Razuki.

69.  Asadirect and proximate cause of Malan’s breach of the Settlement Agteement, Razuki

‘has suffered substantial compensatory, incidental, and consequential damages.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - ;
Breach of the Imphed Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealmg
(Against Malan and DOES 1-100;

70.  Razuki realleges each and every paragraph of this Fitst Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here,

71.  Razukiand Malan entered into the Settlement Agreement, which also created an implied
covenant of good faith and fait dealing that the parties would not unfairly interfere with the rights of
any other party.

72.  The Settlement Agreement entitled Razuki to a portion of the profits and revenue
generated by the Partnership Assets pursuant to its terms.

73.  Malan has intentionally interfered with Razuki’s right to these protits by, infer alia:

a. creating Monarch, and diverting revenue away from RM Holding and toward
Monarch;

b. devaluing, taking and st'eaﬁng the Partnership Assets (e.g. taking Mira Este’s tenant

= ~J s

account.};

c. intentionally concealing Razuki’s interest in the Partnership Assets to third parties;

SRS T P
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d. intentionally lying about the profits generated from the Partnership Assets; and
e. intentionally attempting to deny Razuki profits from the petential sale -of the
Partnership Assets.
74.  Asadirect and proximate cause of Malan’s breach of the implied covenant, Razuki has
suffered substantial compensatory, incidental, and consequential damages.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of Oral Agreement
(Against Malan and DOES 1-100)

75.  Razuki realleges each and every paragraph of this First Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here.

76.  Pleading in the alternative, if the Court finds that the Settlement Agreement is not

| enforeeable, Razuki and Malan previously entered into a valid oral agreement regarding the ownership

il interest for all Partnership Assets.

7"_1'; ~ The oral agreement d dlc“mied that Razukx Wouid “provide Lhe mmal investment im the

: Partnetshlp Assets and Malan would manage the assets. After recuperating the initial investment;

Razuki would share in seventy-five percent (75%) of all the profits & losses and Malan would share in
twenty-five percent (25%) of all the profits & losses.

78.  The oral agreement also required Malan, as the manager of the properties and businesses,

|| to provide Razuki with a proper accounting of all the Partnership Assets.

79.  Razuki has fulfilled all obligations and duties required under the oral agreement by
providing the initial investment for the Partnership Assets,

80.  Malan has breached the oral agreement by not distributing the revenue and profits to

|| Razuki and by not providing a proper accounting for Razuki.

81.  As-adirect and proximate cause of Malan's breach of the oral agreement, Razuki has

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION.
Breach of Fiduciary Duty
(Against Malan, Hakim, Monarch, and DOES 1-100)

82, Razukl realleges each and every paragraph of this First. Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here.

FIRsy Am@%@m&g%& FOR DAMAGES




owsh.

[CTE C N I I S T S S e e - - - =
% U9 & th A W N =S W 8 N9 S W A RN RS

83. Malan, as a-member of RM holding and as Razuki’s agent/business partner, owed a
fiduciary dutyto Razuki.
84.  Malan has breached his fiduciary duty in multiple ways including, but not limited to, the
Tfollowing:
a. failing to transfer ownership of the Partnership Assets to RM Holdings;
b. intentionally creating Monarch in order to divert revenue and profits away from Flip
and/or RM Holdings fot his own personal interest;
c. intentionally lying about the profits generated from the Partnership Assets;
d. intentionally concealing his intentions to maintain his sole ownership of the
Partnership Assets by lying about his inability to provide proper accounting and
delaying the transfer of Partnership Assets to RM Holdings; and
e. taking $24,000 out of RM Holdings bank account for his personal use.
85.  These actions were not in the best interest of the business and constitute a blatant act of
self-dealing. B |
86. Additionally, Hakim and Monarch conspired with Malan to earry out these actions.

87.  Hakim was awarc of Malan’s actions. He was aware that Razuki owned a substantial

|| interest in the Partnership Assets-and was aware that the Partnership Assets should bave been transferred

to RM Holdings. Hakim created Monarch with Malan in order to-divert funds away from the Partnership
Assets as well. |

88.  Monarch, by way of its owners Hakim and Malan, was fully aware of the scheme to
defraud Razuki and directly participated in the scheme by accepting funds that were intended for the
Partnership Assets.

89.  Because both were aware of and patticipated in Mala’s scheme, Hakim and Monarch
are liable for a breach of fiduciary duty under a theory of civil conspiracy.

90.  Aga direct and proximate cause of Malan’s breach of his fiduciary duty, Razuki has
suffered substantial compensatory, incidental, and consequential damages.

91.. . These sctions were-also intentiotial.and. fraudulent, entitling -Razuki-to seek punitive

and/or exemplary damages against Malan.
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Fraud and Deceit
(Against Malan and DOES 1-100)
92.  Razuki realleges each and every paragraph of this First Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here.
Intentional Misrepresentation
93.  Malan made-anumber of representations to Razuki. Specifically;
a. Between January 2018 and May 2018, on multiple occasions, Malan told Razukithat
the Partnership Assets were not producing profits and were merely breaking even;
b, Between January 2018 and May 2018, on multiple occasions, Malan told Razuki that
‘he ‘was preparing an accounting of the Partnership Assets as per the Settlement
Agreement;-and
¢. BetweenJanugry 2018 and May 2018, on multiple occasions, Malan told Razuki that
it was necessary to delay the transfer of the Partnership Assets to RM Holdings
because -éffacfuaﬁng, the “transfer “immediately “would sabotage ‘the sale of the
Partnership Assets to SoCal Building.
94,  These representations made by Malan were false.
95.  Malan knew these representations were fals¢:
a. Since January 2018, Malan was fully aware of the truthful financial information
regarding the Part,ﬁers'.hip Assets and knew they were producing profits;
b. Since January 2018, Malan knew he was not preparing the accounting for the
Partnership Assets; and
¢. Since January 2018, Malan knew that transferring the Partnership Assets to RM
Holdings would not affect the deal with SoCal Building.
96.  Malan intended to'have Razuki to rely on these representations. Malan knew that telling
Razuki these fraudulent misrepresentations would placate Razuki and -‘would allow Malan to hide the
profits and cash flow from the Partnership Assets.

97.  Razuki reasonably reliable on these representations. He believed that he could trust

‘Malan and that Malan would honor the Settlement Agreement. Because of this trust, Razuki did not

attempt to litigate this matter or make further demands upon Malan.

=
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Intentional Concealment

98.  Malan, as a fiduciary and business partner to Razuki, owed a duty to truthfully inform
Razuki of all relevant inforniation regarding the Partnership Assets.

99.  Malanintentionally concealed a number of material facts from Razuki. Specifically:

a. Malan never informed Razuki that Malan created Monarch and directed SoCal
Building to deposit all profits of the retail business into Monarch’s aceount nstead
of Flip’s account;

b. Malan never informed Razuki of his-iftention to sell off:SD United, Fiip, Mira Este,
and Roselle without the agreed upon compensation owed to Razuki under both their
oral agreement, as 'well as the Settlement Agreement.

100. Malan also concealed material facts from Razuki by denying Razuki access to the

101. Before May 2018, Razuki had no knowledge of Monarch or of Malan’s true intention

| regarding the Partnership Assets. To date, Razuki is still being denied access to the accounts for SD

‘Untied, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle.

102. Malan intentionally concealed these facts in order to deceive Razulki into thinking that
Malan would continue to: honor their é.gr'e_-einent (i.e. agreed upon profit split). Had Malan properly
disclosed these facts, Razuki would have acted differently (e.g, he likely would not have allowed any
delay in transferring all Partnership Assets to RM Holdings).

False Promise | '

103. In November 2017, Malan agtee,d to the terms of:the Settlement Agreement. However,
when Malan agreed to this promise, hé never intended on carrying out the terms of the Settlement

Agreement. This is evidenced by Malan’s immediate attempts to delay the execution of the Setflement

|| Agreement in oider to carry out the sale of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle to SoCal Building.

104. Malan intended to have Razuki fely on this promise. Specitically, Malan beliéved that

making this promise would placate Razuki so that Razuki would not demand further review or

aceounting of the Parttiership Assets: - oo ; .

105,  Razuki relied on the Settlement Agreement and assumed Malan would agree to the stated

promises.
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106.  Malan did not perform his promise, as he never performed any of the duties outlined in
the Settlement Agteement. |

107.  As a direct and proximate cause of Malan’s fraudulent misrepresentations, ‘intentional
concealment and false promises, Razuki has suffered substantial cempensatory, incidental, and

consequential damages.

exemplary damages against Malan.
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Money Had and Received
(Against SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle and DOES 1-100)

fully set forth here,

110. Pleadingin the aliernative, if the Court finds that the Settlement Agreement and the oral
agreement are not enforceable, Razuki is entitled to have hig initial investment returned or his ownership
intetest secured.

111. Overthe course of his business relationship with Malan, Razuki has given money into
SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle.

112. - This money given to SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle by Razuki was intended to
be an investment for Razuki for which he would receive substantial returns. Specifically, Razuki gave
this money to secure a seventy-five percent (75%) ownershipinterést in 8D United and Flip and a thirty-

seven and one half percent (37.5%) ownership interest in Mira Este-and Roselle.

an ownership intérest in these entities, nor have the entities been trarisferred to RM Holdings pursuant
to the térms of the Settlement Agreement.

114. 8D United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle have not returned to Razuki the funds which he
contributed to the Partnership Assets.

1 15.' Razuki is entitled to have any money given to these entities returned in full or have his

ownership interestsecured, .

109. Razuki realleges each and every paragraph of this First Amended Complaint as though

113. Themoney given was tiot used for'the benefit of Razuki, as Razuki still has not secured

FIRST AMERDERGOMEIaST FOR DAMAGES
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108. These actions were also intentional and: fraudulent, entitling Razuki to seek punitive or
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
| Conversion
(Against Malan, Hakim, Monarch, and DOES 1-100)

116.  Razuki tealleges each and every paragiaph of this First Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here.

117.  Razuki holds a seventy-five percent (75%) interest in RM Holdings. RM Holdings,

pursuant to the Settlement Agreement has a right to full ownership of all the Partnership Assets, and all
revenue generated from the Partnership Assets. Therefore, any conduct that interferes with, devalues,

‘or converts property of RM Holdings would directly interfere with Razuki*s property rights.

118. Malan, Hakim, and Monarch have interfered with RM Holdings® property. Specifically:
a, Malan has refused to transfer all Partnership Assets to RM Holdings as per the
Settlement Agreement;
b. Malan and Hakim intentionally-withdrew $1,000,000 from:Mira Este’s account that
‘was intended for construction renovations; ) ,
¢. Malan, Hakim, and Monarch have diverted funds away from Flip and towatds
Monarch thereby stealing money that belonged to RM Holdings and Razuki; and
d. Malan has withdrawn $24,000 from RM Holdings® bank account without permission
from RM Holdings or Razuki and used said money for his personal gain.
119. Razuki has never consented to any of thess actions by Malan, Hakim, or Monarch. In
fact, Malan, ;Hak.irﬁ, and Monarch have done tmost of these actions without even informing Razuki.
120.  As 4 direct and proximate cause of Malan’s fraudulent misrepresentations, intentional
concealment and false promises, Razuki has suffered substantial compensatory, incidental; and
consequential damages.
121. These actions were also intentional and fraudulent, entitling Razuki to seek punitive or
exemplary damages against Malan.
EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION
o . Accounting
(Against Malan; Hakim, and DOES 1-100)
122.  Razukirealleges each and every paragraph.of this First Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here,

FIRSY AMERDER COMPANT FORr DAMAGES
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123.  Malan and Hakim has maintained exclusive control and possession. of the Partnership
Assets” books and aceourits. Razuki is informed and believes that Malan and Hakim has taken, for his

own use, large sums of money from the reeeipts and profits of the Partnership Assets exceeding his

rightful share. It is impossible to know the amount owned to Razuki or whether outstanding debts are

sufficient to exhaust the Partnership Assets without said accounting,

124. The Settlement Agreement required Malan to provide proper accounting for all
Partnership Assets. Despite this written agreement, Malan. has refused and continues to refuse to
account to Razuki concerning their allocation of Partnership Assets profits/loses.

125.  Razuki demands a full and proper accounting of the Partniership Assets to propetly assess

potential damages.
~ Appointment of Receiver
(Against All Defendants)

126, Razuki realleges each and every paragraph of this First Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here.

127. Razukiisinformed and believes-and upon such information and belief alleges that unless

areceiver is appointed, the property and accounts of the Partnership Assefs are in danger of being lost,

removed or materially injured since Malan are in control of all Partnership Assets and is applying‘those

assets to their ewn use.

128. Razuki is informed and believés and thereon alleges that Malan and Hakim is

intentionally concealing his true intention with the hopé of diverting funds away from the Partnership

Assets and towards other entities that are sepatate from Razuki. In order to protect these entities from
further waste and, the Coutt miust appoint a receiver to take control of SD United, Flip, Mira Este,
Roselle, Balboa, CCG, Devilish, and Moniarch,

129. Razuki requests that a temporary restraining order and preliminary and permanent

injunctions in aid of the teceiver prohibiting Malan, Hakim and their agents, employees; and/or

representatives from engaging in, or performing, directly or indirectly, any or all of the following acts:

26
27
28

Balboa, CCG; Devilish, and Monarch;

b. interfering, hindering or molesting in any way whatsoever ‘the receiver in the

20
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performance of the receiver’s duties and in this performance of any duties incidental
thereto;

c. transferring, directly or indirectly, any interest by sale, assignment or encumbtance
in any manner any of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle, Balboa, CCG, Devilish
and Monarch, and all proceeds thereof; |

d. moving any of the assets of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle, Balboa, CCG,
Devilish, and Monarch from any location;

e. transferring, concealing, destioying, defacing and altering any of SD United, Flip,
Mira Este, Reselle, Balboa, CCG, Devilish, and Monatch’s books and records;

f. demanding, collecting, receiving or in any way diverting or using the assets of SD
United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle, Balboa, CCG, Devilish, and Monarch or proceeds
therefrom;

g, Failing or refusing to immediately ‘turn over to the receiver all assets (including:
licenses) of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle, Balboa, CCG, Devilish, and
Morarch, and-all moneys, checks, funds or proceeds belonging to of for the benefit
of Razuki.

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Injunctive Relief
(Against All Defendants)

130.  Razuki realleges-each and every paragraph of this First Amended Complaint as though
fully set forth here.

131. Currently, revenue thatis meant for Flip is wrongly being diverted to Monarch.

132.  Inaddition, there is a genuine possibility that Malan and Hakim will transfer a substantial
portion of the Partnership Assets before the conclusion of this instant litigation.

133. Unless Malan and Hakim are immediately enjoined from selling, transferring,

|| conveying, or otherwise secreting receipts, profits; and/or property of the Partnership Assets; Razuki

will suffer great itreparable harm, as selling the Partnership Assets will make it impossible for Razuki

to determine and receivé his share of the Partnership Assets.

y 21 < Py V,
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134.  For this reason, we ask the Court to fivipose an injunction that:

a. Prohibits sale of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Balboa, CCG, Devilish, and Roselle
until the conclusion of this litigation;

b: Prohibits the sale of Monarch and impeses a fieeze on:all. accounts-associated with
Monareh; 7

c. Requires thatall fture monies paid to Monarch he transferred and déposited into an
vacco\untaowned by Flip; |

d. Requires the transfer of all Partnership Assets to RM Holdings; and

e. Requite Malan to return the $24,000 he withdrew from RM Holdings® account.

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
‘ Declaratory Relief \
(Against Malan and DOES 1-100)

135, Razuki realleges cach and every paragraph of this First Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here.

136.  An actual controversy has arisen-and now exists between Razuki and Malan concerning
their respective interest, rights and duties related to the Partnership Assets and RM Holding.

137. A judicial declaration is necessary and appropriate at this time-under the circumstances
in order that Razuki may ascertain the rights and duties of the parties.

138. Razuki has suffered, and continues to 'suffér, financially by the unsettled state of affairs.

Malan’s actions in denying Razuki’s interest in the Partnership Assets has been to Razuki’s defriment

-and Razuki has incurred damages in an amount to be proven at trial.

139, Razuki desires a judicial determination of his rights and duties, and a declaration as to
the ownership and ‘management of the Partnership Assets. Specifically, Razuki request the Court
declares:

| a. Razukihasa seventy-five percent (75%) ownership interest in all Partnership Assets;

b. Ra7uk1 has not fuliy recupex ated hlS mmal mvestment in the Partnershlp Assets and

P S |- T S
> ~3 @\

is entitled to-full recuperation before any addltlanal proﬁts of revenueare dlstrlbuted

c. Malan and Hakim wrongfully utilized the tenant improvemient funds intended for

FIRST AMENDRGGOMBARET FOR DAMAGES
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-Mira Este for their own personal gain; and,
d. All funds currently owned or-possessed by Monarch are ill-gotten gains and truly
belong to Flip-or RM Holdings.

TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
~ Constructive Trust A |
(Against Malan and Monarch and DOES 1-100)

140. Razuki realleges each and every ‘pétagraph of this First Amended Complaint as though
fully set forth here.
141. Malan and Hakim has gained an ownership fintérest in the Partnership Assets by fraud,
accident, mistake, undue influence, the violation of a trust, or other wrongful act.
142, Malan and Hakim have wrongfiilly taken money designated for use by Mira Este for his
personal gain.
143. Monarch has received ill-'gﬁtti;n,funds by Malan’s scheme to wrongfully divert funds
intended for Flip to Monarch.
144 Razuki is entitled to seventy-five percent (75%) of all Partnership Assets, including
seventy-five percent (75%) of all money transferred to Monarch. ‘
145.  Razuki is entitled to relief'in the form of a constructive trust and asks the Court to-declare:
a. Seventy-five (75%) ownership interest in Parthership Assets were wrongfully
obtained by Malan and are therefore held in involuntary trust for the benefit of
Razuki, pursuant to Civ, Code. §2223 and §2224; and
b. All proceeds:of Monarch received by 'SoCal Building were wrongfully ebtained by
Monarch and are therefore held in involuntary trust for the benefit of Flip and/or RM
Holdings:
¢. All money taken by Malan and Hakim from Mira Este that were supposed to be used
for renovations wete wrongfully obtained and therefore held in involuntary trust for
the benefit of Mira Este.
d... The $24,000 withdrawm. fromi RNV

{_Holdings’ account by Malan was wrongfully

obtained and therefore held in involuntary trust for the benefit of RM Holdings.

ks 1 T80}
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THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Dissolution of RM Holdings

146. Razuki realleges each and every patagraph of this First Amended Complaint as though
fully set forth here.

147. Forthe reasons stated in this First Amended Complaint, dissolution of RM Heldings is
necessary to protect the rights of Razuki, the majority interest mepber.

148. Forthe reasons stated in this First Amended Complaint, dissolution of RM Holdings is
necessary as Malan is guilty of persistent frand mismanagementand abuse of his authority.

149. Razuki request the Coutt issue a judicial decree dissolving RM Holdings after all
Partnership Assets are transferred to RM Holdings. |

FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Intentional Interference with a Prospective Economic Relationship
(Against Malan, Hakim, Balboa, CCG, DeY‘ili"sh.,i and DOES 1-100)

| 150 Razuki realleges each and every patagraph of this First Amended Complaint as though
fully set forth here.

151. By way of the Setilement Agreement and the oral agreement (which gave Razuki/RM
Holdings an ownetship intetest in SD United, Mira Este, and Roselle) Razuki had an indirect
relationship with SoCal Building pursuant to the Management Agreements, This relationship would
have resulted in an economic benefit to Razuki since any revenue or proceeds from a sale would have
benefit RM Holdings.

152. Malan, Hakim, Balboa, CCG, and Devilish wére;pa;rt_ies to the Management Agreements
and aware of Razuki’s ownership interest in SD United, Mira Este and Roselle.

153. Malan, Hakirm, Balbea, CCG, and Devilish intentionally engaged in conduct that
disputed this relationship. Specifically:

a. Maian,Haklm, Balboa, CCG, and Devilish wrongfully terminated the Management

‘b. Malan, Hakim, Balboa, CCG, and Devilish wrongfully precluded SoCal Building

entry onto the SD United, Roselle, and Mira Este properties;

: t..«'~24'
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¢. Malan, Hakim, Balbea, CCG, and Devilish wrongfully converted SoCal Building’s
equipment, inventory, security systems, or cash; and.

d. Malan, Hakim, Balboa, CCG, and Devilistwrongfully misrepresented the ownership
interests of SD United, Mira Este, and Roselle.

154, By engaging in this conduct, SoCal Buildingis not able to petform its duties under the
Management Agreement. This conduct has immediately stop all business activity and threatens any
potential sale of the SD United, Roselle, or Mira Este to SoCal Building under the: Management
Agreements.

155. As a direct and proximate cause of Malan, Hakim, Balboa, CCG, and Devilish’s
conduct, Razuki has suffered substantial compenisatory, incidental, and consequential damages.

156. These actions were also infentional and fraudulent, entitling Razuki to seek punitive

-andfor exemplary damages.

FIETEENTH CAUSE OF ,AC’I‘ 1ON
Intentional Interference with a al Relationship
(Against Hakim, Monarch; and D()ES 1-100)

157, Razuki realleges each and every paragraph of'this First Amended Complaint as though

fully set forth here.
158. Razuki and Malan entered into the Settlement Agreement and oral agreements that
goverﬁed their business relationship.
159. Hakim and Monarch will fully aware of these contracts and agteefients.
160. Hakim and Monarch prevented performance of these contracts and agreements by:
a. Intentionally diverting funds away from the Partnership Assets;
b. Intentional devaluing the Partnership Assets (¢.g. taking the construction renovation
funds from Mira Este); and
¢. Intentionally delaying and preventing the transfer of the Partnership Assets to RM
Holdings.
161 Hakinyatd Monarch intended to distupt the performance of the Settlement Agreement
and oral vagre;@;ments-.

162. Asaditect and proximate cause of Hakim and Monarch’s conduct, Razuki has suffered

Emsz'rAmmx@mjw(%@i FOR DAMAGES
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substantial compensatory, incidental, and consequential damages
163. These actions were also intentional and fraudulent, entitling Razuki to seek punitive

and/or exemplary damages.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays the court for judgmient as follows:

For the First Cause of Action (Breach of Written Contract)

1. For just compensation as determined by the Court;

2. For attorneys’ fees as permitted by contract and/or law;
3. For costsincuried in this action;
4

. Forsuch othier and futther relief as the Court may deem propet.

1. For just compensation as determined by the Court;

2. Forattorneys” fees as permitted by contract and/or law;
3, For costs incurred in this action; e
4, Forsuch otherand further relief as the Court may deem proper.

For the Third Cause of Action (Breach of the Oral Agreement)

1. For just compensation as determined by the Court;

2. For attorneys” fees as permitied by eontract and/or law;

3. For costsincurred in this action;

4. For such other-and further relief as the Couit may deem propet.

For the Fourth Cause-of Action (Breach of Fiduciary Duty)

1. For justcompensation as determined by the Court;

2. For attorneys’ fees.as permitted by contract and/or law;

3. Forpunitive/exemplary damages;

4. For costs incutred in this action; | g
5

. For such other and furtherrelief as the Court may deem proper.

For the Fifth Cause of Action (Fraud and Deceity =~
1. For just compensation as determined by the Court;

2. Forattorneys’ fees as permitted by contract and/or Taw;

e D st R
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3.
4.
5.

For punitive/exemplary damages;

For costs incurred in this action;

For such other and further relief as the Court may deeni proper.

For the Sixth Cause of Action (Money Had and Received)

1.

5.

For just.compensation as determined by the Court;

2. TFor attorneys” fees as permitted by contract and/or law;

2
3.
4

For punitive/exemplary damages;

. For costsincurred in this action;

For such otherand further relief as the Court may deem propet.

For the Seventh Cause of Action (Conversion)

1.

2
3
5

Forjust compensation as determined by the Couit;
. Forattorneys™ fees as permitted by contract and/or law;

. Forpunitive/exemplary damages;

Forcosts incurred in this action;

. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper.

For the Eighth Cause of Action (Accounting)

5.

PR B B

For just compensation as determined by the Court;

Forattorneys” fees as permitted by contract and/or law;
For an accounting of all Partnership Assets.

Forcosts ineurred in this action;

For such other and-further relief as the Court may deem proper.

For the Ninth Cause of Action (Appointment of Receiver)

1.

2
3.
4

Forjust-compensation.as determined by the Court;

). Forattorneys” fees as permitted by contract and/or law;

Forcosts incurred in this action;

4. Foran appoint of a Receiverto take cotitrol of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle and Monarch

-until the parties” rights to each @ntji;yax@---d@texmined. —

For a temporaty restraining order and preliminary and. permanent injunctions in aid of the

teceiver prohibiting Malan and his agents, employees, and/or representatives from engaging in,

FIRSTAMENDIHGOMIBABNT FOR DAMAGES
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or performing, directly or inidirectly, any orall of the following acts:

.

- Este; Roselle; and Monarch’s books and records;

committing ot permitting any waste of the SD United, Flip, Mira Bste, Roselle, and

Monarch;

intetfering, hindering or molesting in any way whatsoever the receiver in the

‘performance of the receiver’s duties and in this performance of any duties incidental

thereto;

. transferring, directly or'indirectly, any interest by sale, assignment or encumbrance in

dny manner any of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle; and Monarch, and all proceeds

thereof;

. ‘moving any of the assets of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle, and Menarch from any

location;

transferring, concealing, de‘st'roying_, defacing and altering any of SD United, Flip, Mira
demanding, collecting, receiving or in any way diverting or using the assets of SD
United, Flip, Mira Este, Roselle, and Monarch or preceeds.therefrom;

Failing or refusing to immediately turn over to the receiver all assets of SD United, Flip,
Mira Este, Roselle, and Monarch, and all moneys, checks, funds or proceeds belonging

to or for the benefit of Razuki.

6. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper.

For the Tenth Cause of Action (Injunctive

Relief)

1.

For an injunction that:

% 2

Prohibits sale of SD United, Flip, Mira Este, and Roselle until the conclusion of this

litigation;

. Prohibits the sale of Monarch and impeses a freeze on all accounts associated with
Monarch;

. Requires-that-all future monies paid-to-Monarch ‘be-transferred -and deposited-into-an

account owned by Flip; and,

Requires the transfer of all Partnership Assetsto RM Holdings.

FIRST AML@B&%?OM@!@T For Damagrs
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e. Require Malan to return the $24,000 he withdrew from RM Heldings™ account.
2. For costyincurred in this action;
3. For such other-and further relicf as the Court may deem proper:

For the Eleventh Cause of Action (Declaratory Relief)

1. For ajudicial declaration stating:
a. Razuki has a seventy-five percent (75%) ownership interest in-all Partnership Assets;
b. Razuki has not fully recuperated his initial investment in the Paitnership Assets and is
entitled 1o fullrecuperation before any additional profits or revenue-are distributed;
. Malan wrongfully utilized the tenant improvement funds intended for Mira Este for their
own personal gain; and,
d. All funds currently owned or possessed by Monarch are ill-gotten gains and truly belong

to Flip or RM Holdings.

2. For costs incurred in thisaction;
3. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper.

For the Twelfth Cause of Action (Constructive Trust)

1. For ajudicial declaration stating:

4. Seventy-five (75%) ownership interest in Partnership Assets were wrongfully obtained
by Malan and ar¢ therefore held in involuntary trust for the benefit of Razuki, pursuant
to Civ. Code. §2223 and §2224; and

b. All proceeds of Monarch received by SoCal Building were wrongfully obtained by
‘Monarch and are therefore held in involuntary trust for the benefit of Flip and/or RM
Holdings.

¢. All'money taken by Malan from Mira Este that were supposed to be used forrenovations
were wrongfully obtained and therefore held in involuntary trust for the benefit of Mira
Este. ‘

d. ‘The $24,000 withdrawn from RM Heldi'ngs" account by Malan was wrongfully obtained

N NN
s 1 &

'and ~fher,efora held in :ihvéii‘umary trustfm thebemﬁt of RM Hcld:i'i\iéé:
2. For costs incurred in thisaction;

3. Forsuch other and further relief as the Court may deem propér.
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For the Thirteenth Cause of Action (Dissolution)

1. For a judicial decree dissolving RM Holdings after all Partnership Assets have been
fransferred to RM Holdings.

2. Forcosts incurred in this action:

3. For such other and further relief as'the Court may deem proper.

Relationship
2.
3.
4,
5
For the Fifteenth Cause of Action (Intentional Interference with a Contractual Relationship)

1

U A

For the Fourteenth Cause of Action (Interventional Interference with a Prospective Economic

Fot just compensation as determined by the Courty
For attorneys’ fees as perinitted by contract and/or law;
For punitive/exemplary damages;

For costs inicurted in this action;

For such other and further relief as the-Court may deem proper.

For just,cémpéuséﬁon,as détermifngdj by the Court; ”

For attorneys” fees as permitted by contract and/or law;

For punitive/exemplary damages;

For costs incurred in-this action;

For such other and further reliefas the Court may deem proper.

DATED: 7/13/18 LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN A. ELIA, APC

By:

Steve’A. Elid
Maura Griffin
JamesJoseph B
Attomeys for Plaintiff SALAM RAZUKI

26 || -
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby respectfully requests a trial by jury.

DATED: 7/13/18 LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN A. ELIA, APC

By:

Maum r;fﬁn i
James Joseph o _
Attotnieys for Plaintiff SALAM RAZUKI
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thé Partms and ( 'an mlxhzal c‘iaase c:f alI ixah tms af “tha i”mﬁes arising out of tho matters
described below and gxcept as expressly otherwise noted herein.

This Agreement 15 enfered into: with kefefence to the following faots:

e acguisition of veal

5 Californin Limited Eiability Company, and. tecm&.-

cwnex Gf th}a faiimmﬁg i}iopemes “

i. The. seal pmp ‘Ey commw!y kuown 43 8859 BALBOA AVE.,

it “The real propeity- commonly known -as 8859 BALB‘A, AVE,
S’IEB, SAN DIEGO, CA.92123.

Hi, The zenl property commonly Taown ag 8859 BALBOA AVE,
8TE..C;, SANDIBGO; CA 92123,

The real property commoply known as 8859 BALBOA AVE,
STE..D, SAN DIEGO, CA 92123

v, 'The tesl ‘property componly known as 8859 BALBOA AVE,
92123, ,

STE.. B, BAN [EGO,

iv:

vi. "Z{‘he f@al propetty co&i;mrmiy known as 8861 BALBOA, STE. B,
G0, ¢ 23 .

once ﬁo ﬂ;ie- mbrfaisv
agroentent between

j d'MALAN" “a"ve cngageﬁ m aeverﬂ busmess_t;ansamons deafings,

it i percent (100%) membeship nterest in SAN

CAEI 0357




hereto oy foany other pi

 SANDIEGO, CA9123.

‘propetty commonly lowi as 9212 J'_} RA -

e,

MALAN 8 Fiﬁy" pbresnt 1(:)0‘3/ y -mem?:&rbhip inferest in ROSBLLE
a i 1 1ec rd; ownet of the. real

agwed fotransfer ~i1ﬂe {o-the Paﬁneisiu AS&%{& 1o the Cc}mpaﬂy 811 iever: 1esolve any H1 éﬂ

" atters, claitis o o ovetsies that each Party may have ‘agalust each. éthezr rolated to the
Partnership Agreement ds stated in this. Agreemgnt

14  RAZURI and MALAN hzwe ot 1ecouped fheir financial mvesmzems in the
Partner 511113 Assets _
1.5  The Paties consider it o be in their best fiiterests, in Ix,ght of the cost of hugaﬁon

and o their best adyantage; to forevet dismiss, sefile; adjust and comptomise a
defenses which have been, or could iave besn asserted relative to thelr Partnesship Agi seinent,

1.6  All claims are denied and contested, aad nothing cantamed herein shoild be
conistrued. as an adnission by' any: i’arty hetefo of any liability of any kind o any other Party

17 The Patfies tow wish to settle fhe dispute batween the and forever releage,

A GRBBNIENT OF COMPROMISE, SETTLEMENT, AND MOTUAL OENHRAL RELEASE
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i - demidhds wnd causes of action, her-state, federal, o

,ﬂwx-acmaﬁy paised. or cmuld have been zazssd by way -of complaing,

T cross-coniplaint exeept ag expressly otherwise sel forth within thig

ectuate this eledse, the: Parties hereto cnter into this Agresment.

administrativ s
supplememfai &

NOwW THEREFORE, | in consldemtmn" i thee mutual
the conditions con ined hey sin, and for-othei
sutfictency of thch.xszhereby aekuawledgad (e Pa

spants, and: Upon
5 .Acomderaﬁm the ressipt and
cs;agme ag Tollows:

tompatry. The Parties shall-use tisi best
32 § to fhe tpaily withis iy Ly (30) days,
s Y- benecessy Y10 eatty out the sams.

2.2 Fmancml Aaconn mg, ‘I‘he Part;es aga:e& to work 1 pood faith to. caleulate each
-wtive aash 4 St an v Assets with irty (30) daysand
to m&mmlahza ﬂl& Sae, @nce

e

P (ting shall
P ties by the Comp 1)
“Partners™ Cash Invesf;mﬁn‘t

23 The Company’s. _Gvﬁlaf“ _égreemont.

L Das. been yepaid. by the: Cqmpmy,_
pmﬁ%s and losses of the Cotiipany and MALAN sfz&l]f 1ecu,w
as: set farth ?Jndef:thﬂ te 8 ef the: @pexatmg Agyeement, -

‘gGVeinéd’ 'aﬁé
1 z be relsased
tas set forthy

AGRLEMENT QF C@MPRGMSE SETTB:MBNT AN}D MUTBAL GENERAL RELF-'ASIZ
Page3 ofg
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s, and heirs of add from any and
agzce:z&enﬁ . tosts, 'md

administrators, nsurers, p&;‘m&lﬁ‘, directors; officers, sharehiol
all claiias, debts, lishilitles, i

. denands, -obligations, promises, acls,
‘expenses; meluding but not hmﬁed to: aﬂameysfees; datitages; actior

acver kmd @r aaﬂne  specifically mcln fnig iho : l*siat

or cleclmataxy mhef based on any iype ( fault, wi
suspeetﬁd rlmsusgacted' based on; aviging ot of ori N CONNE
i, 01 ”xedi ’m be d@ne. atany tioe, Tela 3

80 Be_.i;;t.e.lpme&{
5y provision of the

t@ bat any elams fi -enforcementiol the p
Company’s Operating Agmement Emiha’_, gre,
effective npon (I the ’fir&ﬂsfﬁ}f o i‘h& Company of ’ths
dbove, and (1) ex : ik 6 @dﬁ,
Patties shall forever e bat g any
sef forth heveln, end all claips of ceﬁtmv.- rsicy

Operating Agreement,

: 151:;_3 Aswts pursuant to “seetion 2.1
JzeIatzd to the Ascqmumg- 'I‘hefcaﬁbr the

32 Waiver under Section, 1542 -of the Califo e, Civil Code, The Prities Heteto
y:'wawe any and gl rights. uader Seotion 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of

1ma, whish provides as follows:

’*‘A g_,enemi mleasc do&s mz;f, extend 1o slaims which the ctediior
; ' 'hzs ot her f fayor a,t th@ ﬁme of

;fere'ver setﬂe tins dlsp
release shill have the sarm% qu fome. and effe
demands, and cauges of dction, , to: i
demands, andcauses of aotion hgminabow speblﬁadg ;

33 Representations and Warranties, The Patties hereby zepmse:ﬁt and wariant o, and
agiee with each other as follows:

~ The Paties beyeto, and sach of them, represent: and declare that in executing this
- solely upon their own Juds velief and. ki wledg& =and the:
sof hen: own independently- vgﬁieated Qaunsei S ¢

Qiaams, and that ’fhey have mt besen mﬂaﬁnca& to )
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 faets pertaining to this Agrecniont anﬁ :

mw lmaw of b ::ei Jbe e With respect to: the ha ilitiss, actions ot tauses of ackon to be

, "g '
‘W% iﬁaﬁi t ec;t, snc\ paty *;’haﬂg not be entrt;{e& {0 sﬁ 841

‘admlsswn by any of the: Pvarﬁcsl theit agents,
{o:the other,

)  Exeept: as expressly stated in this Agresiuent; neither of thie Parties have made any
statements of tepresentations reparding any fact relind upon in entering infe this Agmemsmﬁ and
the Pauties specif eaﬂy do not vely on 4y statements, represeniations, or promises in ékecuting
this Apteement, or in making e ssﬁﬁememt;pmvm ed fot hercin, except. ag expressly stated in

thig Agiﬁe}ﬁent‘

(¢}  The Parties, and their attormoys, if desited; Have made such m’vestrgfxtmn of the
of the matiers 9eﬁa3nmg thereto, as they deem

1IECSESALY;

(@  Thetermsof this Apreeniont dre contractual, not amere recital, and are the: result

of nogotiations between the Parties;

() TheRepitalstothisAptectent ate expressly made apatt hoteof]

4l ,as' ﬂm#e they

: the ,Part;,es each, Assume then @wn rigk ef anyv mmmpletez: di%losure m

dmgbeimen_- fe-Par o Imeto émd; s,furthm-a_.
sfa i ames The. Earti’és-afﬁ elying on
3 * gxecution of this

fémg all laims: a:ad 615}911 s kit {
& .- of thi ‘::A»'reeman“n ﬁom any,aa all alams ,d liah

servants of employees of any -liabxhty of any Kind

)  The Parties repiesent and warrant fhat they Hiave not heretofore irarsferted. of "
assigned or purported to iaansfa::, o assign fo any person, ﬁr__ ot corporation: any claim, demand,
| ebt, lin : i : o boseleased.

@ | The Parties acknowledge the adequacy of the considenstion given for the reledse
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DAkl e

Sy

P ‘es in thzs Ag}cexmn’c am’i undexstands that ﬁmespscﬁva 0f whcthez ‘the consideration iy
- afl Parties under thiy

: "'ake. my staiezmﬁt ot take
i Basmess mteatests :

any actxfm,

' Agmemnt cnnsn’catas. a single; dutegrated, writeen: Sotitract
16 ¢ ; v fveto fhie Subgsct mstter heeof, No

eements, 1epxes<;nta’cwﬁs, ar Waxiantxea any kind whatsoever have been made by
{ ly set foﬂh o ﬂﬁs Agreamem Allprior discussions and:

the: &8 orcemﬁn : of
- gought, °

,_Agzeement shill inure to the bepefitof, and
“the Parties heieto, and each of thex.

shaﬂ Yemain o fill fa:ma and eﬁ‘eeﬁ

46  Cuveining Law, This Apreement shall be construed in accmdanw with, and be
govered by tlze }aws of»Cahfmmd

o rentie- and Jurisdiction, In the event that any asmon,;_
‘atising o gresment is instituled, the. pames agres that vei
San Dwgc County, and that personal jurisdiction and sub;;ect pigtter ,Jumdlofmn sha}i be :

uit, ot other pioceedmg

Phgo

R g i
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d by the SnPenm Conrt:of the State of Californta, in and for the County of San Diego,

Cen t;::al Dméw:a

m;;{uémg- any and B «é@?eéls or iﬁeﬁhmas ﬂwwﬁom

. Any watver of & default under this Agreement must be in wiiting and
et of 4ny ai}:l £ -dafault ccmucmmg the same or 4y oﬁxer‘pmmmn of this
ﬁgreemcnt Wo delay or otaigsion. in the e of anyrright ox temedy shall fmpaie such right
ot 1emady ot bescopstrued asa waiver - approval of atyy-act shall not be daemed to

Wal‘i?“e orvendef impecessary consent’to ,r;agnﬁmvai of any othet ot @ subsequent act.

441 W
shaﬂ not Be'as

: Confiden The termg of ‘this Agreement: ate confidential. The Parties
exprassly undeérstand and | _,that it ¢hall censtmte 8 Bzeaeh ofthis Agtecmert 1o disclose of
comminicate the tetims of this-setflement grecment to any ﬂmd i arty
(inless required by Cowt O},d@l ar -operation of I&W 03: f:e thie Parties” respective attotney:
acconmtatity of tax adviseis).

412 Confidentiality.

413 Time of Bssence. The Parties hereto agres and confirm fhat thne is of the essence
for execution, completion, and full performande c«f the texins and conditions oFf thiy agrsement.

il
w
H
K
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peted; ]9/

Dated: 07,

N
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